Evaluating the effects of a multi-factorial quality improvement (QI) strategy targeted at primary care health care professionals on management of people with diabetes

Samuel Iddrisu Seidu. BSc, MB ChB, PGCME, MSc, FRCGP

A thesis submitted for the degree of Doctor of Medicine

Leicester Diabetes Centre, The Leicester General Hospital Gwendolen Road, LE5 4WP

ABSTRACT

Dr Samuel Iddrisu Seidu

Title of Thesis: Evaluating the effects of a multi-factorial quality improvement (QI) strategy targeted at primary care health care professionals on management of people with diabetes.

Higher degree for which submitted: Doctor of Medicine (MD)

Year of submission: 2016

Diabetes has now been recognised as an epidemic globally. The burden of the disease and its complications are outstripping health care systems all over the world. The rising prevalence coupled with the increasing life expectancy makes it impossible for specialist centres to cope with the demands of diabetes care, which was the case until 20-30 years ago, thus necessitating a "left shift" to primary care.

The aim of this research is to critically appraise the evidence on the effectiveness of interventions targeting primary care professionals on improvement of cardio-metabolic risk factors including glycated Haemoglobin (HbA1c), blood pressure and total or LDL-cholesterol. A further aim is to quantify the effect of intensive glucose lowering either alone or as part of a multifactorial intervention on non-fatal myocardial infarction (MI), non-fatal stroke, cardiovascular disease (CV) mortality and all-cause mortality in patients with type 2 diabetes. Finally, the impact of any interventions effective in controlling the cardio-metabolic risk factors will be considered in a real world restructured diabetes service on non-elective bed days, outpatient attendances and hospitalisation for diabetes and its complications will be assessed.

This thesis used 2 methodologies. In the first instance, a systematic review of interventions targeting primary care professionals on improvement of cardio-metabolic risk factors, and another systematic review and metaanalysis of studies on intensive glucose lowering and multifactorial interventions on cardiovascular and mortality outcomes were conducted. Secondly, a before- and-after study of general practices on non-elective bed days, outpatient attendances and hospitalisation for diabetes and its complications was also conducted.

Main findings.

- 1. A systematic review of interventions targeting primary care professionals on improvement of cardio-metabolic risk factors showed that multifaceted professional interventions were more effective than single interventions targeting single primary or community care professionals in improving glycaemic control.
- 2. A meta-analysis of studies on intensive glucose lowering and multifactorial interventions on cardiovascular and mortality outcomes showed that apart from non-fatal myocardial infarctions, there was no evidence that intensive treatment reduced the risk of cardiovascular and mortality outcomes. Compared to standard care, intensive glucose lowering and multi-factorial intervention reduced the risk of non-fatal MI (RR 0.89, 95% CI 0.83 to 0.96) but not non-fatal stroke (RR 0.96, 95% CI 0.86 to 1.07), CV mortality (RR 1.01, 95% CI 0.91 to 1.13) or all-cause mortality (RR 1.01, 95% CI 0.92 to 1.03). The predictions indicated that, intensive glucose lowering is more likely to be beneficial in populations where the baseline incidence of CVD mortality is greater than 6.3 deaths per 1000 person-years.
- 3. A before-and-after analysis of a structured diabetes shared care service redesign, involving enhanced diabetes-skilled primary care physicians, nurses and health care assistants in primary care settings was conducted. Compared to an integrated specialist– community care core diabetes service, the new enhanced service did not show an increase hospitalisation (the difference between the non-elective bed days in core practices and that in enhanced practices was not significant, mean = 2.20 per 100 patients, p =

0.14)), first outpatients' attendances (the difference between the mean first outpatient attendance in the core practices and that in enhanced practices was 0.02 per 100 patients p=0.92) and admissions for diabetes related complications (the difference was 0.30 per 100 patients, p=0.55).

Conclusion

The rising demand of diabetes care requires a primary care well organised to deliver a diabetes services without compromising quality. A wellorganised multidisciplinary diabetes-skilled primary care team, using multi-faceted interventions, can deliver a diabetes service without increasing diabetes related complications, out-patient attendances and hospitalisations. Cardio-metabolic risk factor control is an essential part of diabetes management. Intensive glucose lowering and multifactorial interventions can reduce non-fatal myocardial infarctions.

For Vicky, Boresi, Borenyi, David and Faith.

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank, Professor Heather Daly and Professor Azhar Farooqi, for their support and understanding during the first year of my thesis work, allowing me to take paid sessional time as an EDEN educator and a diabetes clinical mentor for the CCG. This allowed me to drop a session at my practice for my studies, at times at considerable financial constraints.

My thanks to the practices and colleagues who participated in my research studies and without whose assistance the work would not have been possible.

To Felix Achana and Nicola Walker for their enthusiasm and work in serving as second reviewers for the systematic reviews, special thanks. Thanks also to Mr Keith Knockels, Librarian at the University of Leicester, for his generous help in designing the search strategies for the systematic reviews. Mr Anthony Brown, formally of MSD, acted as a third party data extractor using the MSD Mirror tool.

The biostatistics department at the department of health sciences at the University of Leicester provided support and research courses which stimulated my research ideas and helped in my application for a research training fellowship from the Collaboration for Leadership in Applied Health Research and Care (CLAHRC).

To my co-supervisor Professor Melanie Davies CBE, Professor of Diabetes Medicine at the University of Leicester and an Honorary Consultant Diabetologist at the University Hospitals of Leicester NHS Trust, Leicester for her meticulous appraisal and guidance of all my protocol designs, analyses and interpretation of results. This has sharpened my awareness of research methodologies and data interpretation.

Special thanks to Danielle Bodicoat, researcher in medical Statistics, University of Leicester, for her guidance on the design of the studies and the analysis of the data. Her patience with me when I was not getting certain analytical methods right, offered me the chance to sharpen my statistical skills for this project. v Finally, and most importantly, sincere thanks to Kamlesh Khunti, Professor of Primary Care Diabetes & Vascular Medicine, Director for the National Institute of Health Research-Collaboration for Leadership in Applied Health Research and Care East Midlands (NIHR-CLAHRC EM), my supervisor, my teacher, mentor and friend, without his encouragement, trust in me, unfailing support and guidance, this thesis would not have come to fruition.

Authorship

The contribution of a number of individuals to this thesis is formally acknowledged.

Professor Kamlesh Khunti contributed to study design and participated in the analysis of the before-and-after study of the impact of an enhanced primary care diabetes service on diabetes outcomes. He also acted as a third reviewer for the systematic reviews. Dr Danielle Bodicoat advised on the statistical aspects of the before-and-after study of the impact of an enhanced primary care diabetes service on diabetes outcomes. Dr Felix Achana helped with the statistical analysis in the meta-analysis.

I confirm that no part of the material offered has previously been submitted by me for a degree in this or any other university. If material has been generated through joint work, my independent contribution has been clearly indicated. In all other cases, material from the work of others has been acknowledged and citations and paraphrases suitably indicated.

Table of Contents

ABSTRACT	i
Acknowledgements	v
Authorship	vii
Table of Figures	xi
List of tablets	xii
Chapter 1	
1 INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Types of diabetes	
1.1a Type 2 diabetes	1
1.1b Type 1 Diabetes	4
1.2 Burden of diabetes and its complications	6
1.3 Complications of diabetes	7
1.3a Microvascular complications	8
1.3b Macro-vascular complications of diabetes	14
1.4 Exemplary models of diabetes care	22
Overview of current models of care	22
Some current UK models of care and their shortcomings	
1.5 Interventions on Health care professional	27
1.5 Primary care management of the multi-morbid diabetes patient	
Chapter 2	32
A systematic review of Interventions targeting primary care or	
community based professionals on glycaemic and cardiovascular i	isk
factor control in people with diabetes.	32
2.1 Synopsis of chapter 2	32
2.2 Literature review	33
2.2a Community Pharmacists	33
2.2b Practice Nurses	34
2.2c General or Family Practitioners	
2.2d Diabetes Specialists	
2.2e Dieticians	
2.2f Community Health workers	
2.2g Interventions	
2.3 Background to the systematic review of interventions targeting pr	mary
care or community based professionals on glycaemic and cardiovascu	П П П
2.4 Aires and altientions	
Ζ Λ. Λιμές από οπιοστινός	10
2.4 AIMS and objectives	40 40

2.5a Search strategies	40
2.5b Study selection	40
2.5c Data extraction	41
2.6 Results	42
Screening	43
Eligibility	43
Identification	43
Included	43
2.6a Study characteristics and participants	44
2.6b Study quality	55
2.6c Outcome effects based on the type of intervention	57
2.6d Effects based on primary care professional groups	57
2.6e Multi-component interventions and Multi-disciplinary organisational	
changes	58
2.7 Discussion	59
2.7a Strengths and Limitations	61
2.7b Implication for practice	62
2.8 Conclusion	62
Chanter 3	64
Shapter 5 minimum mi	
Effects of glucose lowering and multifactorial interventions on	
cardiovascular and mortality outcomes - A systematic review and m	eta-
1	61
analysis of randomised control trials	04
3.1 Synopsis of chapter 3	64
 analysis of randomised control trials 3.1 Synopsis of chapter 3	64 64
 analysis of randomised control trials	64 64
 analysis of randomised control trials	64
 analysis of randomised control trials	64 64 65 67
 analysis of randomised control trials	64 65 67 67
 analysis of randomised control trials	64 64 65 67 67 67
 analysis of randomised control trials	64 64 65 67 67 68
 analysis of randomised control trials	64 64 67 67 67 67 68 70
 analysis of randomised control trials	64 65 67 67 67 67 68 70 70
 analysis of randomised control trials	64 64 67 67 67 67 67 67 67
 analysis of randomised control trials	64 65 67 67 67 67 67 70 70 71
 analysis of randomised control trials	64 64 67 67 67 67 67 70 71 71
 analysis of randomised control trials	64 65 67 67 67 67 70 71 71 71
 analysis of randomised control trials	64 64 67 67 67 67 70 71 71 71 71 74
 analysis of randomised control trials	64 65 67 67 67 67 67 70 71 71 71 71 74 79
 analysis of randomised control trials. 3.1 Synopsis of chapter 3	64 64 67 67 67 67 70 71 71 71 71 71 71 71 74 74 79 81
 analysis of randomised control trials. 3.1 Synopsis of chapter 3	64 65 67 67 67 67 67 70 71 71 71 71 71 71 74 74 79 81 82
 analysis of randomised control trials. 3.1 Synopsis of chapter 3	64 65 67 67 67 67 70 71 71 71 71 71 71 71 74 74 82 82
 analysis of randomised control trials. 3.1 Synopsis of chapter 3 3.2 Background to meta-analysis of randomised control trials Effects of glucose lowering and multifactorial interventions on cardiovascular and mortality outcomes. 3.3 Methods. 3.3 Data sources and searches. 3.3 b Data extraction and quality assessment. 3.3 c Statistical analysis 3.4 Results 3.4 a Study selection and characteristics. Screening Identification Included. Eligibility. 3.4b Results of meta-analysis 3.4c Results of meta-regression 3.4d Assessment of Heterogeneity and publication bias 3.5 Discussion 3.5b Study strengths and limitations. 	64 65 67 67 67 67 67 70 70 71
 analysis of randomised control trials. 3.1 Synopsis of chapter 3 3.2 Background to meta-analysis of randomised control trials Effects of glucose lowering and multifactorial interventions on cardiovascular and mortality outcomes. 3.3 Methods. 3.3 Data sources and searches. 3.3b Data extraction and quality assessment. 3.3c Statistical analysis 3.4 Results 3.4a Study selection and characteristics. Screening Identification Included. Eligibility. 3.4b Results of meta-analysis. 3.4c Results of meta-analysis. 3.4c Results of meta-regression 3.4d Assessment of Heterogeneity and publication bias. 3.5 Discussion 3.5b Study strengths and limitations. 3.6 Conclusion 	64 65 67 67 67 67 70 71 71 71 71 71 71 71 74 74 79 82 82 85 86

	service on
diabetes outcomes: a before-after study in a large multi-ethn	ic Clinical
Commissioning Group	
4.1 Synopsis of chapter 4	
4.2 Background to the evaluation of the before and after study o	f the impact
of an enhanced primary care diabetes service on diabetes outcom	mes89
4.3 Patients and Methods	91
4.3a Exposure of Interest	
4.3b Comparator Group	
4.3c Data Sources	
4.3d Statistical analysis	
4.4 Results	95
4.4a Sample characteristics	
4.4b Main baseline results	
4.4c Main outcome results	
4.5 Discussion	
4.5a Strengths and weaknesses of the study	
4.5b Implications for practice	
4.6 Conclusion	
Chapter 5:	
The shape of the new model of diabetes care	
5.1 Up skilling of Primary or Community Care Professionals in	
Multidisciplinary Teams	
5.2 Focus on cardiovascular risk factor control	
	112
5.3 Enhancement of multidisciplinary teams through the use of I	
5.3 Enhancement of multidisciplinary teams through the use of I Technology	112 nformation 114
5.3 Enhancement of multidisciplinary teams through the use of I Technology 5.4 Expected advantages on primary care based multidisciplinar	
 5.3 Enhancement of multidisciplinary teams through the use of I Technology. 5.4 Expected advantages on primary care based multidisciplinar team. 	
 5.3 Enhancement of multidisciplinary teams through the use of I Technology 5.4 Expected advantages on primary care based multidisciplinar team 5.5 Areas for future research 	
 5.3 Enhancement of multidisciplinary teams through the use of I Technology. 5.4 Expected advantages on primary care based multidisciplinar team. 5.5 Areas for future research Chapter 6 	
 5.3 Enhancement of multidisciplinary teams through the use of I Technology. 5.4 Expected advantages on primary care based multidisciplinar team. 5.5 Areas for future research Chapter 6 	
 5.3 Enhancement of multidisciplinary teams through the use of I Technology. 5.4 Expected advantages on primary care based multidisciplinar team. 5.5 Areas for future research	
 5.3 Enhancement of multidisciplinary teams through the use of I Technology 5.4 Expected advantages on primary care based multidisciplinar team	
 5.3 Enhancement of multidisciplinary teams through the use of I Technology 5.4 Expected advantages on primary care based multidisciplinar team	
 5.3 Enhancement of multidisciplinary teams through the use of I Technology 5.4 Expected advantages on primary care based multidisciplinar team	112 information 114 ry diabetes 114 116 118 118 118 119
 5.3 Enhancement of multidisciplinary teams through the use of I Technology	112 information 114 ry diabetes 114 116 118 118 118 119 140 140 145 149
 5.3 Enhancement of multidisciplinary teams through the use of I Technology	112 information 114 ry diabetes 114 116 118 118 118 119 140 140 140 145 149 154
 5.3 Enhancement of multidisciplinary teams through the use of I Technology	112 information 114 ry diabetes 114 116 118 118 118 119 140 140 140 145 149 154 160
 5.3 Enhancement of multidisciplinary teams through the use of I Technology 5.4 Expected advantages on primary care based multidisciplinar team	112 information 114 ry diabetes 114 116 118 118 118 119 140 140 140 145 149 154 160 165
 5.3 Enhancement of multidisciplinary teams through the use of I Technology	112 information 114 ry diabetes 114 116 118 118 118 119 140 140 140 145 149 154 160 165 170
 5.3 Enhancement of multidisciplinary teams through the use of I Technology	112 nformation 114 ry diabetes 114 ry diabetes 114 116 118 118 119 140 140 140 145 149 154 160 165 170 oters of

Table of Figures

FIGURE 1: WESTMINSTER DIABETES SERVICE MODEL
FIGURE 2: FLOW CHART FOR LITERATURE SEARCH FOR THE SYSTEMATIC REVIEW OF INTERVENTIONS
TARGETING PRIMARY CARE OR COMMUNITY BASED PROFESSIONALS ON THE GLYCAEMIC AND
CARDIOVASCULAR RISK FACTOR CONTROL IN PEOPLE WITH DIABETES
FIGURE 3: FLOW CHART INDICATING THE IDENTIFICATION AND SELECTION OF TRIALS FOR INCLUSION IN THE
META-ANALYSIS
FIGURE 4: ASSOCIATION BETWEEN THE EFFECT OF INTENSIVE GLUCOSE LOWERING AND MULTIFACTORIAL
INTERVENTIONS ON CARDIOVASCULAR AND MORTALITY OUTCOMES AND THE MEAN DURATION OF TYPE
2 DIABETES ** NUMBER OF EVENTS/TOTAL NUMBER RANDOMISED IN THE STANDARD AND INTENSIVE
TREATMENT GROUPS NOT AVAILABLE FOR ADDITION AND ORIGIN TRIALS.
FIGURE 5: SUBGROUP ANALYSIS INVESTIGATING THE EFFECTIVENESS OF INTENSIVE GLYCAEMIC CONTROL
ALONE OR MULTIFACTORIAL INTERVENTION TO REDUCE NON-FATAL MYOCARDIAL INFARCTION IN
PEOPLE WITH TYPE 2 DIABETES. THE COMPARATOR IS STANDARD CARE
FIGURE 6: SUBGROUP ANALYSIS INVESTIGATING THE EFFECTIVENESS OF INTENSIVE GLYCAEMIC CONTROL
ALONE OR MULTIFACTORIAL INTERVENTION TO REDUCE ${ m CV}$ mortality in people with type 2
DIABETES. THE COMPARATOR IS STANDARD CARE77
FIGURE 7: SUBGROUP ANALYSIS INVESTIGATING THE EFFECTIVENESS OF INTENSIVE GLYCAEMIC CONTROL
ALONE OR MULTIFACTORIAL INTERVENTION TO REDUCE ALL-CAUSE MORTALITY IN PEOPLE WITH TYPE
2 DIABETES. THE COMPARATOR IS STANDARD CARE
FIGURE 8: SUBGROUP ANALYSIS INVESTIGATING THE EFFECTIVENESS OF INTENSIVE GLYCAEMIC CONTROL
ALONE OR MULTIFACTORIAL INTERVENTION TO REDUCE NON-FATAL STROKE IN PEOPLE WITH TYPE 2
DIABETES. THE COMPARATOR IS STANDARD CARE
FIGURE 9: ASSOCIATION BETWEEN THE EFFECT OF INTENSIVE GLUCOSE LOWERING ON CARDIOVASCULAR AND
MORTALITY OUTCOMES AND BASELINE INCIDENCE OF DISEASE
FIGURE 10: FUNNEL PLOTS OF STANDARD ERROR OF RISK RATIO (SE(RR)) VERSUS RISK RATIO (RR) ON THE
LOG SCALE FOR NON-FATAL MI, NON-FATAL STROKE, CV MORTALITY AND ALL-CAUSE MORTALITY 82
FIGURE 1: PRIMARY CARE OR COMMUNITY BASED PROFESSIONALS

List of tablets

TABLE 1:CLUSTER RANDOMISED TRIALS	
TABLE 2: RANDOMISED CONTROL TRIALS:	51
TABLE 3: STUDY QUALITY PROPERTIES OF TRIAL	
TABLE 4: SUMMARY CHARACTERISTICS OF INCLUDED STUDIES	73
TABLE 6: EFFECT OF INTENSIVE GLUCOSE LOWERING AND MULTI-FACTORIAL INTERVENTIONS ON	
CARDIOVASCULAR AND MORTALITY OUTCOMES IN PATIENTS WITH TYPE 2 diabetes: Random	EFFECTS
META-ANALYSIS	74
TABLE 7: ASSOCIATION BETWEEN THE EFFECT OF INTENSIVE GLUCOSE TREATMENT ON CARDIOVASC	ULAR
AND MORTALITY OUTCOMES AND THE STUDY-LEVEL CHARACTERISTICS MEAN AGE, MEAN DURA	TION OF
TYPE 2 DIABETES, CONTROL GROUP EVENT RATE AND PROPORTION OF STUDY PARTICIPANTS FO	OR ARE
MALE	
TABLE 8: BASELINE CHARACTERISTICS IN PRACTICES OFFERING ENHANCED CARE AND THOSE	2
OFFERING CORE (USUAL) CARE MEAN (SD)	101
TABLE 9: EFFECT OF ENHANCED DIABETES SERVICES ON NON-ELECTIVE BED DAYS, FIRST	
OUTPATIENT ATTENDANCE AND HOSPITALISATION WITH DIABETES ITS COMPLICATIONS	103

Chapter 1

1 INTRODUCTION

Diabetes has now been recognised as an epidemic globally. In 2013, the prevalence of diabetes was estimated to be 382 million worldwide and this is expected to rise to 592 million by 2035 (1). It is a complex chronic disease affecting multiple organ systems, often accompanied by other comorbid conditions with an associated disease management burden for patients.

1.1 Types of diabetes

Diabetes mellitus broadly presents as the type 1 and type 2 diabetes; however, there are other variants such as the genetic types and secondary diabetes due to conditions pancreatitis, hemochromatosis, Cushions, acromegaly and cystic fibrosis (2). Gestational diabetes appears during pregnancy and can lead to serious health risks for both the mother and child. It associated with an increased risk of both mother and child developing type 2 diabetes later in life.

1.1a Type 2 diabetes

This accounts for over 90% of people with diabetes. The prevalence of Type 2 diabetes increases steadily after the age of 45 years (3). It is one of the most common long term condition in nearly all developed countries, and continues to increase in incidence and prevalence as a result of changing lifestyles, reduced physical activity, and increased obesity. Population growth, ageing of populations and urbanization with associated lifestyle change are the main drivers of the worldwide epidemic of diabetes.

Type 2 diabetes does not usually present with acute complications requiring urgent admission, for example ketoacidosis. As a result, some

people still regard it as a mild form of diabetes, even though it is a very complex and heterogeneous disease and its aetiology still poorly understood, apart from the fact that it has a genetic propensity and becomes overt due to lifestyle changes including decreased activity and poor diet. It is characterised by insulin resistance with inadequate pancreatic beta-cell insulin secretion to compensate for the insulin insensitivity (2). Insulin insensitivity is characterised by obesity generally and increased intra-abdominal fat. It is worsened by physical inactivity, energy dense high fat diet, early nutrition, increased alcohol intake, increased saturated fat, smoking and stress. Type 2 diabetes is commonly associated with raised blood pressure, hyperlipidaemia and a tendency to thrombosis. This combination is often described as Reaven's Syndrome.

The insulin deficiency is progressive over time, such that the high glucose levels usually worsen relentlessly over a timescale of years, requiring continued escalation of blood glucose lowering therapy (4). The worsening insulin deficiency with age means elderly people with thin phenotypes can be diagnosed with type 2 diabetes and indeed, in the middle aged population with a new diagnosis of diabetes, it can be difficult to differentiate type 1 and 2 (5).

In type 2 diabetes patients whose hyperglycaemia has yet to be treated or is being treated sub-optimally osmotic symptoms of diabetes, like polyuria, polydipsia, polyphagia, weight loss and fatigue can develop. Even though Diabetic coma (ketoacidosis) is uncommon in Type 2 diabetes, it can also present in rare situations, especially in advanced diabetes, when beta-cell function is almost non-existent and there is no endogenous insulin secretion. Ketosis-prone type 2 diabetes is an atypical diabetes (type 1B diabetes), also called Flatbush diabetes and is named after an area in New York where the first reported case in 1994 was done. The patients are usually type 2 with ketoacidosis but are misclassified as type 1. They are typically non-white Europeans (Afro-Caribbeans), middle aged, phenotype of T2DM and have negative antibodies (6). Commonly in the presence of exacerbating factors (infection, drugs), insulin deficiency and high sugar intake can lead to a related state (hyperosmolar coma).

Increasingly type 2 diabetes is being seen in younger age groups even though most people diagnosed with it are usually older. The phenomenon of increasing type 2 diabetes among children and adolescents may be due to increasing obesity and, particularly, of increasing central obesity (7). There is a strong relationship between childhood obesity and the development of insulin resistance in early adulthood (8). There may be underestimation of the magnitude of type 2 diabetes in young people because these patients may be under diagnosed as they may present with no or just few symptoms. They may also be misclassified as type 1 diabetes if more severe hyperglycemia was noted at diagnosis. Also, case reporting mainly by paediatric endocrinologists could lead to few data in this agegroup.

Certain ethnic groups show a particularly high prevalence of glycaemic abnormality among young persons, and diabetes prevalence appears to be increasing. In the USA, young type 2 diabetes occur mainly in African-American, Mexican-American, Native-American, and Asian-American children and young adults, and in the UK, it is the south Asian population. A U.S. study of 167 obese adolescents and children showed a 4% prevalence of type 2 diabetes, all occurring among Hispanic and black adolescents, suggesting environmental and/or genetic differences contributing to the more common occurrence of glycaemic abnormality in the U.S (9). In the U.K., the risk of type 2 diabetes is 13.5 times greater among Asian than white children (10). This review also noted that that other factors like a sedentary lifestyle, strong family history of T2DM, and less affluent socioeconomic status all predispose young people to type 2 diabetes. All these young type 2s invariably will have insulin resistance irrespective of their nationalities, socio-economic backgrounds and ethnicities. The differentiation of a young type 2 from monogenic genetic types of diabetes is therefore made a little easier by focusing on the

features of insulin resistance which will be absent in the presence of β cell dysfunction in Maturity Onset Diabetes of the Young.

Most guidelines broadly normally suggest that people with type 2 diabetes should start with lifestyle intervention approaches like diet and exercise; then to add monotherapy with metformin if tolerated; then to use combinations of two oral medications if glycaemic control is still not adequate, and then to add insulin if there is still no adequate control. For symptomatic patients with marked hyperglycaemia at diagnosis or when ketoacidosis is present, a reasonable approach is to start with insulin with subsequent efforts to taper this and substitute metformin (11).

From the above exposition on type 2 diabetes, it can be concluded that in order to avoid misclassification of misdiagnosis of type 2 diabetes, clinician have to consider it first, in adult Caucasian patients presenting with a new diagnosis of diabetes and have an obese phenotype. A diagnosis of type 2 diabetes should also be considered in young patients from ethnic minority groups and in those in whom oral hypoglycaemic agents were started at diagnosis (12).

1.1b Type 1 Diabetes

Type 1 diabetes is much less common than type 2 diabetes and typically affects younger individuals. Type 1 diabetes usually begins before age 40, although there are exceptions. It accounts for only about 5-10% of all cases of diabetes; even though this continues to rise worldwide (13). Even though environmental factors like exposure to various viruses (for example, Cocksackie virus), diet and vitamin D have been noted to trigger the onset and progression to overt diabetes there is a strong genetic component, inherited mainly through the HLA complex. It is associated with deficiency of insulin due to an autoimmune disorder in which antibodies are produced against the Islet cells of the pancreas. Other antibodies implicated are insulin autoantibodies (IAAs). and autoantibodies to the 65-kDa isoform of GAD and the tyrosine phosphatase-related IA-2 molecule (13, 14). It has been noted that both in family studies and in surveys based on general population, the number of detectable autoantibodies is very closely related to progression to clinical type 1 diabetes with positivity for three to four autoantibodies being associated with a 5-10-year risk of developing clinical type 1 diabetes in the range of 60–100% (14). The onset of these first symptoms may be fairly abrupt or more gradual. The time interval from emergence of autoantibodies to frank diabetes type 1 can be a few months in infants and young children, but in some people it may take years - in some cases more than 10 years (14). Clinical type 1 diabetes represents end-stage immunological destruction of the pancreatic Islet cells. About 10-20% of beta cells are left by the time of diagnosis of type 1 diabetes.

About a quarter of people with new type 1 diabetes are usually diagnosed when they first present with Diabetic Ketoacidosis which usually can be misconstrued as something else, eg viral gastroenteritis. The rest of the type 1 diabetes patients are diagnosed during health screening and incidental detection of hyperglycemia during other medical investigations. Some are also diagnosed after presentation with typical symptoms like polyuria, polydipsia weight loss and fatigue. It is not uncommon to pick up type 1 diabetes for the first time after the patients have been admitted for complications like myocardial infarctions, strokes, retinopathies and nephropathies (13).

Latent Autoimmune Diabetes of Adults (LADA) also known as slow-onset Type 1 autoimmune diabetes in adults is genetically-linked and is hereditary. The patients are frequently initially misdiagnosed as having Type 2 diabetes based on age. Over 5-10% of T2DM could have LADA. These patients may not require insulin as diet / life style alone may be enough. It is usually not easy to differentiate this from type 2 diabetes but a normal BMI and positive auto-antibody tests (Islet, GAD, c-peptide) can help. It is usually important to advise the patient to lose weight prior diagnosis (5).

From diagnosis, the treatment of type1 diabetes is insulin replacement, even though newly diagnosed patients can sometimes experience a partial remission phase (or 'honeymoon period') during which a reasonably well controlled HbA1c level of less than 7% can be maintained without insulin or with just a low dosage of insulin (0.5 units/kg body weight/day)(13). Diagnosis of type 1 diabetes should be suspected as being incorrect if there is a strong family history of diabetes with marked obesity. Acanthosis nigricans is not detected in type 1 diabetes. Also the presence of insulin resistance and a fasting c-peptide within a normal range should alert clinicians that the diagnosis of type 1 diabetes could possibly be wrong. The patient is unlikely to be a type 1 if there are no complications like diabetic ketoacidosis in the absence of insulin long after the "Honeymoon period", which will normally be about 3-5 years after diagnosis (13).

1.2 Burden of diabetes and its complications

Diabetes and its complications are major causes of early death in most countries. In 2015, approximately 5.0 million people aged between 20 and 79 years died from diabetes (15). This is equivalent to one death every six seconds. Diabetes accounted for 14.5% of global all-cause mortality among people in this age group (15). This is higher than the combined number of deaths from the infectious diseases (1.5 million deaths from HIV/AIDS, 1.5 million from tuberculosis and 0.6 million from malaria in 2013) (16) 46.6% of deaths due to diabetes are in people under the age of 60, the most productive age group.

Health care expenditures for people with diabetes have been found to be two- to three-fold higher than people without diabetes (17-19), mainly due increased use of health services, loss of productivity and disability. As a result, diabetes imposes a large economic burden on individuals and families, national health systems and countries (15).

A conservative estimate by the International Diabetes Federation suggests that health spending on diabetes accounted for 11.6% of total health expenditure worldwide in 2015 (15). Over 80% of the countries covered

in this report dedicated between 5% and 20% of their total health expenditure to diabetes.

Global health spending to treat diabetes and prevent complications was estimated to range from USD673 billion to USD1,197 billion in 2015 (15). By 2040, this number is projected to exceed USD802 billion to USD1,452 billion in today's dollars (15). The UK has 4 million people living with diabetes. It is currently estimated that about £10 billion is spent by the NHS on diabetes and this represents 10 per cent of the NHS budget is spent on diabetes (20). Cardiovascular diseases (CVD) are the leading cause of mortality both in men and women in the UK, accounting for one in three deaths for both sexes (21) CVD prevalence is similarly inequitable, with over 3 million Britons currently suffering from CVD. Annual UK costs exceed £30 billion and NHS costs alone exceed £14 billion and are still rising (22, 23). Cardiovascular disease is the most common cause of death and disability among people with diabetes.

1.3 Complications of diabetes

Generally, the long term harmful effects of hyperglycaemia are separated into macrovascular complications (coronary artery disease, peripheral arterial disease, and stroke) and microvascular complications (diabetic nephropathy, neuropathy, and retinopathy). A clear understanding of the relationship between diabetes and cardiovascular disease is needed because rising prevalence of diabetes and the therapeutic armamentarium for primary and secondary prevention of these complications.

The rising prevalence coupled with the increasing life expectancy makes it impossible for specialist centres to cope with the demands of diabetes care, which was the case until 20-30 years ago, thus necessitating a "left shift" to primary care (24). The community or primary care diabetes management is therefore a logical focal point for implementing strategies that improve the care of people with diabetes (25). The multidisciplinary approach to diabetes management is based on the premise that, on a background of a common framework, decisions on the aims of treatment should be dictated by the insight of several professions. This normally requires team-building focusing on developing a common culture and giving priority to professional and social interaction. The purpose of this multidisciplinary approach is to ensure that the activities around the complexities of early and late management and treatment of cardiovascular risk factors, glycaemia and complications are coordinated; with the aim of ensuring an optimal individualised management plan for each patient.

1.3a Microvascular complications. *Retinopathy*.

The risk of developing diabetic retinopathy or other microvascular complications of diabetes depends on both the duration and the severity of hyperglycaemia. Development of diabetic retinopathy in patients with type 2 diabetes was found to be related to both severity of hyperglycaemia and presence of hypertension in the U.K. Prospective Diabetes Study (UKPDS), and most patients with type 1 diabetes develop evidence of retinopathy within 20 years of diagnosis (26, 27). Retinopathy may begin to develop as early as 7 years before the diagnosis of diabetes in patients with type 2 diabetes (28).

The pathway for the development of diabetes retinopathy has been attributed to various mechanisms. High glucose levels increase the utilization of sugar molecules in the polyol pathway, leading to sorbitol accumulation in cells. Osmotic stress from sorbitol accumulation has been postulated as an underlying mechanism in the development of diabetic microvascular complications, including diabetic retinopathy (28). Cells are also thought to be injured by glycoproteins. High glucose concentrations can promote the nonenzymatic formation of advanced glycosylated end products (AGEs) (28). Oxidative stress may also play an important role in cellular injury from hyperglycaemia. High glucose levels can stimulate free radical production and reactive oxygen species formation (28). Growth factors, including vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), growth hormone, and transforming growth factor β , have also been postulated to

play important roles in the development of diabetic retinopathy. VEGF production is increased in diabetic retinopathy, possibly in response to hypoxia (28).

Diabetes retinopathy spans through the trajectory of background retinopathy to proliferative retinopathy leading to blindness. Background retinopathy includes such features as small haemorrhages in the middle layers of the retina referred to as "dot haemorrhages." Hard exudates are caused by lipid deposition that typically occurs at the margins of haemorrhages. Microaneurysms are small vascular dilatations that occur in the retina, often as the first sign of retinopathy. They clinically appear as red dots during retinal examination. Retinal oedema may result from microvascular leakage and is indicative of compromise of the blood-retinal barrier. Proliferative retinopathy is characterized by the formation of new blood vessels on the surface of the retina and can lead to vitreous haemorrhage. White areas on the retina ("cotton wool spots") can be a sign of impending proliferative retinopathy. If proliferation continues, blindness can occur through vitreous haemorrhage and traction retinal detachment. With no intervention, visual loss may occur (29).

The implementation of a diabetes retinopathy service should comprise of a multidisciplinary team of clinicians who understand the natural history of the condition and options for early detection and treatment. These will normally be permanent staffs at a fixed or mobile retinal screening unit who are engaged in regular professional development updates. The aims of the service should to be to improve access to retinopathy screening, particularly for those for whom access has traditionally been limited; the housebound, patients who are disabled, elderly, indigenous or from non-English speaking backgrounds. In the paediatric and adolescent populations, it is essential to have an ophthalmologist with expertise in diabetic retinopathy, and an understanding of the risk for retinopathy in the paediatric population backed up with team that has an experience in counselling the young persons and their families on the importance of early prevention and intervention (30). The co-ordination and supervision

9

of such a service requires proper leadership to identify clinical incidents, safety assessments and drawing up proper interventions to tackle these deficiencies. The General Practitioner keeps an updated register for diabetes patients for a call-recall system for retinopathy screening. This is co-ordinated through appropriate liaison between the hospital eye service and screening programme.

Successful multidisciplinary co-ordinated retinal screening services should have the necessary components not just for screening but for investigations and management. There has to be immediate access to facilities for fluorescein angiography and OCT (optical coherence tomography) to allow patients with maculopathy to be treated within 10 weeks (31) those with new proliferative retinopathy to be treated with laser within 2 weeks (31-33). Patients needing urgent photocoagulation should be able to have it carried out immediately. For patient convenience it is better to have the laser treatment carried out on the day of diagnosis of the problem is made; therefore, there should be sufficient laser clinics. Intravitreal drug delivery facilities will be needed at any treating centre [(32), but vitreo-retinal surgery if not available locally can be referred to a tertiary referral centre. For patients with visual impairment, appropriate counselling services should be available.

Diabetes Nephropathy

With rising prevalence of type 2 diabetes, its effects on the kidneys have become the leading cause of end stage renal failure (ESRF) in most Western countries. The presence of Chronic Kidney Disease (CKD) increases the risk of cardiovascular morbidity and mortality and increases the risk of progression to ESRF (34). Approximately 20 –30% of all diabetic subjects will develop evidence of diabetic nephropathy. The classical pathway to this is the trajectory from microalbuminuria, to overt nephropathy or macroalbuminuria, and finally ESRF.

The renin angiotensin system has been known and been pivotal in the progression of patients with diabetes and renal impairment in end stage renal failure. The reno-protective effect of angiotensin-II receptor blockers independently of blood pressure reduction was demonstrated strongly in the Irbesartan Diabetic Nephropathy Trial and RENAAL study. Both ACE inhibitors and ARBs have been shown to decrease the risk of progression to macroalbuminuria in patients with microalbuminuria by as much as 60–70%. These drugs are recommended as the first-line pharmacological treatment of microalbuminuria, even in patients without hypertension (35). In recent times, with the rising therapeutic armamentarium in diabetes other antidiabetic drugs have shown impressive reductions rates of progressions of proteinuria and end renal end points (36, 37).

Diabetic nephropathy is a progressive disease and as such requires the input of a number of health care professions at various stages of the disease trajectory. The primary care teams after initial diagnosis of early disease can reduce the progression of renal disease with the use of angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitor (ACE-I) or angiotensin receptor blockers (ARB) (38, 39). Specialist assessment should be available to patients with, or at high risk of renal disease for referrals by the primary care teams as the disease progresses. The late management and treatment of complications should be well co-ordinated with the diabetes renal service working closely with nephrology services. Diabetes nephrology services should have appropriately trained staff and systems in place not just to organise the service effectively in a timely manner during disease deterioration but to manage acute complications like hypoglycaemia during episodes of dialysis. Multicomponent structured patient educational interventions which have been shown to be effective in predialysis and dialysis care (40). The role of the dietician is invaluable in this group of patients to not only maintain adequate nutrition but to prevent abnormal electrolyte excursions (41).

Diabetic neuropathy

Diabetic neuropathy is defined as the presence of symptoms and/or signs of peripheral nerve dysfunction in people with diabetes after the exclusion of other causes (42).

The precise nature of injury to the peripheral nerves from hyperglycaemia is not known but likely is related to mechanisms such as polyol accumulation, injury from AGEs, and oxidative stress. Peripheral neuropathy in diabetes can present in several different forms, including sensory, focal/multifocal, and autonomic neuropathies.

Chronic sensorimotor distal symmetric polyneuropathy is the most common form of neuropathy in diabetes. Typically, patients experience burning, tingling, and "electrical" pain, but sometimes they may experience simple numbness. In patients who experience pain, it may be worse at night. Patients with simple numbness, loss of sensation to vibration and temperature can present with a painless foot ulceration (42). Patients who have lost 10-g monofilament sensation are at considerably elevated risk for developing foot ulceration (43).

Pure sensory neuropathy is relatively rare and associated with periods of poor glycemic control or considerable fluctuation in diabetes control. It is characterized by isolated sensory findings without signs of motor neuropathy. Symptoms are typically most prominent at night (42). Mononeuropathies typically have a more sudden onset and involve virtually any nerve, but most commonly the median, ulnar, and radial nerves are affected... Diabetic amyotrophy may be a manifestation of diabetic mononeuropathy and is characterized by severe pain and muscle weakness and atrophy, usually in large thigh muscles (42). Several other forms of neuropathy may mimic the findings in diabetic sensory neuropathy and mononeuropathy. Diabetic autonomic neuropathy also causes significant morbidity and even mortality in patients with diabetes. Neurological dysfunction may occur in most organ systems and can by manifest by gastroparesis, constipation, diarrhoea, anhidrosis, bladder dysfunction, erectile dysfunction, exercise intolerance, resting tachycardia,

12

silent ischemia, and even sudden cardiac death (42). Cardiovascular autonomic dysfunction is associated with increased risk of silent myocardial ischemia and mortality (44). Amitriptyline, imiprimine, paroxetine, citalopram, gabapentin, pregabalin, carbamazepine, topiramate, duloxetine, tramadol, and oxycodone have all been used to treat painful symptoms, but only duloxetine and pregabalin possess official indications for the treatment of painful peripheral diabetic neuropathy (42).

Foot ulceration has been reported as the leading cause of hospital admission and amputation in individuals with diabetes (45). Acute diabetes-related foot ulcers require multidisciplinary management and best practice care, including debridement, offloading, dressings, management of infection, modified footwear and management of extrinsic factors (46). Treatment of diabetic foot ulcers vary widely, depending upon the skills of the attending clinicians. Best practice is deemed to be a multidisciplinary approach, where the holistic view of the patient is sought, and a care plan developed around this person's individual needs. However, these MDTs are not always available. The multidisciplinary teams ideally should include appropriately trained staff to include: orthotists, podiatrists/ podiatric surgeons or both, vascular surgeons, orthopaedic surgeons, diabetologists, microbiologists, radiologists, diabetes specialist nurses (including a diabetes specialist inpatient nurse), ward link nurses and consultants in pain management (with an interest in diabetic neuropathy) (46).

For patients at no added risk, foot care education is usually all that is required, but as they become at risk, twice annual review including foot inspection, footwear assessment, and foot care education become necessary. Patients at high risk (i.e. those with more than 2 risk factors), need reviewing every 3-6 months including foot inspection, footwear assessment, and potential need for vascular assessment or referral. Referral to multidisciplinary foot care team within 24 hrs for management of ulcers and infection is mandatory (47). To ensure a seamless package of

13

care for people with foot care problems, it is important that they are put at the centre of the decision-making process, and have access to accurate information and support. The organisation of care has to involve appropriate health care professionals including community podiatrist who have a clear referral pathway to specialist services. The multidisciplinary specialist teams must endeavour to hold joint clinics in order for service to be more effective and to reduce duplication of visits (48). For the in-patient with diabetes, close observations for risk factors and prevention of foot ulceration is crucial as this can be a vulnerable situation with increase in pressure related ulcers.

For the seamless organisation of care around the diabetes foot patient, there needs to be ready availability of services to support the management. Facilities for pressure area offloading, like orthotic services, foot casting and prosthetic services. Also imaging, including X-ray, CT, MRI and microbiological support services need to be available.

1.3b Macro-vascular complications of diabetes

Multifactorial intervention in the management of type 2 diabetes is known to lead to the reductions in cardiovascular mortality (49). In order for primary care professionals to provide an effective service for people with diabetes, there needs to be clear evidence-based messages around the various the cardiovascular risk factor control domains.

As discussed above, the relationship between diabetes and its control and the reduction of microvascular complications has been proven repeatedly in large scale randomised controlled trials (27, 50, 51), however the same cannot be said of macrovascular complications. The central pathological mechanism in macrovascular disease is the process of atherosclerosis, which leads to narrowing of arterial walls throughout the body. Atherosclerosis is thought to result from chronic inflammation and injury to the arterial wall in the peripheral or coronary vascular system. In response to endothelial injury and inflammation, oxidized lipids from LDL particles accumulate in the endothelial wall of arteries. In addition to atheroma formation, there is strong evidence of increased platelet adhesion and hypercoagulability in type 2 diabetes (52).

Diabetes increases the risk that an individual will develop cardiovascular disease (CVD). Although the precise mechanisms through which diabetes increases the likelihood of atherosclerotic plaque formation are not completely defined, the association between the two is profound. CVD is the primary cause of death in people with either type 1 or type 2 diabetes (50, 53). In fact, CVD accounts for the greatest component of health care expenditures in people with diabetes (50, 54). Despite these strong associations, intensively controlling glycaemia has not always led to a reduction in macrovascular complications (55-57). In trials where macrovascular benefits have been shown, this normally occurs after decades (27). In trials that did not show macrovascular benefits or indeed showed and increase risk of macrovascular complications, the cause of the increased risk or the blunting of any minor macrovascular benefits, could be due to the pleiotropic effects of the medications used in the treatment of diabetes. In recent years, there have been a proliferation of newer agents for the treatment of diabetes and all these have to demonstrate cardiovascular safety as required by licensing bodies. The wide therapeutic armamentarium, with the potential of adverse pleiotropic macrovascular complications, creates a significant layer of complexity for primary care teams, who may not be specialised enough in the area of diabetes. On the background of these complexities, any model of diabetes care which relies on primary care teams as the focus of service delivery will need to explore and critically appraise all the evidence around cardiovascular risk reduction by primary care teams in diabetes patients. Coronary heart disease and stroke prevention in diabetes patients is therefore the focus of the initial aspects of this project and the findings of the review will hopefully feed into the design of a primary care based integrated diabetes service.

Coronary Heart Disease

Among macrovascular diabetes complications, coronary heart disease has been associated with diabetes in numerous studies beginning with the Framingham study.24 More recent studies using Mendelian randomization analyses support a causal role for diabetes and its associated high glucose levels on CAD, and suggest that long-term glucose lowering may reduce CAD events (58). Type 2 diabetes typically occurs in the setting of the metabolic syndrome, which also includes abdominal obesity, hypertension, hyperlipidaemia, and increased coagulability. These other factors can also act to promote CVD. Even in this setting of multiple risk factors, type 2 diabetes acts as an independent risk factor for the development of ischemic disease and death (59).

Diabetes and Stroke

Patients with type 2 diabetes have a much higher risk of stroke, with an increased risk of 2.5- to 3.5-fold compared to nondiabetic subjects (59-61). Diabetes is also a strong independent predictor of risk of stroke and cerebrovascular disease as in coronary artery disease (38). Risk of stroke-related dementia and recurrence, as well as stroke-related mortality, is elevated in patients with diabetes (52).

Although HbA1c has been clearly demonstrated to be a marker and a strong predictor of diabetic vascular damage and complications in diabetic patients (62), its prognostic significance in the acute cerebrovascular disease still represents an intriguing issue deserving further investigations

Cardiovascular risk factor control

Given this public health burden, prevention of cardiovascular disease has become a priority in recent years. In 2009, the Department of Health introduced the NHS Health Checks programme in England, which aims to assess people aged 40-74 years for their CVD risk (http://www.healthcheck.nhs.uk/). Assessing risk of CVD has emerged as a simplistic way of targeting intervention strategies at those who are asymptomatic but at high risk of developing CVD (individuals scoring >20% risk).

The majority of CVD can be prevented by addressing risk factors that can be controlled, treated or modified such as lack of physical activity, unhealthy diet, overweight/obesity, high blood pressure, cholesterol, tobacco use and diabetes. Furthermore, the mainstay therapies for high risk individuals are long-term statins and anti-hypertension medication. However, research has shown that only half of individuals continue to take prescribed statins at six months, with further declines in adherence at one year (63). This finding is especially prominent in asymptomatic individuals, where such treatment is preventive (64, 65).

Therefore, reducing the above risk factors along with improving medication adherence can rapidly reduce the likelihood of developing CVD and interventions targeting these areas are essential for individuals identified as having a high risk of CVD.

The National Health Service health checks programme introduced in England in April 2009 for adults aged 40 to 74 years is purposed to assess the risk of developing vascular or metabolic disease and manage the risk factors of those identified as high risk to prevent disease progression and improve outcomes. The programme therefore serves as good opportunity to identify people with type 2 diabetes and those at risk of diabetes (66)

There are varying reports of uptake of the NHS health checks in different populations. Even though the Department of Health assumes a 75% uptake in their cost effectiveness modelling (67), low uptakes rates of 29% have been reported in some areas (68). Lower rates of uptake of screening programmes are reported among ethnic minorities and in areas of socioeconomic deprivation (69). Possible reasons of the low uptake in minority groups could be cultural, economic and fatalistic acceptance of the cause and course of the diabetes. Whatever the reasons, racial/ethnic disparities can be worsened if high risk or selective screening in these groups is not considered seriously. A more aggressive call and recall of these population groups for the NHS health checks coupled with strategies to prevent the onset of diabetes through diet and lifestyle changes that are culturally sensitive and population specific is therefore essential (70).

On the contrary, other studies have reported significantly higher attendance for the NHS health checks programmes among patients from south Asian (53.0%) or mixed (57.8%) ethnic backgrounds (71). This finding makes the programme a welcome intervention for reducing the disparities of diabetes prevalence between the different populations.

For all patients aged between 40-74 years without a diagnosed existing vascular disease, if they have a blood pressure of $\geq 140/90$, BMI ≥ 30 Kg/m² (27.5 Kg/m² in minority ethnic groups), a test for diabetes either with fasting plasma glucose or glycated haemoglobin (HbA1c) is suggested. Recent observational studies have reported a 33.3% failure rate of identifying patients of known ethnicities at risk of developing or having diabetes when this approach is followed (72). Hence, a generic application of the programme to all populations could potentially lead to further widening of inequalities. Fine tuning the programme to reflect various population needs is therefore a better option.

The recent National Institute of Clinical Excellence (NICE) guidance on preventing type 2 diabetes: risk identification and interventions for individuals at high risk, recommends a two-step process of strategically targeting screening at those with highest risk. In this process a patient's risk of developing diabetes would be quantified initially using a suitable risk evaluation (by self- assessment scores or computerized scores) which does not require biochemical measurements. Risk above an agreed threshold would prompt blood sampling for HbA1c along with other tests required for cardiovascular risk assessment (73). Better still; a one-step approach with measurement of HbA1c in all may be the better option to adopt in areas of high prevalence, especially where there is relatively socio-economically deprived population with a high proportion of residents from ethnic minorities (74). A blood sample would be taken for HbA1c analysis and lipid profiling for cardiovascular risk screening. Patients are then classified as being at risk of diabetes if they have elevated HbA1c levels below the diabetes threshold (6.0-6.4%) and would be invited back for repeat screening at 12 monthly regular intervals. Those at low risk (HbA1<6% or 42 mmol/mol) will be followed up 5 yearly and those with HbA1c \geq 6.5% will be labelled as diabetes after repeat test for confirmation if asymptomatic. These people will then be removed from the call and recall NHS health check programme and managed through existing diabetes care pathways.

The uptake of the NHS health checks modelled around 75% by the department of health is no doubt going to create a major impact on workload for health care assistants, nurses, laboratories and general practitioners. If 2.2 million people are screened at this level of uptake, it is estimated that between 84,038 to 89,231 people will diagnosed with type 2 diabetes. Even if the uptake was around 45% (1.35 million people screened), between 51567 to 54,755 people will be diagnosed (75). Given that in the UK, people of South Asian backgrounds are at a higher risk of developing type 2 diabetes and do so at about 5 years earlier than the white population (76), an earlier screening age for these high risk groups would be appropriate, however the department of health does not recommend starting screening at an earlier age for people in these high risk groups probably because of the anticipated impact these huge numbers is going to have. Using marginal analysis and profit maximisation however, it might still be prudent to consider earlier screening age for high risk groups. The £332m per year cost of the programme from the economic modelling by the Department of Health will adequately fund the screening but once these screen detected cases are found, management of the disease and subsequent complications is going to stretch the already overburdened health system. It is hoped that a proportion of the suggested average annual benefit of £3.8bn will be used to tackle the issue of inequalities (67).

The control of the multiple strands of cardiovascular risk factors in diabetes care requires multi-disciplinary teams. The organisation of the

teams needs clinicians not just to have the expertise in their chosen fields but also to be skilled in an inter-professional approach. Coronary heart disease (CHD) is a frequent complication and a major cause of mortality in people with diabetes. Therefore, its presence can create added complexity for an already burdensome regimen. The presence of a complex health and illness profile is found to be associated with worse control of cardiometabolic risk factors independent of regimen intensity and history of CHD (77). This is compounded by the fact that management of the major cardiovascular risk factors in diabetes have all raised questions on the benefits of high risk factor control. In glycaemic control for example, although early intensive treatment in diabetes results in lasting benefit, including for CVD risk reduction (78), intensive glycaemic control in late diagnosis and in patients if background cardiovascular disease does not reduce major cardiovascular events and indeed may increase mortality (56). Similarly, even though major reductions in cardiovascular outcomes is seen in patients receiving tight control of blood pressure compared with those receiving conventional control if the base line blood pressure was high (79, 80) tight control of systolic BP among patients with diabetes and coronary artery disease has not been shown to improve cardiovascular outcomes (81). Indeed, an increased mortality in intensively treated newly diagnosed diabetes patients has also been noted and therefore caution in lowering blood pressure too aggressively is recommended in these patients (82). Regarding cholesterol, a reduction in 1 mmol/l LDL leads to 20-25% reduction in CVD events (major coronary events, coronary revascularisation and ischaemic stroke) (83). However, among patients at increased diabetes risk, (those with baseline evidence of impaired fasting glucose, metabolic syndrome, severe obesity, and elevated HbA1c) the risk of development of diabetes among statin-treated patients appears to be raised. However, the overall cardiovascular and mortality benefits of statin therapy exceed the risk for developing diabetes (84). Nevertheless, this finding introduces another complexity in cardiovascular risk management in diabetes. Thus the control of the various risk factors could potentially require the inputs of other team members with expertise on those areas.

The treatment of the complications and co-morbidities requires coordination across a number of specialists. System management is therefore essential, including the flexibility to deliver personalised care and identifying and meeting the individual needs of people with complex needs. In dealing with these complexities, integration of care around the patient is pivotal to deliver seamless, optimal and effective care. In developing a diabetes service, it is important to know what the components and of the service ought to be and the mode of implementation required. Even though the models of care delivery in diabetes vary from country to country, the components required are broadly similar. The implementation is what varies from place to place. The choice of implementation strategy depends on the local needs and the availability of various component resources. In many developed countries, there is usually a national strategy in delivering diabetes care.

In a generic service model, there must be integration across all levels of the service in order to provide a seamless transition for patients and ensure appropriate referrals take place, with clear and agreed referral criteria and clinical protocols for chronic and emergency management. Good communication links and joint working between the practice diabetes leads and specialist care teams is essential for the planning of services and to provide a framework for audit, quality assurance and performance monitoring.

Care provision in the community settings (that is, other than within GP practices) requires a collaborative approach from diabetes specialists support teams. These teams are constructed based on the needs of the local population and can comprise a collaborative team of diabetes specialist nurses, diabetes consultants, dieticians, diabetic retinopathy screening teams and podiatrists. They can offer clinic based care, outreach support to practices and nursing homes, rapid access community clinics, development of agreed clinical care pathways for various aspects of diabetes care and referrals, and telephone and web based support for complex cases, again depending on the needs of the locality. This support

needs to be flexible in approach and multi-stranded to reflect the varying gaps in knowledge of the health care professionals. The fundamentals of any such programme should be applicable and transferable to other diabetes care providers.

These components require a co-ordinated approach between multiple healthcare professionals in different sectors of health and social care. For local populations, a local model of care is required, which can be developed in more detail, with roles and responsibilities clearly identified. Ideally, care should be provided within each locality to agreed care pathways, and each care provider should be clear of their role and relationship with other providers. The delivery of integrated diabetes care in any locality requires leadership and teams working through co-operation, co-ordination and collaboration, working to a shared vision of healthcare, and drawing together the skills and relationships across the healthcare community. This integrated collaborative approach has been shown to be effective not only in mental illness but also in the management of people with mental disease and other chronic physical multi-morbidities (85). Specialist diabetes teams, often with extended roles, working in primary care through community consultants, form a central 'hub' of expertise to support the delivery of high-quality and effective delivery of diabetes care.

1.4 Exemplary models of diabetes care

Overview of current models of care

In the USA, there is a drive to incorporate elements of the chronic care model into diabetes care. Systems' redesigns, self-management and decision support and organisation of diabetes care in the community could collective improve outcomes in diabetes and reduce cost (86). An organisation like Kaiser Permanente are using these components in diabetes care and showing improvements in admission rates and outpatients clinic attendances, born out of the challenge of providing medical care to industrial workers during the Great Depression and World War II, when most people could not afford to go to the doctor, is using these components in diabetes care and showing improvements in admission rates and outpatients clinic attendances (87). It provides affordable, high quality health care services and improves the health of its members and the communities served. It defines the integrated model of health care financing and delivery through its unique partnerships. The ethos of the service is to have a social purpose, quality-driven, shared accountability, integration along multiple dimensions, prevention and management of complications. In this organisation, the primary care physician is at the centre, but may be helped by nurses (sometimes specializing in diabetes or other conditions), medical assistants (sometimes dedicated population management assistants), health educators, pharmacists, social workers, psychologists and specialists. It is however unclear whether a similar model focusing on just primary care or community care professions could lead to cardiovascular risk factor control in people with diabetes in the UK. If this was proven to be the case, it could lead to the same benefits as the chronic care model being delivered at a lower cost closer to the patients' homes with the guarantee of continuity from the usual primary care physicians. In the next chapter a review of all interventions targeting primary care or community based professionals on glycaemic and cardiovascular risk factor control in people with diabetes will be considered in detail.

Some current UK models of care and their shortcomings.

In the UK, the changes occurring in the NHS present an opportunity for clinicians in primary and specialist care to collaborate to bring about quality improvement in diabetes care. In recent times, two exemplary models have been rolled out in England that are reaping some early successes; the Portsmouth Super Six Model (88) and the Derby Integrated diabetes care model (89). In the Portsmouth Super Six model, the collaboration between primary care and secondary care clinicians has resulted in ring-fenced specialist areas in diabetes, left to be managed in
secondary care, where expert input from diabetologists and multidisciplinary care teams are. These six specialist diabetes areas are: antenatal diabetes, renal (estimated glomerular filtration rate <30), diabetic foot care, insulin pumps, type 1/adolescent diabetes (unstable control) and inpatient diabetes. Hospital diabetes clinics developed historically from the need for supervision of insulin treatment. Inevitably they also recruited large numbers of patients not managed by insulin, and the problem has been compounded by increases in life expectancy. The work load has thus increased over the decades and the specialist's role in insulin management has now been limited to the acutely ill diabetic patients including patients with diabetic ketoacidosis, those with acute myocardial infarctions, intensive care patients and those on renal wards who need meticulous insulin management to foster early recovery. Patients requiring very complex insulin regimes for the control of their diabetes, like those needing very large doses and those needing insulin in combination with GLP-1 analogues are best dealt with by the specialist. All other diabetes care should be delivered in primary care, with specialist providing educational support and advice for primary care clinicians in the management complex diabetes. Despite the success of this model as an exemplar model of diabetes care in the UK, it is limited by the lack of recognition of a complex group of patients with diabetes who need to be under specialist multidisciplinary settings in secondary care. These patients may not necessary fall in the "super six" category, but are too complex to be managed in primary care settings by generalists. Examples of such complex patients are young poorly controlled type 2 diabetes patients, very obese poorly controlled type 2 patients and poorly controlled type 2 patients with either micro-vascular or macro-vascular complications. Another limitation of the Portsmouth "super six" model is the complexities around the contractual arrangements of the supporting secondary care consultants. Due to the difficulty in arranging their contracts, the supporting consultants had to form a limited liability company, independent of either their primary care or secondary care

trusts. This arrangement creates uncertainties on the longevity of the service.

In the Derby Integrated diabetes care model on the other hand, innovative collaboration between primary care and specialists resulted in the creation of a new NHS organisation, which provides integrated diabetes care for their local population. The new NHS organisations are jointly and equally owned by an acute hospital trust and local GPs. With the patient in the "hub", delivery of care revolved around them, with the organisational structure, clinical pathways and financial planning all aligning seamlessly (89). This arrangement sounds more secured than the Portsmouth "super six" model, however, the contractual negotiations probably needed protracted legal negotiations in order to reach and consensus. Despite this long drawn out process, it is still unclear even if this model can stand the test of time.

Another established model is The NHS Westminster Model of Care for Diabetes Services (90). In this model integration of care is fostered by an emphasis on the primary, intermediate and secondary care of type 2 diabetes largely using common locally agreed pathways. The integration also stretches to social services, giving patients a seamless pathway of care irrespective of their health and social requirements. Through these pathways, patients are triaged either to secondary care or intermediate care and no patients are referred directly to secondary care (level 4) without first going through the community-based specialist diabetes services (level 3). (Figure 1). The limitation of this model, like most other integrated models of care, is that continuity of care can be lost due to the multiplicity of professionals involved in different settings, all of them with only a prime concern of the diabetes, and probably not so much of an involvement of other bio-psycho-social factors.

Due to the limitations of all these models, there is a need to configure and appraise a new model based on the ideals of the aforementioned models, but with particular attention to primary care teams. Every patient in the

25

UK, has a registered general practitioner who is responsible of coordinating the health and social needs of individual patients. It therefore makes sense to configure a primary care based integrated diabetes service where continuity of care for the patient can be guaranteed closer to the patient's home. Various interventions targeting primary care teams need to be explored in the context of not just diabetes, but other multi-morbid conditions.

Lead Clinical Responsibility	Level of care	Setting	Providers	Contracting
Consultant Diabetologist		Hospital setting	Acute trust	Payment by Results
General Practitioner	4	Community Setting GP Surgery / residential setting / patient's home	Provider of community services + Provider of acute services + Provider of retinopathy screening service GP(s) + practice nurses + other staff employed by practice	Service level agreement (SLA) / contract with community service provider + Separate SLA/contract with acute provider to cover services provided within intermediate care service and interventions provided to support GPs to provide high quality care + Contract with provider of retinopathy screening service General Medical Services (GMS) contract, including Quality and Outcomes Framework (QOF) +/- Local Enhanced Service (LES)
Level 4	Specialist diabetes care and advice for p	atients provided wit	hin a hospital-b	pased setting
Level 3	Specialist diabetes care and advice for p community-based diabetes centre, healt - including insulin starts	atients provided wit h centre, Polyclinic)	hin a communi	ty-based setting (eg
Level 2	Elements of primary care services for pe (ie other than within GP surgeries) - including patient education programme	ople with diabetes t s, dietetics, podiatry	hat are provide / and diabetic re	d in community settings etinopathy screening.
Level 1	Care provided by GP(s) + practice nurse The introduction of a local enhanced ser of diabetes care provided by GPs and th care pathways and referral protocols, etc practices for providing ongoing diabetes providing services that are nor usually pr	s + other staff empl vice (LES) can enal eir staff (eg training); and can also pro- care for a higher pro- ovided by GP pract	oyed by GP pra ble PCTs to set to be undertak ovide a mechar oportion of pati ices (eg insulin	actices standards for the quality en, adherence to agreed hism for PCTs to reward ents, as well as for initiation).

Figure 1: Westminster Diabetes Service Model

1.5 Interventions on Health care professional

Patients with type 2 diabetes are very heterogeneous and there is no single universal pathway or guideline the can be applied to all of them. The emergence of new therapies for diabetes, in addition to metformin, sulphonylureas and insulin, gives clinicians a wide range of options to address the needs of their patients. The issue however is; clinicians will need in-depth knowledge of these new therapies in order to use them. Complex decision making like deciding which agents can be used in elderly frail patients, those with multi-morbidities, renal failure and those with long standing diabetes can be contribute to clinical inertia in optimising glycaemic control.

Improving quality in diabetes care has always focused on the education of patients and the organisation of the teams providing the service and less so on the health care provider. Variations of care in the management of cardiovascular risk in diabetes still exists (91) even though we now have good quality evidence showing that patients can achieve good outcomes when various quality improvement strategies around prevention and management of diabetes are implemented (92). As a result, innovative evidenced-based approaches, focusing on educating the primary care physicians, are needed to increase awareness of the risks and access to integrated diabetes care services. A systematic review focusing on glycaemic control over a median follow up of thirteen months showed a reduction in HbA1c of 0.42% (95% CI 0.29-0.54) when QI strategies were employed. This review identified team changes and case managements as the only two strategies to significantly reduce HbA1c if combined with other strategies. These 2 strategies were associated with improvements in in HbA1c of at least 0.5% (93).

A more recent systematic review looked at the role of QI strategies more broadly across the clinical spectrum of diabetes care; from glycaemic control to vascular risk management, micro-vascular complications and smoking cessation (94). The quality indicators that seemed to have a

27

marked effect on glycaemic control and vascular risk management were team changes, case management, patient education, facilitated relay of information and promotion of self-management. In terms of glycaemic control alone, all QI strategies are associated with a significant lowering of glycaemic control when baseline HbA1c when sample size are corrected for, with the exception of clinician education (94). There was however no differentiation of which clinicians were being educated. Even though educating the Diabetes Specialist Nurses and specialists is important, it is unlikely to result in HbA1c reduction, as they most likely will have those skills already, but educating general practitioners could potentially lead to improvement in glycaemic control. A recent observational study concluded that that primary care physicians were less likely to follow prescribed guidelines for diabetes care than their secondary care colleagues (95). Poor infrastructure in primary care to deal with the increasing work load related to diabetes care has also been sited (96). Despite these, most patients with type 2 diabetes in many European countries are now being treated in primary (97). GP education in the complex areas of diabetes care like insulin initiation and intensification is therefore desirable. Changes in various national guidelines have resulted in General Practitioners taking over the responsibility of initiating insulin, which was previously the sole responsibility of the secondary care teams. In 2006, the Dutch recommended insulin initiation by all primary care physicians if it is indicated (98). The guidelines in the Netherlands, provided detailed information on appropriate therapeutic regimes and also recommended that anybody on two or more oral hypoglycaemic drugs but with HbA1c of more than 7.5% should be initiated on a long acting basal insulin. This simple and straightforward guide resulted in 67% of primary care physicians initiating and monitoring insulin rather than referring to the hospitals, and another 17% monitored insulin regimes initiated in secondary care (98).

With the proliferation of newer anti-diabetic agents in recent years, GP education is therefore crucial in keeping pace with the changes.

GLP 1 agonist have the advantage of weight reduction and are therefore attractive to obese type 2 diabetes patients, but the side effect of nausea and vomiting is a potential draw back, clinician education on the frequency of these side effects and injection technique is therefore necessary.

DPP-4 inhibitors are also proving attractive albeit the modest HbA1c reduction associated with them, simply because they are taken orally and are weight neutral and on their own will not cause any hypoglycaemia. The fixed dosing of linagliptin without need for dose reduction in renal patients is particularly exciting for GPs.

Pioglitazone is particularly useful in severe insulin resistant patients, and can possibly improve serum HDL and decrease triglyceride. The problem however is the possibility of weight gain due to fluid retention and heart failures, bone fractures and possible increase in bladder cancer.

Even in the case of metformin with a huge amount experience in its use, GP education on what cut-off renal threshold to avoid it, effects on vitamin B12 absorption, its GI side effects and when to consider slow release versions will all be desirable.

Sulphonylureas are proving less popular with clinicians because of the weight gains and hypoglycaemia associated with them but they still have a place in a lot of patients and GP education on when to consider them could be financially prudent as they are relatively inexpensive.

Clinician education on the new and advanced therapies in diabetes has to keep pace with this fast rate of development of new drugs in order to improve outcomes. This however comes at a cost which might serve as a barrier for clinicians. The pharmaceutical companies are a necessary evil in this regard. Sponsorship for doctors and nurses for educational events has come under enormous criticism lately because of concerns around the ethics of providing fair and neutral information about drugs and products (99). Delivering medical education on new and advance therapies of diabetes in the form of lectures and presentations sponsored by pharmaceutical companies is not ideal as these companies get to choose to topic, content and speakers. So the clinicians really have no choice but to just learn what is taught them, which may not necessarily be what will improve the outcomes for their patients. Emphasis is now being put on helping healthcare professionals to measure and improve what they do in their practices (competence and performance). GPs who want to improve their knowledge on new and advanced therapies in diabetes could achieve this by completing practice quality improvement modules in which they review the care they deliver to their patients through an audit process of comparing their outcomes with standards of excellence, identifying their own learning needs and creating a plan for improvement. This plan could then be aided by pharmaceutical companies not just through didactic lecture room power point presentations, but through mentorship, casebased discussions, reminders and feedback.

With the reconfiguration of CCGs across the country, models of diabetes care that involves collaboration of between primary and secondary are springing up with early successes. In this collaboration, in addition to patients getting a seamless pathway of care, through the different strata of the models, primary care physician can get advice, educational support and mentorship from their secondary care colleagues on specific patient management issues at no extra cost (88).

1.5 Primary care management of the multi-morbid diabetes patient

As the population lives longer, we are faced with an epidemic of multimorbidity and rising complexity of health needs (100). It is estimated that 25% of people live with a long-term condition; the majority with more than one (101, 102), thus resulting in excess health service spending on dealing with these conditions. Multi-morbidity tends to be more prevalent in populations with increased deprivation (102). Nearly all our research is based on single diseases and tends to exclude patients with complex morbidity. Currently integration of care is considered as the ultimate goal for the management of long-term conditions and multi-morbidities (103). The methods adopted for dealing with this wield the technique of intervention provision characterised by evidence-based condition-specific protocols of best practice, together with developing multiple professional teams to deal with the complexities of multi-morbidities (104).

Despite this current practice, even though critical review of the current evidence of the effects of integrated care demonstrated improvements in processes like adherence to protocols, there was little impact on patient outcomes or costs to health services (105).

Expert generalist practice involving practitioners trained in the principles and practice of interpretive medicine, dealing with the first contact care of wide ranging complex undifferentiated problems, has been suggested as an alternative strategy for dealing with the problem of multi-morbidity (106).

However, there is paucity of practice-based evidence demonstrating the benefits of multi-morbidity care packages by generalists.

Chapter 2

A systematic review of Interventions targeting primary care or community based professionals on glycaemic and cardiovascular risk factor control in people with diabetes.

2.1 Synopsis of chapter 2

The objective was to review the interventions targeting primary care or community based professionals on glycaemic and cardiovascular risk factor control in people with diabetes.

A systematic review of randomised controlled trials evaluating the effectiveness of interventions targeting primary care or community based professionals on diabetes and cardiovascular risk factor control was conducted. Searches were conducted in MEDLINE database from inception up to 27TH September 2015. Articles related to diabetes were also retrieved from the Cochrane EPOC database and EMBASE and scanned bibliographies for key articles.

The results showed heterogeneity in terms of interventions and participants amongst the 30 studies (39,439 patients) that met the inclusion criteria. Nine of the studies focused on general or family practitioners, five on pharmacists, three on nurses and one each on dieticians and community workers. Twelve studies targeted multidisciplinary teams.

Educational interventions did not seem to have a positive impact on HbA1c, systolic blood pressure or lipid profiles. The use of telemedicine, clinician reminders and feedback showed mixed results but there was a level of consistency in improvement in HbA1c when multifaceted interventions on multidisciplinary teams were implemented. Targeting general or family physicians was largely ineffective in improving the cardiovascular risk factors considered, except when using a computer application on insulin handling of type 2 diabetes or customised simulated cases with feedbacks. Similarly, interventions targeting nurses did not improve outcomes compared to standard care.

It was therefore concluded that multifaceted professional interventions were more effective than single interventions targeting single primary or community care professionals in improving glycaemic control.

2.2 Literature review

In the primary care setting, the care of people with diabetes does not solely lie on the primary care physician. On the contrary, various other professionals play key roles around the various facets of the care of people with diabetes. Different interventions will probably work better for different professional roles to improve outcomes. A consideration is herein given to the various professional roles and interventions in the primary care setting around the care of people with diabetes.

2.2a Community Pharmacists

A sustainable collaborative care approach for people with diabetes should make use of the community pharmacists, a local and accessible resource that is increasingly regarded as the first port of call for patients to seek help with the management of chronic disease. By offering programmes for monitoring therapeutic interventions, improving compliance with medication, and by educating patients about their lifestyle to improving their quality of life, community pharmacists play a vital role in managing diabetes and its complications (107, 108). On the average, the community pharmacist consults with the diabetes patient three to eight times more frequently than other patients (109). As a result of this, in addition to bringing 'medicines expertise' to the team-based care of people with diabetes and performing root-cause analysis of adverse events with diabetes medicines to contribute to the patient/medicine safety agenda, the community pharmacist can lead the collaborative care approach of managing diabetes and reducing associated cardiovascular risk factors. The use of the collaboration can bridge the gap between successful pharmacy screening programme for diabetes and practitioner follow up of these patients (110). This role can be extended to patients in residential care and housebound patients.

2.2b Practice Nurses

In primary care setting, chronic disease management is increasingly being carried out by practice nurses with general practitioners intervening only in complex cases (111). In the case of diabetes this has become even more necessary because of the increasing prevalence and the burden of caring for people with the disease. It is known that despite the worsening of health related quality of life and an increase in diabetes related symptoms, practice nurses are able to achieve results, which are comparable to those achieved by a general practitioner in terms of cardio-metabolic risk factor reduction (111). Patients treated by practice nurses also reported being more satisfied with their treatment than those treated by a general practitioner (111). Practices nurses, using clinical guidelines, can therefore safely deliver the care of people with type 2 diabetes. This makes the nursing team in primary an important resource in a multidisciplinary primary care team. The extension of the practice nurse's role to include the initiation and titration of medications complements their other roles like supporting, educating and enabling patients to manage diabetes care thus ensuring a holistic delivery of care closer to home. However, they can potentially over utilise insulin inappropriately. The close collaborative working between the nurses and the doctors can limit any potential over utilisation of insulin management if it were to occur.

2.2c General or Family Practitioners

The use of primary care physicians (General or Family practitioners) can be as good if not better than hospital outpatient if regular review of patients is guaranteed (25). The enhancement of the generalist's care for diabetes patients with the use of quality improvement strategies like audit and feedback is an effective tool for reducing patient cardiovascular risk profile (112). The generalist's role often includes active case management of patients with multiple conditions. In these patient groups, continuity of care is of paramount importance. Multidisciplinary primary care teams, led by the generalist, therefore have a fundamental role in the prevention and identification of diabetes as well as in routine care at a level that fits with their competencies. They will ensure an accurate disease register is maintained to enable a call-recall system for annual reviews. They work co-operatively with other members of the team, seeking their views, acknowledging their contribution and using their skills appropriately. Patients with poor cardiovascular risk factor controls and those with early signs of micro-vascular complications can be identified and referred onto more specialist centres. The generalist has a more longitudinal relationship with patients with chronic conditions like diabetes. They have the responsibility of coordinating the management of the patient's acute and chronic complications of diabetes over time. They have an understanding of the patient in relation to their socio-economic and cultural background and additionally, recognise the impact of the problem on the patient's family and carers. They will therefore use appropriate support agencies including primary health care team members targeted to the needs of the patient of with diabetes.

The pay-for-performance initiative started in the UK in 2004 is probably the most ambitious quality improvement strategy and initially yielded some obvious improvements in the care of people with diabetes (113) but these benefits reached a plateau across the population (114) and did not lead to reduction in the variations in care(115, 116). The organisation of general practitioner specialist clinics in primary care has limited evidence in terms of reduction of cardiovascular risk factors. The provision of primary care services for patients with diabetes, whether traditional general practitioner clinics or diabetes clinics run by general practitioners with special interests, is effective in reducing HbA1c, cholesterol and blood pressure (117).

2.2d Diabetes Specialists

Hospital diabetes clinics developed historically from the need for supervision of insulin treatment. Inevitably they also recruited large numbers of patients not managed with insulin. The workload has thus increased over the decades. With the majority of diabetes patients now being managed in primary care, the specialist's role in insulin management has now been limited to the acutely ill patients with diabetes including patients with diabetic ketoacidosis, those with acute myocardial infarctions, intensive care patients and those on renal wards who need meticulous insulin management to foster early recovery. Type 1 or type 2 diabetes patients who require very complex insulin regimes for the control of their diabetes, like those needing very large doses and those needing insulin in combination with newer therapies are best dealt with by the specialist. Most consultants with a specialist interest in diabetes are based in acute hospitals where they also deliver general medicine, alongside training roles, general management and research. As a result of these multiple roles they are very well placed to provide multidisciplinary diabetes specialist teams with leadership though providing support and education to community diabetes services. In some areas the integration of services has made necessary the employment of an increasing number of community diabetes consultants who deliver and co-ordinate services in a community setting only.

2.2e Dieticians

The use of dietary education has been found to improve anthropometric measures and glycaemic control and use of less prescribed medication (118). By using improvements in diabetes patient's knowledge of how to self-manage his or her illness, dietician–led diabetes management programmes can be an effective strategy for glycaemic control and improving dietary habits for patients with poorly controlled type 2 diabetes (119). Registered dieticians therefore can contribute greatly to the comprehensive care plans for diabetic patients. They work as members of multidisciplinary teams across a variety of healthcare settings, including primary and specialist care. Their caseload might encompass working with

children, adults, young people and individuals with mental health problems. They also have an important role in the management of diabetes patients with severe obesity. The dietician can also offer support for patients with type 1 diabetes in areas around carbohydrate counting. In primary care, their role could be in advising those at risk of diabetes and those who are newly diagnosed on the appropriate dietary requirements. In the case of complex diabetes patients needing initialisation or augmentation of insulin therapy the dietician support is normally needed. Within a specialist care setting they support antenatal and postnatal care of diabetes patients. In the obese diabetes patients needing bariatric surgery, they can provide dietary support before and after the procedure. For patients with mental health issues like eating disorders, dietician support to maintain weight and glycaemic control can be sought. On the dialysis units and inpatient wards, diabetes patients will normally need complex nutritional care such as enteral feeding. The dietician supports people with complex problems such as gastroparesis and pancreatitis.

2.2f Community Health workers

Diabetes programmes can include community health workers in the multidisciplinary teams in a variety of roles. They usually reside in the target community and are given special training to help bring health services and health education as well as health promotion to their local communities. They also mobilise members of the community to adopt behaviours that improve their overall health and living conditions [(120-122). This important resource has can lead to improvements in patients' knowledge and behaviour and in some cases even improve biochemical outcomes in diabetes and promote health (123). The optimal role of peer support of community lay educators is particularly crucial in the lowincome underserved populations, particularly for racial and ethnic minority communities (121, 124-126). Their knowledge of the language, culture and the geographic communities can be used to co-ordinate care in partnership with health care systems (127). Their functions include activities such as home visits, health education, and outreach activities for ambulatory care sites (122).

2.2g Interventions

Case management is said to occur when individuals or teams acting in an additional role to the primary care physicians, coordinate the diagnosis, treatment, or routine management of patients, for example arrangement for referrals, follow-up of test results(128)

Health professional educations programmes seek to increase their understanding in the evidence-based recommendations around the management of people with diabetes. Diabetes educational interventions can be delivered in conferences or workshops, distribution of educational materials (written, video, or other), and educational outreach visits.

Financial incentives directed at primary care providers are usually linked the achievements of some process or clinical outcomes.

Clinician reminders can be paper-based or electronic systems and are normally intended to aid the call and recall system for regular reviews of biochemical and clinical markers of poor control of diabetes. In some situations, a decision support in the form of a suggestion of appropriate action, through the use of telemedicine in cases suboptimal control of the illness is couple with the clinician reminders (128).

Another common intervention used is the auditing and feeding back of the performance of primary care professionals on their clinical performance over a specified period.

Sometimes health care professional interventions include the expansion of the roles of other non-physician professionals like nurses or pharmacists to carry out routine clinical checks and prescribing. In some cases, adding another physician or, pharmacist, dietician, podiatrists or diabetes specialist nurse to the primary care teams creates a multi-disciplinary team intervention for the care of people with diabetes.

A review of all these interventions showed that in studies on patients who had poor baseline achievement of quality indicators, there were larger effects on HbA1c, systolic and diastolic blood pressure, and LDL

38

cholesterol. Team changes, case management, patients' education, were associated with decreases in HbA1c of more than 0.5% in trials with baseline HbA1c greater than 8.0% (128). However, larger reductions in HbA1c are noted irrespective of the baseline HbA1C when interventions were directed at whole system of chronic disease management (128). Interventions involving team changes and case management reduced HbA1c values by 0.33% and more (95% CI, 0.12% to 0.54%; P=.004) and 0.22% more (95% CI, 0.00% to 0.44%; P=.04) (129). However, case management that included revision of roles like independent medication changes was associated with a reduction in HbA1c values of 0.80% (95% CI, 0.51% to 1.10%), compared with only 0.32% (95% CI, 0.14% to 0.49%) for all other interventions (P=.002 for this comparison)(129). In this review however, the remaining interventions in diabetes care produced only small to modest improvements in glycaemic control.

2.3 Background to the systematic review of interventions targeting primary care or community based professionals on glycaemic and cardiovascular risk factor control in people with diabetes

Despite the ready availability of evidence-based diabetes guidelines and continuing professional development programmes, the gap between evidence-based best practice and quality of care is widely recognized (130). Effective strategies (131-134) that promote the adoption of the best practice clinical guidelines for primary care management of diabetes therefore need examination. Continuing medical education is a commonly employed mechanism to improve primary care physicians' clinical practice (133).

Even though several publications and reviews have been published on interventions targeted at primary care professionals to improve outcomes, not many have been published in the field of diabetes. The only systematic review looking at just primary care professionals in the community settings was published in 2001 (135). It is therefore important to update and critically evaluate the evidence for these interventions in view of the global burden of the disease. If they are found to be ineffective, payers will need to explore the reasons and perhaps invest the limited resources elsewhere. On the other hand, if some interventions are found to be effective, best practice could be shared for implementation in various countries to equip primary care and community based staff with the skill and capacity to deal with this "left shift".

2.4 Aims and objectives

The aim of this systematic review was to evaluate randomised controlled trials on this topic. The studies outcomes evaluated were glycated haemoglobin (HbA1c), systolic blood pressure (SBP) and total and LDL-cholesterol.

2.5 Methods

2.5a Search strategies

A combination of text words and quality improvement Medical Subject Headings related to diabetes and the stated outcomes were used to search the MEDLINE database from inception up to 27th September 2015. All articles related to diabetes care from the Cochrane EPOC database and EMBASE, and scanned bibliographies from key articles were also retrieved. The detailed search terms are shown in Appendix 2.1. The review was registered on PROSPERO (registration number 2014013448) and is within the scope of the Centre for Reviews and Dissemination.

2.5b Study selection

The titles and abstracts of all retrieved articles were screened first. Two reviewers then screened the full text of papers selected. Any study on patients with type 1 or type 2 diabetes in primary care or community settings in which the intervention was either Clinician Education, Clinician Reminders, Team Changes, Case Management, Electronic Patient Registry, telemedicine, Audit and Feedback was included. Interventions targeting only patients (for example, structured patient education, self-management or patient reminders) were excluded as there is now good evidence on the effectiveness of these interventions on various health outcomes (136-140). These studies were however included if the interventions involved at least one component directed at clinician behaviour or organizational change. Multiple interventions or interventions that involved using the multidisciplinary team members, expansion of their roles or addition of other professionals such as pharmacists and nutritionists to the primary health care teams, were classified as multi-component interventions. Only studies looking at the cardiovascular risk factors HbA1c, SBP and total or LDL-cholesterol were included. Disagreements were resolved by consensus.

2.5c Data extraction

Data extraction was conducted using the Cochrane Group Data collection form for intervention reviews: RCTs only (version 3, April 2014), modified to meet the selection criteria by reducing the risk of bias. The information on the data collection forms included: author, year of publication, participants, location/setting, study design, interventions, outcomes reported and description of any other important sources of bias. The effects of the various interventions on the selected outcomes were considered in relation to the various health care professionals. Study results on HbA1c, cholesterol and blood pressure were classified as 'positive' if they were statistically significant or if the authors reported it so in the absence of inferential statistics. Because of heterogeneity due to large differences in clinical or methodological nature between the studies, it was decided a priori not to pool the data from the studies in a metaanalysis. Instead, a qualitative assessment of the effects was based on the quality of the studies using the Cochrane risk of bias tool. Important sources of bias were considered around the following domains: random sequence generation (selection bias), blinding of outcome assessment (detection bias), incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) and selective outcome reporting (reporting bias).

2.6 Results

A summary of the literature search results is shown in Fig. 2. The search of the computerized databases identified 2289 citations and another 10 citations after scanning bibliographies for key articles on the subject. After excluding duplicates and studies clearly not related to the objective of our review, 1760 articles were considered for screening and 157 articles were eligible for full-text review. Overall a total of 30 articles met the inclusion criteria for this review





2.6a Study characteristics and participants

Tables 1 and 2 show a summary of all the studies included. The studies included 13 randomized controlled trials (141-152)and 17 cluster randomized controlled trials (153-169). In five studies the interventions were carried out on the whole diabetes population; in the remaining 25 studies only people with type 2 diabetes were included. Ten studies were conducted in the USA (142, 144, 146, 150, 154, 157, 159, 160, 164, 166), four in the UK (147, 149, 153, 162), four in Australia, (141, 155, 167, 169), three in Denmark (145, 161, 163), two in the Netherlands (111, 143) and one each in Spain (156), Ireland (158), Belgium (170), American Samoa (143), Taiwan (152) and Israel (165). All the studies were published between 2003 and 2014.

Across all the studies a total of 39,439 patients were randomised and followed up for a mean duration of 16.7 months, ranging from 6 to 72 months. Nine of the studies focused on general practitioners or family practitioners (154-158, 160-162, 170). Of these, 3 studies considered some form of feedback as an intervention; either as electronic feedback (161), feedback benchmarked against other centres (170) and customised simulated patient with feedbacks (159). A further four of the studies targeting general practitioners considered education (154, 155, 158, 162) and the remaining 2 studies included telemedicine interventions (156, 157).

Three studies focused on interventions aimed at practice nurses; one of which was face to face review of glucose levels, blood pressure and lipid profile according to a specified protocol (111)another used telephone reminders (167) and in the third, practice nurses were offered a Self-determination theory – based course including communication training (145). Five studies included interventions aimed at pharmacists (141, 144, 146, 149, 169) who provided enhanced care to patients such counselling, advising, diabetes education, using applied algorithms for managing glucose control and decreasing cardiovascular risk factors, and addressing barriers to care. Only one study examined the role of dietician on diabetes

44

self-management education (152). Another considered the community health worker's role in providing culturally tailored assistance with self-management and education (151). One study (154) had two intervention arms; a chronic care model intervention which fits our definition of a multi-faceted intervention, and healthcare professional education intervention.

Twelve studies satisfied the definition of multicomponent interventions or targeted multi-disciplinary teams. (142, 143, 147, 148, 150, 153, 154, 158, 163, 165, 166, 171). These multi-faceted interventions ranged from multiple component interventions such as electronic coaching, staff training, algorithm driven care, reminders, alerts and audits, all in different combinations to the targeting of multi-disciplinary teams, such as nurse case managers, diabetes specialist nurses, general practitioners, community pharmacists, community health workers and dieticians.

Table 1:Cluster Randomised Trials

Interventions targeting General Practitioners/Primary Health Physicians

Author	Year	Patient population	Number of patients	Interventions	Outcome	Results
Piatt, G.A (154)	2006	Underserved urban Community- USA	89	Provider-based diabetes education offered to all providers via attendance at one problem based learning session.	HbA1c	0
		USA			SBP	0
					LDL-C	0
Reutens, A.T (155)	2012	Asia-Pacific region	386	Educational meetings, reminders, medical record summary sheets and patient result cards.	HbA1c	0
					SBP	0
					LDL-C	0
Saenz, A (156)	2012	Adult people with diabetes in Madrid-Spain	697	Computer application to help primary care professionals make decisions about the insulin handling of patients with diabetes.	HbA1c	+
					LDL-C	0
Smith SA (157)	2008	Mayo clinic USA	639	Specialist telemedicine intervention for improving diabetes care.	HbA1C	0
					SBP	0
					LDL-C	0
Sperl-Hillen, J.M (159)	2010	Adult patients with diabetes in Minnesota-USA	3417	Customised simulated cases with feedbacks	HbA1c	+
					SBP	0
					LDL-C	0
King AB (160)	2009	People with Diabetes in rural California-USA	135	Algorithm-directed care, midlevel practitioner-administered, electronically coached, treatment.	HbA1c	0
					SBP	0
					LDL-C	0

Guldberg, T.L (161)	2011	Adults with type 2 diabetes in Denmark.	2716	Electronic feedback system on type 2 diabetes population, giving them the option either to use the data during individual diabetes consultations or to gain an overview of the quality of their diabetes care and compare it with the corresponding quality in their colleagues' practices.	HbA1c	0
					LDL-C	0
Foy, R (162)	2011	People with Diabetes, Newcastle-UK	8690	Brief educational messages, typically of less than 30 words, added to the returned results of laboratory tests ordered by clinicians on patients with diabetes.	HbA1c	0
					SBP	0
					LDL-C	0

Systolic Blood Pressure (SBP), Total Cholesterol or LDL Cholesterol (LDL-C) 0= No statistically significant improvement, += statistically significant effect

Multifaceted Interventions

Author	Year	Patient population	Number o	f Interventions	Outcome	Results
Belary, S (153)	2008	Adult patients of south Asian origin with type 2 diabetes -UK	1486	Additional time with practice nurse and support from a link worker and diabetes- specialist nurse. Prescribing support from GP and training of nurses.	HbA1c	0
					SBP	0
					LDL-C	0
Olivarius, N. (163)	2008	Adult patients with Diabetes- Denmark	848	Regular follow up and individualised Goal setting supported by prompting of doctors, clinical guidelines, feedback, and continuing medical education.	HbA1c	+
					SBP	+
					LDL-C	+
Smith, SM (158)	2003	Adult patients with diabetes in North Dublin-Ireland	183	Pathway redesign, 3-monthly routine reviews, Professional education, referral	HbA1c	0
				· · ·	SBP	0
Peterson, KA (164)	2008	Adult patients with type 2 diabetes in Minnesota-USA	7101	Electronic diabetes registry, visit reminders, and patient-specific physician alerts. A site coordinator facilitated pre-visit planning and a monthly review of performance with a local physician champion.	HbA1c	+
					SBP	+
					LDL-C	+
Maislos, M (165)	2003	Adult patients with Diabetes-Israel	82	Interdisciplinary approach	Hba1c	+

O'Connor, PJ (166)	2005	Adult patients with type 2 diabetes. Minnesota USA.	754	Physician, a nurse, and other clinic staff interested in diabetes. Training of staff.	Hba1c	0
					SBP	0
					LDL-C	0
Piatt, GA (154)	2006	Underserved urban Community-USA	89	Chronic Care Model	HbA1c	+
					LDL-C	+

Systolic Blood Pressure (SBP), Total Cholesterol or LDL Cholesterol (LDL-C) 0= No statistically significant improvement, += statistically significant effect

Nurse Interventions

Author	Year	Patient population	Number patients	of	Interventions	Outcome	Results
Blackberry, I. (167)	2013	Adult patients with type 2 Diabetes-Australia	473		Use of nurse for telephone coaching	HbA1c	0
						SBP	0
						LDL-C	0
Juul, L. (168)	2014	Adult patients with type 2 diabetes in Denmark	4034		Intervention practices were offered a 16-hour Self-determination theory – based course including communication training for general practice nurses delivered over 10 months.	HbA1c	0
						LDL-C	0

Systolic Blood Pressure (SBP), Total Cholesterol or LDL Cholesterol (LDL-C) 0= No statistically significant improvement, += statistically significant effect

Pharmacist Interventions

Author	Year	Patient population	Number	of	Interventions	Outcome	Results
			patients				
Krais, I (169)	2007	Adult patients with type 2	289		Pharmacists delivered a diabetes	HbA1c	+
		diabetes Australia			service to patients. They checked		
					adherence, interactions,		
					hypoglycaemia and lifestyle.		
						SBP	0
						LDL-C	0

Systolic Blood Pressure (SBP), Total Cholesterol or LDL Cholesterol (LDL-C) 0= No statistically significant improvement, += statistically significant effect

Table 2: Randomised Control Trials:

Multi-faceted intervention

Author	Year	Population	Number of patients	Interventions	Outcome	Results
Rothman, RL (147)	2005	Adult Patients with diabetes. USA	217	Pharmacists and care coordinator who provided diabetes education, algorithms for managing glucose and cardiovascular risk factors, and addressed barriers to care.	HbA1c	+
					SBP	+
					LDL-C	0
De Pue, JD (143)	2013	Participants with type 2 diabetes	268	Nurse-CHW team intervention.	HbA1c	+
		from a community health centre in American Samoa.		Staff was hired early to help conduct formative focus groups and to develop the intervention	SBP	0
Hiss, RG (148)		Adult patients	197	Nurse care manager with primary care physicians in patients with type 2 diabetes	HbA1c	+
		with type 2 diabetes. Detroit			SBP	0
					LDL-C	+
Cohen, LB (142)	2011	Adult males with type 2 diabetes.	99	Pharmacists, dieticians, nurses, and physical therapists provided educational and behavioural interventions	HbA1C	+
					SBP	+
					LDL-C	0
Shea, S (150)	2009	Adult patients with diabetes in New York-USA	1665	Telemedicine, consisting of a web-enabled computer with modem connection to an existing telephone line	HbA1c	+
					SBP	+
					LDC-L	+

Systolic Blood Pressure (SBP), Total Cholesterol or LDL Cholesterol (LDL-C) 0= No statistically significant improvement, += statistically significant effect, Community Health Worker (CHW)

Pharmacists Interventions

Author	Year	Patient population	Number patients	of	Interventions	Outcome	Results
Ali, M. (149)	2012	Adult patients with type2 diabetes in Bedfordshire UK	46		Use of pharmacist to provide education and counselling.	HbA1c	+
						SBP	+
						LDL-C	0
Clifford, RM (141)	2005	Adults with type 2 diabetes from the Fremantle Diabetes Study - Australia	180		Use of pharmacist for counselling and telephone coaching.	HbA1c	+
						SBP	+
Odegard, P.S (146)	2005	Adult patients with type 2 diabetes. USA.	77		Pharmacists made care plans and did weekly visits or telephone calls to facilitate diabetes management and adherence.	HbA1c	0
Doucette, WR. (144)	2009	Adults with type 2 diabetes who had completed at least 2 diabetes education sessions at a local diabetes education centre-USA	78		Discussing medications, clinical goals, and self-care activities with patients and recommending medication changes to physicians.	HbA1c	0
						SBP	0
						LDL-C	0

Systolic Blood Pressure (SBP), Total Cholesterol or LDL Cholesterol (LDL-C) 0= No statistically significant improvement, += statistically significant effect

			patients				
Spencer, MS (151)	2011	African American and Latino adult participants recruited from 2 health systems in Detroit, Michigan-USA.	183	Culturally tailored CHW assistance with self-management and education.	HbA1c	+	
					SBP	0	
					LDL-C	0	

Community Health Worker Interventions

Systolic Blood Pressure (SBP), Total Cholesterol or LDL Cholesterol (LDL-C) 0= No statistically significant improvement, += statistically significant effect, Community Health Worker (CHW).

Dietician Interventions

Author	Year	Patient population	Number patients	of	Interventions	Outcome		Results
Huang, MC (152)	2010	type 2 diabetes patients in primary	154		Dietician-led intervention on diabetic self-	HbA1C	0	
		care clinics in Taiwan			management education every 3 months			
					over 12 months.			
						SBP	+	

Systolic Blood Pressure (SBP), Total Cholesterol or LDL Cholesterol (LDL-C) 0= No statistically significant improvement, += statistically significant effect

Interventions targeting nurses

Author	Year	Patient population	Number patients	of	Interventions	Outcome		Results
Houwelling, ST (111)	2010	Patients with type 2 diabetes from north-east region of The Netherlands	230		Glucose levels, blood pressure and lipid profile according to a specified protocol	HbA1c	0	
						SBP	0	
						LDL-C	0	

Systolic Blood Pressure (SBP), Total Cholesterol or LDL Cholesterol (LDL-C) 0= No statistically significant improvement, += statistically significant effect

Interventions targeting General Practitioners/Primary Health Physicians

Author	Year	Patient population	Number patients	of	Interventions	Outcome		Results
Hermans, M (170)	2011	Adult patients with type 2 diabetes in six European countries.	3996		Feedback benchmarked against other centres	HbA1c	0	
						SBP	+	
						LDL-C	0	

Systolic Blood Pressure (SBP), Total Cholesterol or LDL Cholesterol (LDL-C) 0= No statistically significant improvement effect, += statistically significance

2.6b Study quality

Each of the studies had identifiable methodological limitations (Table 3). Even though all the studies included were either cluster randomised trials or randomised control trials, in 20 of them the description of allocation concealment was either not done or was not reported (141-144, 146, 148, 150, 151, 154-156, 158-160, 163, 165-167, 169, 171). These 20 studies did not necessarily consistently show a positive result. Some of them showed significant improvements from baseline while others did not. Since blinding to intervention of the participants in the intervention groups is not possible, the trials were appraised based on whether researchers evaluating the outcomes were blinded to the intervention to minimize detection bias. Only four of the trials adequately described a blinded evaluation process (150, 157, 158, 167). Again, the presence of adequate description of blinding at the evaluation process did not necessarily predict an improvement of the outcomes from baseline as only one study out the four showed a reduction in HbA1c and SBP from baseline (150). There was a wide range in the number of subjects in each study (Table 1); lowest number being 46 (149) and largest 8690 (162). Smaller studies are usually likely to be underpowered to detect statistically significant effects. However, in our review there was no suggestion that studies with relatively large number of subjects necessarily produced improvements in the risk factors any more than those with small number of subjects. Out of the six studies with less than hundred subjects (142, 144, 149, 154, 165), four (66.7%) had at least one statistically significant reduction from baseline in the risk factors considered (142, 149, 154, 165). Out of the sixteen studies with subjects from 100 to 1000(111, 141, 143, 147, 148, 151, 152, 155-158, 160, 163, 166, 167, 169) nine (56.3%) of them showed at least one statistically significant reduction in risk factor control from baseline (141, 143, 147, 148, 151, 152, 156, 163, 169). In addition, out of the eight studies with more than one thousand subjects, (150, 153, 159, 161, 162, 164, 168, 170), four (50%) had at least one statistically significant reduction in the outcomes from baseline (150, 159, 164, 170).

Study	Blinding at evaluation	Standardised reporting of outcomes.	Allocation described	concealment	Duration (Months)	
De Pue, JD	Not reported	Yes	unclear		12	Table 9. Charles an alter successful a state
Doucette ,W.R.	Not reported	Not reported	unclear		12	Table 3: Study quality properties of tria
Foy, R	Not reported	No reported	Yes		34	
Guldberg, T.L.	Not reported	Not reported	yes		15	
Hermans, M	Not reported	No	yes		12	
Hiss, RG	Not reported	Yes	unclear		6	
Houwelling, ST	Not reported	Yes	yes		14	
Huang, MC	Not reported	Yes	yes		12	
Cohen LB	Not reported	Not reported	unclear		6	
Clifford, RM	Not reported	Not reported	unclear		12	
Blackberry, I	YES	Not reported	yes		18	
Ali,M.	Not reported	Yes	yes		12	
King, AB	Not reported	not reported	unclear		12	
Kras I	Not reported	not reported	unclear		6	
O'Connor, PJ	Not reported	No	unclear		18	
Maislos, M	Not reported	not reported	unclear		6	
Odegard, P.S	Not reported	Yes	unclear		6	
Peterson, KA	Not reported	Yes	unclear		12	
Piatt, G.A.	Not reported	Yes	unclear		12	
Piatt, G.A.	Not reported	Yes	unclear		12	
Reutens, A.T	Not reported	Yes	No		6	
Rothman, RL	Not reported	Yes	yes		12	
Saenz, A	Not reported	Not reported	unclear		18	
Shea, S	YES	Yes	unclear		60	
Smith S	YES	Yes	unclear		18	
Smith, SA	YES	Not reported	yes		21	
Spencer, M.S	Not reported	Not reported	unclear		6	
Sperl-Hillen, J.M.	Not reported	Not reported	unclear		12	
Belary, S.	Not reported	Not reported	No		24	
Olivarius, N	Not reported	Yes	unclear		72	
Juul, L	Not reported	Not reported	yes		18	

2.6c Outcome effects based on the type of intervention

The detailed findings from each study were examined according to the primary care professionals targeted, the intervention methods used and the type of outcomes measured. A summary of these findings is shown in Tables 1 and 2.

Educational interventions even when they were coupled with clinician reminders did not seem to have a positive impact on the HbA1c, systolic blood pressure and lipid profiles (145, 154, 155, 158, 162).

The use of telemedicine showed mixed results; when used with a nurse case-manager, there were improvements in HbA1c, LDL-cholesterol and systolic blood pressure levels compared with controls (150). However, when this intervention was directed at family practitioners with specialist advice and evidence-based messages regarding medication management for cardiovascular risk, there was no improvement in HbA1c, systolic blood pressure and LDL-cholesterol (157).

Clinician reminders in the form of a computer application to help primary care professionals make decisions about the glucose lowering therapy in diabetes patients produced significant improvements in HbA1c levels when compared to controls. (156).However algorithm-directed care and electronically coached treatment did not lead to improvements in HbA1c, systolic blood pressure or LDL-cholesterol (160)

The use of feedback to primary care professionals had a significant impact on reduction in HbA1c when it was given after a customised simulated patient interaction (159)but not when it was given after performance was benchmarked against other centres (170), even though systolic blood pressure improved. No improvement in HbA1c or cholesterol was noted compared to control when feedback was given electronically (161)

2.6d Effects based on primary care professional groups

Targeting general or family physicians was largely ineffective in improving the cardiovascular risk factors considered (154, 155, 157, 160-162, 170), except when using a computer application on insulin handling of type 2 diabetes or customised simulated cases with feedbacks (156, 159). Similarly, interventions targeting nurses did not improve outcomes compared to standard care (111, 145, 167).

The use of pharmacists produced mixed results in terms of improving the outcomes in the intervention groups. HbA1c improvement was not achieved in the intervention group by pharmacists discussing medications, clinical goals, and self-care activities with patients and recommending medication changes to physicians when appropriate (144). The use of clinical pharmacists to establish and initiate a diabetes care plan followed by weekly visits or telephone calls to facilitate diabetes management and adherence also did not lead to improvements in HbA1c control (146). However, the use of clinical pharmacists for counselling, patient education and telephone coaching as well as management and regular reviews to support self-monitoring of blood glucose, adherence support, and reminders of checks for diabetes complications led to improvements in HbA1c (141, 149, 169). The use of a clinical pharmacist to provide education and counselling to patients also showed mixed results; improvements in systolic blood pressure was noted when compared to controls in 2 studies(141, 149) although 2 other studies showed no improvements in blood pressure (144, 169). In terms of improvement in cholesterol from baseline, when compared to controls, pharmacist interventions have largely not been successful (144, 149, 169).

The use of a registered dietician to provide on-site diabetic selfmanagement education every 3 months over 12 months failed to lead to improvements in HbA1c(152).

Using community health workers to provide a culturally tailored assistance with self-management and education led to reductions in HbA1C but not systolic blood pressure or lipids (143, 151).

2.6e Multi-component interventions and Multi-disciplinary organisational changes

Eight of the twelve studies that considered multi-disciplinary organisational changes mixed with various interventions reported

improvements in HbA1c (142, 143, 147, 148, 154, 163-165). These included clinically significant reductions of 1.8% (172), 0.8% (147), 0.6% (154), and 0.53% (143) from baseline. The improvements in systolic blood pressure from baseline when compared to control groups were however inconclusive; four studies reporting improvements in systolic blood pressure (142, 147, 163, 171)and another three failing to show any improvements (143, 148, 154). Similarly, improvements in lipids were also inconclusive; five studies (142, 147, 153, 163, 166)showing no effect and another three showing an improvement (148, 154, 164).

2.7 Discussion

Multi-component interventions generally appear to lead to statistically and clinically significant improvements in HbA1c in people with diabetes as opposed to mono-component interventions. This finding was typified by the one study that compared a multi-faceted intervention (Chronic Care Model) and professional education to standard care (154). Both the professional education and standard care interventions did not show improvements in HbA1c; however, the multifaceted interventions showed a marked decline in HbA1c. Practitioner education even when combined with reminders did not demonstrate a significant improvement in the levels of HbA1c, blood pressure and LDL-cholesterol from baseline. This finding is consistent with earlier publications on this subject (173). The lack of efficacy of general practitioner education has been attributed to the fact that the generalists tend to consider factors such as the diabetes management costs, insufficient time, lack of financial incentives and patient refusal of insulin as barriers to effective control of diabetes (155).

Similarly, the use of other mono-component interventions like feedback, clinical reminders, and telemedicine alone have not consistently led to improvements in the HbA1c, SBP and total or LDL-cholesterol possibly because they are delivered in isolation without much organisational support to enhance patient-provider interactions. Studies in which these mono-component interventions have yielded some improvements in cardiovascular risk factors had other components of the multi-faceted
interventions like the use of case managers trained in diabetes management (150). Even the Quality and Outcomes Framework in the UK which is one of the world's largest pay-for-performance schemes, rewarding general practitioners for the quality of care they provide, only had limited impact on improving health outcomes (174, 175). The coupling of customised patient specific feedback bench-marked against the performance of other clinicians and financial incentives led to improvements in outcomes (159). The organisation of care as a whole delivery system design with the revision of roles of primary care professionals, aided with decision support, and information technology and other community linkages should be done in a structured manner in order to improve outcomes. Improving the cooperation between various primary care professionals is likely to be effective if each team member works to achieve improvements in similar outcomes. Previous studies have reported that interactive education, audit and feedback, reminders, academic detailing and other outreach visits were the most effective in changing physician care and patient outcomes (131, 176, 177), whereas simple distribution of clinical practice guidelines and use of opinion leaders were less effective (176).

Since consistency in association of improved cardiovascular risks and the types of primary care professionals used at the forefront of diabetes care was found, the use of practice nurses, pharmacists, dieticians or general practitioners could all be considered in various settings provided the organisation and delivery of diabetes care is done in structured manner. In areas where there are more nurses than other primary care professionals it will be better to use them as case managers aided by telemedicine (150). When community pharmacists have to be used, it is better to combine their educational updates with regular patient reviews counselling of patients on self-monitoring of blood glucose, adherence support, and reminders of checks for diabetes complications (141, 149, 169). Interventions targeting patients have not been considered in this review, as there is ample evidence on the effectiveness of these interventions on various health

outcomes. It is therefore reasonable to consider advocating patient targeted interventions in combination with the multi-faceted health care professional interventions in order to maximise improvements in outcomes.

2.7a Strengths and Limitations

This is the first attempt to consider both primary care and communitybased interventions in a systematic review on diabetes patients. A large number of studies from multiple databases were identified. The quality of the studies included was appraised in a systematic manner.

Several factors may affect the study outcomes thus limiting applicability of the findings in clinical practice. Firstly, the rigor and quality of the various interventions are questionable. Like most complex interventions, the chances of practitioners consulting with colleagues and networking and thus increasing the risk of contamination in the standard care groups can occur.

Secondly, even though an attempt was made to get a homogenous number of studies for this review with clear inclusion and exclusion criteria in terms of the study types and outcomes, there were still wide variations in the population of patients and target health care professions. Even the interventions studied varied widely in terms of duration, delivery methods and care systems. This could affect the generalisability of the review.

Thirdly the review was limited by the quality of the studies included. Inadequate information about concealment of allocation, lack of standardised reporting of the outcomes, inadequate information on blinding at outcome evaluation and wide differences in length of follow ups are markers of poor qualities in the studies.

Also, it is possible that if the patient targeted interventions were considered in this review, the generally negative results seen in the monocomponent health care professional interventions would have been positive. This is because the lack of statistically significant improvements in the risk factors could be as a result of lack of engagement from patients. Lastly, the literature search did not identify any unpublished studies, thus raising the possibility of publication bias in some of the studies that reported improvements in outcomes.

2.7b Implication for practice

There was a lack of good quality evidence of cardiovascular risk factor improvement when mono-component interventions were targeted at primary care or community based professionals, irrespective of their roles. When planning diabetes implementation programmes in primary care settings, it is therefore important to avoid using single stand-alone methods like healthcare professional education, telemedicine, clinician reminders and audits. This approach can be expensive to deliver and may not yield the desired outcomes. Instead a collaborative approach, involving the use of multifaceted interventions targeting various professionals in a structured fashion should be considered in all cases. This systematic review shows that a complex structure will yield improvements in outcomes when customised to the needs of local populations. For example, in the primary care setting the use of pharmacists in areas where this resource abounds can yield improvements in diabetes intermediate outcomes provided this is done in a structured collaborative manner.

2.8 Conclusion

This systematic review on interventions targeting primary care or community based professionals on diabetes and other cardiovascular risk factor control has not shown consistency for single stranded interventions on the healthcare professionals. Multi-disciplinary team collaborations mixed with various interventions reported some consistency in improvements in HbA1c. The impact of this on systolic blood pressure reduction and cholesterol reduction has however not been consistently positive. As alluded to in the chapter one, the extent of this HbA1c reduction in people with type 2 diabetes has been of some considerable debate over the past couple decades. Also, despite the major reductions in cardiovascular outcomes seen in patients receiving tight control of blood pressure compared with those receiving conventional control if the base line blood pressure was high (79, 80) there is still some doubt on the benefits of tight control of systolic BP among patients with diabetes and coronary artery (81). An increased mortality in intensively treated newly diagnosed people with diabetes has been noted and therefore caution in lowering blood pressure too aggressively is recommended in these patients (82). Even in the case of cholesterol reduction where there is overwhelming evidence on the reduction in CVD events (major coronary events, coronary revascularisation and ischaemic stroke) (83) among patients at increased diabetes risk, (those with baseline evidence of impaired fasting glucose, metabolic syndrome, severe obesity, and elevated HbA1c) the risk of development of diabetes among statin-treated patients appears to be raised. However, the overall cardiovascular and mortality benefits of statin therapy exceed the risk for developing diabetes (84). Nevertheless, this finding introduces another complexity in cardiovascular risk management in diabetes in the primary care setting. In the next chapter, the impact intensive glycaemic control alone or as part of a multifactorial cardiovascular risk reduction on cardiovascular and mortality outcomes will be considered in more detail

Chapter 3

Effects of glucose lowering and multifactorial interventions on cardiovascular and mortality outcomes - A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised control trials.

3.1 Synopsis of chapter 3

The effect of intensive glycaemic control alone or as part of a multifactorial intervention on cardiovascular and mortality outcomes is not fully understood. Also, the interaction of duration of diabetes on cardiovascular and mortality outcomes is unclear.

The aim of this chapter was to quantify the effect of intensive treatment (intensive glucose lowering either alone or as part of a multifactorial intervention) on mortality and vascular outcomes. Also, the association between the treatment effect and the trial-level characteristics was investigated.

Searches on Medline, Embase and the Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials without language restrictions from inception to May 13th 2015 were conducted. Randomised controlled trials that evaluated intensive treatment in adult patients with type 2 diabetes were included. Using random effects meta-analysis, rates were pooled across studies and study-level covariate associations were investigated using Bayesian metaregression.

A total of 19 RCTs (n=84,460) were included. Intensive treatment reduced the risk of non-fatal MI (RR 0.90, 95% CI 0.83 to 0.96) while multi-factorial interventions alone reduced non-fatal strokes (RR 0.53, 95% CI 0.32 to 0.0.87). The effect of intensive treatment on cardiovascular and mortality outcomes was not associated with age, duration of diabetes and gender. Intensive treatment reduced CVD mortality in populations where the average 10-year CVD risk is greater than 6.3%.

In conclusion, part from non-fatal MIs, intensive treatment did not change the risk of cardiovascular and mortality outcomes. It is likely to be beneficial in populations with a higher baseline incidence of CV mortality. Multi-factorial interventions resulted in significant reductions in non-fatal strokes.

3.2 Background to meta-analysis of randomised control trials Effects of glucose lowering and multifactorial interventions on cardiovascular and mortality outcomes

Following the results of recent major trials; Action to Control Cardiovascular Risk in Diabetes (ACCORD) (56), Action in Diabetes and Vascular Disease—Preterax and Diamicron Modified Release Controlled Evaluation (ADVANCE) (57) and Veterans Affairs Diabetes Trial (VADT) (55) and recent meta-analyses (178, 179) intensive glucose-lowering therapy has been shown not to decrease risks for major CV events or mortality in patients with long duration of type 2 diabetes. Various national and international guidelines have responded to these results by suggesting that less intensive glycaemic control is appropriate for certain patient groups including those with history of advanced micro-vascular and macro-vascular complications, long duration of diabetes and severe hypoglycaemic events (180). However, another meta-analysis conducted by the investigators of the four main trials (UKPDS, ACCORD, ADVANCE and VADT) showed a 9% reduced cardiovascular risk, mainly driven by a 15% reduction in risk of myocardial infarction (181). A recent metaanalysis suggests a lack of uniformity of the effect of intensive therapy across the world with a possible potential harm (mortality) specific to North American trials but not trials from other regions of the world (182). In another recent meta-analysis, even though an increase in the risk of heart failure by the various glucose lowering agents or strategies was shown, there was no significant effect on cardiovascular and all-cause mortality, stroke, unstable angina, or coronary revascularisation (183).

The results of ACCORD, ADVANCE, and VADT do not apply to patients with newly diagnosed type 2 diabetes as evidence suggests such patients benefit from intensive glucose-lowering therapy (184). Multifactorial pharmacological interventions including blood pressure control and lipid lowering with glycaemic control in these patients have demonstrated a significant reduction on vascular complications, cardiovascular and allcause mortality (185). To date, there are no meta-analyses comparing the effects of intensive multi-factorial interventions with intensive glycaemic control on CV and mortality outcomes in patients with type 2 diabetes. The duration of diabetes is particularly of interest as it has been shown in recent analysis to be one of the two primary biological drivers linked to HbA1c in addition to age at diagnosis (186). In another report examining predictors of the effect of intensive glycaemic control on macro-vascular complications, people on intensive therapy showed a reduction in CV events if the duration of diabetes was 15 years or less but these events increased in those with longer duration (187). Despite these findings, a further exploration of this complex relationship between the duration of diabetes and impact of intensive glucose lowering or multifactorial interventions on macro-vascular complications, CV and all-cause mortalities is still required. This is because, people with long duration of diabetes are also likely to have other multi-morbidities and also be on more complex glucose lowering therapies that are less likely to be received. These could confound the impact of duration of diabetes on the outcomes. A subgroup analysis of the aforementioned meta-analysis suggested the possibility of a better effect for major cardiovascular events in participants without macrovascular disease compared to those with macrovascular disease (181). Therefore, it is also important to evaluate the effects of baseline population CV risk on these outcomes.

The aim of this systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials was to determine the effects of both glycaemic control and multifactorial interventions on vascular and mortality outcomes in patients with type 2 diabetes. A further aim was to explore the association

66

between treatment effect and study-level characteristics such as mean duration of diabetes since diagnosis, mean age, proportion of male patients across trials and the control group event rate which we used as a proxy for the baseline population risk of non-fatal MIs, non-fatal strokes, CV mortality and all-cause mortality.

3.3 Methods

3.3a Data sources and searches

Searches on Medline, Embase and the Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials (Central) without language restrictions were conducted from their inception to 14th May 2015. Articles searched included those not published yet, but in the process of publication and non-indexed citations. We used combination of subject headings: 'type 2 diabetes', 'diabetes mellitus', 'cardiovascular disease', 'coronary heart disease', 'stroke', 'peripheral vascular disease', 'hypoglycaemic agents', 'glucose control', 'glycaemic control', 'tight control', 'multifactorial' and 'risk factor lowering'. We also performed hand searches of the reference citations of identified reviews and original articles selected for the full text retrieval. The review was registered on PROSPERO (registration number 42014013860) and is within the scope of the Centre for Reviews and Dissemination.

3.3b Data extraction and quality assessment

Only randomised controlled trials in adults (\geq 18 years old) with type 2 diabetes of any duration (mean duration had to be specified) were included. The included trials had to be comparing intensive glucose lowering alone (including the pleotropic effects of the drugs being tested) or as part of a multifactorial intervention, to control groups (standard care, placebo, or glycaemic control of reduced intensity). Intensive glycaemic control was defined either by a specified HbA1c target (achieved through pharmacotherapy) or by purposeful treatment intensification algorithms.

Multifactorial interventions included studies on glycaemic control together with blood pressure control and lipid lowering. All studies had to have outcome data on at least one of 4 outcomes considered in the analysis. The following variables were extracted into a pre-formatted spread sheet: Author, name of study, year of publication, linked paper (the same papers were reported in different journals), journal, intensive glucose lowering or multifactorial intervention, cardiovascular outcomes, duration of type 2 diabetes, duration of follow up, randomisation, allocation concealment, double blinding, flow of patients, glycaemic target, mean age, percentage male, number randomised, number followed up and all-cause mortality. Of the Major Adverse Cardiovascular Events (MACE), we included only nonfatal MI, non-fatal stroke and CV mortality. Mortality and cardiovascular morbidity definitions were taken as described in the various articles. Generally, mortality events were classified as cardiovascular if the deaths occurred within 30 days after an MI or a stroke or invasive cardiovascular procedures. Data extraction and quality assessment based on the predefined criteria were carried out independently and in duplicate by two investigators. The Cochrane Collaboration's tool for assessing risk of bias was used for quality assessment. Two reviewers (SS and FA) working independently screened the titles and abstracts of all initially identified studies according to the selection criteria. Full texts were retrieved from studies that satisfied all selection criteria. The discrepancies were resolved by consensus and in consultation with a third reviewer (KK). The methodological quality of studies was assessed according to the Jadad score (188); a score of more than 3 given to double blind randomised placebo controlled trials, and 3 or less given to open randomised trials.

3.3c Statistical analysis

The number randomised, the reported number of events and the follow-up period in control and treatment arms of each study was used to calculate separate rate ratios (RR) for non-fatal MI, non-fatal stroke, CV mortality

and all-cause mortality. If the unadjusted hazard ratio (HR) or relative risk was available but the actual summary count data were not, this was used. Throughout the analysis, it was assumed that relative risks and HRs were equivalent and the logarithmic transformed rate ratios across studies were pooled using random effects meta-analysis to allow for heterogeneity between studies. One of the trials (ADDITION study) included in the analysis is a cluster-randomised trial. The effect of clustering in this trial was accounted for by inflating the variance of the treatment size from this trial by 1.09, the design effect reported for this study (189).

A subgroup analysis investigating whether or not the rate ratios in trials of multi-factorial intervention differed from rate ratios in trials of intensive glycaemic control alone was conducted.

An investigation was done on the association between the pooled treatment effect (i.e. the effect of intensive glucose lowering and multifactorial interventions on CV and mortality outcomes) and mean duration of type 2diabetes, mean age and % male using random effects meta-regression. It is known that Diabetes screening results in cases being identified on average 3.3 years earlier than when screening is not done prior to diagnosis (190). Therefore, duration was set at -3.3 years for studies of screen detected diabetes and 0 for newly diagnosed. For all the other studies, the stated mean duration of diabetes at recruitment was used. The association between the treatment effect and the 'control group risk' or 'baseline risk' (which was defined as the incidence rate (per 1000 person-years) in the control arm of each study was investigated. Adjusting for the control group risk accounted for: i) the fact that the control treatment varied across studies as stated above (i.e. control treatment could be standard care, placebo, or glycaemic control of reduced intensity) and ii) any known or unknown patient level characteristics/risk factors/variables that collectively determine disease severity and therefore a patient's response to treatment (191). Heterogeneity of outcomes was assessed and quantified using the I-squared statistic and the between-study variance parameter, tau-squared (τ^2). Publication bias was

assessed by visual inspection of funnel plots for evidence of asymmetry and the Egger's test (192). The random effects meta-analysis models were fitted in Stata (version 13.0, Texas, US). The meta-regression analyses were conducted in WinBUGS (193) which allows for degree of flexibility in incorporating the measurement error in the baseline risk covariate. Minimally informative prior distributions were specified for the WinBUGS models. The statistical analysis was conducted by FA.

3.4 Results

3.4a Study selection and characteristics

The selection process is outlined in the flow chart in Figure 3. Our search on Medline, Embase and the Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials (Central) and manual reviews of articles cited in the identified and related publications retrieved 5712 relevant articles. Of these, 5619 were excluded because they did not fulfil our criteria for inclusion. The full text of the remaining 93 articles were obtained and reviewed. Of these, 74 were excluded after the full text screening. Of these 74 articles, two did not consider pharmacotherapy or the multifactorial intervention referred to just included lifestyle and behavioural change. Another ten did not set out to consider treatment intensification or multi-factorial intervention, thirty-four articles had no CV or mortality outcomes, ten reported only micro-vascular complications, 12 were linked articles and six articles were duplicated (Figure 3).



Figure 3: Flow chart indicating the identification and selection of trials for inclusion in the metaanalysis

Т

Of the 19 studies (n=84,460) included, 16 examined non-fatal MI (n=79,595), 14 non-fatal stroke (n=78,568), 18 examined cardiovascular mortality (n=83,938) and 18 all-cause mortality (n=84,266). As with previous meta-analysis on this subject (178), the UGDP studies, using tolbutamide (194) and phenformin (195) were combined and UKPDS 33 (184) and 34 (196) studies were also combined. The latter UGDP (197) looking at the effect of intensive versus standard insulin therapy in people with diabetes was analysed separately. Only 4 studies, STENO-2 (185), Anglo-Danish-Dutch study of Intensive Treatment In people with screen detected diabetes in primary care (ADDITION) (189), PROFIT-J (198) and Rachmani et al (199) were included in the studies examining multifactorial interventions. The rest of the studies assessed only intensive glycaemic control. The selected trials are summarised in Table 4.

Table 4: Summary Characteristics of included studies

Study	Publication	Jadad	dad Standard Arm Intensive arm											
name / name of first author	Year	score	Glycaemic target	Intervention	Mean age (years)	% male	Mean duration of T2DM (years)	Mean / median duration of follow up (years)	Intervention	Glycaemic target	Mean age (years)	% male	Mean duration of T2DM (years)	Mean / median duration of follow- up (years)
UGDP	1976	4		Standard	52	29	0	10	Intensive		52	29	10	0
UGDP	1982	3		Standard	52	29	0	10	Intensive		52	29	10	0
VACS	1997	2		Standard	60	100	7.8	2.3	Intensive		60	100	2.3	7.8
UKPDS	1998	3	FPG<15	Standard	53.4	61.9	0	10.1	Intensive	FPG<6	53.2	59.4	10.1	0
PROactive	2004	5		Standard	61.6	65.6	9.6	2.8	Pioglitazone		61.9	66.6	2.8	9.4
Rachmani*	2005		9.6	Standard	56.8	47.1	6.3	7.1	Intensive	9.5	57.4	50.7	7.1	6.2
Dargie*	2007	5		Placebo	63.9	79.1	4	1	Intensive		64.3	84.3	1	4.5
ADVANCE	2008	3		Standard	66	47.7	8	5	Intensive	hBa1C<6.5%	66	47.4	5	7.9
ACCORD	2008	3	7.0-7.9%	Standard	62.2	61.6	10	3.5	Intensive	<6%	62.2	61.3	3.5	10
STENO-2	2008	3		Standard	55.2	70	6	13.3	Intensive		54.9	75	13.3	5.5
VADT	2009	3		Standard	60.3	97.1	11.7	5.6	Intensive	1.5% reduction in HbA1C	60.5	97.1	5.6	11.8
HOME	2009	4		Insulin / placebo	59	50	12	4.3	Insulin / metformin	64	41.3	4.3	14	0
RECORD	2009	2		Metformin / Sulfonylurea	58.5	51.8	7.1	5.5	Rosiglitazone	58.4	51.4	5.5	7	7.8
ADDITION	2011	4	HbA1c <7%	Placebo	60.2	57.3	-1	5.3	Intensive		60.3	58.5	5.3	-1
ORIGIN	2012	3		Standard	63.5	63.3	5.3	6.2	Glargine	FBS < 5.3	63.6	66.8	6.2	5.5
EXAMINE	2013	5	8	Standard	61	68	7.3	1.5	Intensive	8	61	67.7	1.5	7.1
SAVOR- TIMI 53	2013	5	8	Standard	65	67.3	10.3	2.1	Intensive	8	65.1	66.6	2.1	10.3
AleCardio	2013	5	7.8	Standard	61	72.5	8.6	2	Intensive	7.8	61	73.1	2	8.6
PROFIT-J	2014	2	7.43	Standard	68.9	66	11.5	1.85	Pioglitazone	7.43	69	63.2	1.85	11.1

3.4b Results of meta-analysis

The meta-analysis (Table 6 and Figure 4) indicated that compared to standard care, intensive glucose lowering and multi-factorial intervention reduced the risk of non-fatal MI (RR 0.89, 95% CI 0.83 to 0.96) but not nonfatal stroke (RR 0.96, 95% CI 0.86 to 1.07), CV mortality (RR 1.01, 95% CI 0.91 to 1.13) or all-cause mortality (RR 1.01, 95% CI 0.94 to 1.08). Results of subgroup analysis investigating whether or not the rate ratios in trials of multi-factorial intervention differed from rate ratios in trials of intensive glycaemic control alone are presented in Table 6 and as forest plots in Figures 5 to 8. Compared to standard care, multi-factorial interventions reduced non-fatal strokes (RR 0.53, 95% CI 0.32 to 0.87) but not non-fatal MI (RR 0.66, 95% CI 0.38 to 1.03), CV mortality (RR 0.72, 95% CI 0.46 to 1.14) or all-cause mortality (RR 0.82, 95% CI 0.64 to 1.05). When the analysis was restricted to trials of intensive glycaemic control alone, there was a smaller but significant reduction in non-fatal MI (RR 0.90, 95% CI 0.84 to 0.97) but there was no reduction in non-fatal stroke (RR 0.99, 95%) CI 0.89 to 1.10), CV mortality (RR 1.02, 95% CI 0.92 to 1.13) and all-cause mortality (RR 1.01, 95% CI 0.95 to 1.08).

Outcome	RR (95% confidence				
	All trials	Intensive glycaemic control alone	Multi-factorial intervention	P-value†	
Non-fatal MI	0.90 (0.83, 0.96)	0.90(0.84, 0.97)	0.65 (0.42, 1.03)	0.0816	
Non-fatal stroke	0.96 (0.86, 1.07)	0.99 (0.89, 1.10)	0.53 (0.32, 0.87)	0.0142**	
CVD mortality	1.00 (0.90, 1.10)	1.02 (0.92, 1.13)	0.72 (0.46, 1.13)	0.1508	
All-cause mortality	1.00 (0.94, 1.06)	1.01 (0.95, 1.08)	0.82 (0.65, 1.05)	0.1018	
PD - Disk ratio					

†=2-sided p-value testing that hypothesis that the risk ratio for intensive versus standard treatment is not different from the risk ratio for multi-factorial versus standard treatment. ** statistically significant result at the 5% significance level

 Table 5: Effect of intensive glucose lowering and multi-factorial interventions on cardiovascular

 and mortality outcomes in patients with type 2 diabetes: Random effects meta-analysis

Study	Intensive**	Standard**	RR (95% CI)	% Weight
Non-fatal MI UGDP UGDP UKPDS PROactive Rachmani* ACCORD ADVANCE STENO-2 HOME VADT ADDITION ORIGIN AleCardio EXAMINE SAVOR-TIMI 53 PROFIT-J Subtotal (I-squared	32/408 29/204 221/3071 119/2605 15/71 186/5128 153/5571 8/80 28/196 51/892 212/3616 187/2701 265/8280 5/234 = 0.0%, p = 0.58	20/205 30/210 101/1138 144/2633 19/70 235/5123 156/5569 21/80 25/194 66/899 239/3610 173/2679 278/8212 24/247 38)	0.80 (0.46, 1.41) 1.00 (0.60, 1.66) 0.81 (0.64, 1.03) 0.84 (0.66, 1.06) 0.78 (0.40, 1.53) 0.99 (0.65, 1.96) 0.98 (0.78, 1.23) 0.38 (0.17, 0.86) 1.11 (0.65, 1.90) 0.78 (0.54, 1.12) 0.70 (0.24, 2.05) 1.02 (0.59, 1.65) 1.02 (0.59, 1.76) 0.89 (0.74, 1.07) 1.07 (0.87, 1.32) 0.95 (0.80, 1.12) 0.95 (0.80, 1.22) 0.95 (0.80, 1.23) 0.95 (0.80, 1.23) 0.95 (0.80, 1.95) 1.32 (0.35, 4.91) 0.89 (0.83, 0.96)	1.63 1.95 9.18 8.63 1.11 13.75 10.23 0.77 1.75 3.81 0.44 1.72 14.88 11.90 17.97 0.29 100.00
Non-fatal strokes UKPDS PROactive Rachmani* ACCORD ADVANCE STENO-2 HOME VADT ADDITION ORIGIN AleCardio EXAMINE SAVOR-TIMI 53 PROFIT-J Subtotal (I-squared	120/3071 86/2605 8/71 67/5128 214/5571 6/80 9/196 22/892 49/3616 29/2701 157/8280 3/234 = 2.7%, p = 0.42	44/1138 107/2633 17/70 61/5123 209/569 18/80 9/194 32/899 50/3610 32/2679 14/18212 4/247 20)	1.01 (0.72, 1.43) 0.81 (0.61, 1.08) 0.46 (0.20, 1.08) 1.10 (0.78, 1.55) 1.02 (0.85, 1.24) 0.33 (0.13, 0.84) 0.99 (0.39, 2.49) 0.69 (0.40, 1.19) 0.98 (0.66, 1.45) 0.90 (0.51, 1.49) 0.90 (0.54, 1.49) 0.90 (0.88, 1.39) 0.79 (0.18, 3.54) 0.96 (0.87, 1.07)	8.78 12.79 1.53 8.71 26.67 1.27 1.27 3.63 0.92 3.56 6.81 4.23 19.36 0.48 100.00
CV mortality UGDP UGDP VACS UKPDS PROactive Rachmani* Dargie* ACCORD ADVANCE STENO-2 HOME RECORD VADT ADDITION ORIGIN ALECARDIO ADDITION ORIGIN ALECARDIO EXAMINE SAVOR-TIMI 53 Subtotal (I-squared i	53/408 31/204 3/75 301/3071 127/2605 5/71 5/710 135/5128 253/5571 9/80 3/196 60/2220 38/892 26/1678 580/6300 112/3616 89/2701 269/8280 = 43.5%, p = 0.0	10/205 32/210 3/78 126/1138 136/2633 8/70 4/114 94/5123 289/5569 19/80 19/80 19/80 11/194 71/2227 29/899 22/1379 576/6312 98/3610 111/2679 260/8212 20/8212	2.66 (1.35, 5.23) 1.00 (0.61, 1.63) 1.04 (0.21, 5.15) 0.89 (0.72, 1.09) 0.94 (0.74, 1.20) 0.62 (0.20, 1.88) 1.30 (0.35, 4.82) 1.43 (1.10, 1.87) 0.88 (0.74, 1.04) 0.47 (0.21, 1.05) 2.97 (0.31, 28, 55) 0.85 (0.60, 1.20) 1.32 (0.81, 2.14) 0.97 (0.54, 1.76) 1.01 (0.90, 1.13) 1.14 (0.87, 1.22) 1.00 (0.90, 1.11)	2.02 3.43 0.40 9.99 8.72 0.80 0.58 8.00 11.63 1.52 0.20 5.83 3.55 2.53 13.99 7.75 7.51 11.56 100.00
All-cause mortality UGDP UGDP UKPDS PROactive Rachmani* Dargie* ACCORD ADVANCE STENO-2 HOME RECORD VADT ADDITION ORIGIN AleCardio EXAMINE SAVOR-TIMI 53 PROFIT-J Subtotal (I-squared in NOTE: Weights are 1	64/408 91/204 539/3071 177/2605 9/71 8/110 257/5128 498/5571 24/80 9/196 136/2220 102/892 104/1678 951/6300 148/3616 153/2701 420/8280 1/234 = 25.3%, p = 0.1 from random eff	21/205 94/210 213/1138 186/2633 12/70 5/114 203/5123 533/5569 40/80 6/194 157/2227 95/899 92/1379 965/6312 138/2679 378/8212 2/247 158) ects analysis	1.53 (0.94, 2.51) 1.00 (0.75, 1.33) 0.94 (0.80, 1.10) 0.96 (0.78, 1.18) 0.74 (0.31, 1.75) 1.66 (0.54, 5.07) 1.26 (1.05, 1.52) 0.93 (0.83, 1.06) 0.60 (0.36, 1.02) 1.48 (0.53, 4.17) 0.87 (0.69, 1.09) 1.08 (0.82, 1.43) 0.99 (0.90, 1.25) 0.99 (0.90, 1.25) 0.93 (0.05, 5.82) 1.00 (0.94, 1.06)	$\begin{array}{c} 1.52\\ 3.99\\ 9.73\\ 6.82\\ 0.51\\ 0.31\\ 8.00\\ 13.06\\ 1.44\\ 0.36\\ 5.78\\ 4.20\\ 3.88\\ 16.96\\ 5.69\\ 6.28\\ 11.39\\ 0.07\\ 100.00\\ \end{array}$
			0.3 0.5 1.0 1.8 3.0	





Figure 5: Subgroup analysis investigating the effectiveness of intensive glycaemic control alone or multifactorial intervention to reduce non-fatal myocardial infarction in people with type 2 diabetes. The comparator is standard care



Figure 6: Subgroup analysis investigating the effectiveness of intensive glycaemic control alone or multifactorial intervention to reduce CV mortality in people with type 2 diabetes. The comparator is standard care



All-cause mortality

Figure 7: Subgroup analysis investigating the effectiveness of intensive glycaemic control alone or multifactorial intervention to reduce all-cause mortality in people with type 2 diabetes. The comparator is standard care



Figure 8: Subgroup analysis investigating the effectiveness of intensive glycaemic control alone or multifactorial intervention to reduce non-fatal stroke in people with type 2 diabetes. The comparator is standard care

3.4c Results of meta-regression

There was no evidence to suggest that the effect of intensive glucose treatment on CV and mortality outcomes was associated with mean age, mean duration of type 2 diabetes and gender (as the percentage of male participants in each study) (Table 7). There was no evidence indicating that rate ratios for non-fatal MI and non-fatal stroke were associated with the underlying risk of non-fatal MI, non-fatal stroke and all-cause mortality but there was evidence to suggest that risk ratios varied with the control group CV mortality rate (interaction term/ratio of hazard ratio= 0.81, 95% credible interval (CrI) 0.65 to 0.99). Figure 9 shows a plot of the risk ratios for MI, stroke and the mortality outcomes against each outcomes' control group event rate. The plots for non-fatal MI and non-fatal Strokes are flat

and almost parallel to the horizontal axis but the plots for the mortality outcomes indicate an increased benefit of intensive treatment in populations with higher baseline incidence of cardiovascular and all-cause mortality.



Figure 9: Association between the effect of intensive glucose lowering on cardiovascular and mortality outcomes and baseline incidence of disease.

Solid lines indicate predicted mean risk ratio. Shaded regions indicate predicted 95% credible intervals. The dotted lines indicate control group rate at which the risk ratio changes from favouring standard glycaemic control to favouring intensive glycaemic control.

The circles indicate the observed risk ratio and the error bars indicate 95% confidence intervals. The size of the circles is proportional to the study's weight in the random effects meta-analysis (i.e. inverse of the variance of study-specific estimate plus estimated between-study variance).

Study/population level characteristics	Interaction terms (95% credible intervals in brackets) for the association between study-level characteristics and the effect of intensive glucose lowering on cardiovascular and mortality outcomes in patients with type 2 diabetes							
	Non-fatal MI	Non-fatal strokes	CV Mortality	All-cause mortality				
Mean Age (years)	1.015 (0.994, 1.037)	1.022 (0.989, 1.064)	0.999 (0.968, 1.030)	1.004 (0.969, 1.030)				
% Male	0.797 (0.416, 1.547)	0.595 (0.202, 1.705)	0.968 (0.380, 2.157)	1.046 (0.579, 1.737)				
Control group event rate	1.001 (0.979, 1.039)	0.999 (0.859, 1.021)	0.805 (0.653, 0.989)	0.860 (0.721,1.029)				
T2DM duration (Years)	1.005 (0.982, 1.031)	1.001 (0.961, 1.044)	1.008 (0.974, 1.039)	1.010 (0.991, 1.028)				

^Interaction terms are ratio of hazard ratios and are interpreted as the percentage change in hazard/risk ratio per unit change in covariate (for example the interaction term for the effect of duration on non-fatal MI indicates a 0.2% increase in the risk ratio for every year that a person lives with diabetes).

Table 6: Association between the effect of intensive glucose treatment on cardiovascular and mortality outcomes and the study-level characteristics mean age, mean duration of type 2 diabetes, control group event rate and proportion of study participants for are male

3.4d Assessment of Heterogeneity and publication bias

Heterogeneity in the treatment effect was assessed to be low for non-fatal MI ($I^2=0.0\%$, p=0.588) and non-fatal stroke ($I^2=2.7\%$, p=0.420) but moderate to high for CV mortality ($I^2=43.5\%$, p=0.026) and all-cause mortality ($I^2=25.3\%$, p=0.158) as indicated in Figure 9. Visual inspection of the funnel plots displayed in Figure 10 does not appear to show marked evidence of asymmetry for all 4 outcomes. The Egger test for publication bias which was not statistically significant (for non-fatal MI, Eggers test t=-0.93, p=0.369; for non-fatal stroke, Eggers test t= 1.63, p=0.128; for CV mortality, Eggers test t=-0.57, p=0.577 and for all-cause mortality, Eggers test t= -0.16, p=0.878).



Figure 10: Funnel plots of standard error of risk ratio (SE (RR)) versus risk ratio (RR) on the log scale for non-fatal MI, non-fatal stroke, CV mortality and all-cause mortality.

The dotted lines represent pseudo 95% confidence intervals.

3.5 Discussion

3.5a Summary of findings

In this systematic review and meta-analysis of well conducted randomised controlled trials, a comparison of the effect of intensive glucose control and multifactorial interventions versus standard glucose lowering on major cardiovascular and mortality outcomes in patients with type 2 diabetes was conducted. The association between the treatment effect with 4 study-level characteristics: i) the mean age, ii) the mean duration of type 2 diabetes, iii) the % male and iv) the control group event rate was investigated. The primary analysis showed mixed results –evidence suggesting that intensive treatment reduced the risk of non-fatal MI but

not non-fatal stroke, CVD mortality or all-cause mortality was found. This finding is not dissimilar to other meta-analysis on this topic (178).

The results of the additional analysis were also equally mixed with respect to the covariate associations that were investigated. Firstly, there was evidence suggesting that intensive glucose lowering becomes increasingly effective at reducing mortality outcomes with increasing disease severity (as measured by the control group event rate). A similar finding has been reported before in the post-hoc analysis of ACCORD (200). The strength of the association is especially strong for CVD mortality. The predictions indicated that, intensive glucose lowering is more likely to be beneficial in populations where the baseline incidence of CVD mortality is greater than 6.3 deaths per 1000 person-years. Assuming that the risk of CVD remains constant over a 10-year period, this should translate into a 10-year CVD risk of 6.3%. Control group event rate or baseline risk have traditionally been used as a study-level 'proxy' covariate for measured and unmeasured patient level characteristics that collectively determine how a patient responds to treatment (201) As such, the control group rate may be taken as a measure of disease severity. The clinical implications of this finding is that if in severe disease we are able to reduce HbA1c to target through intensive treatment, there are likely to be benefits in terms of reductions in cardiovascular outcomes.

Secondly, there was no evidence of an association between the treatment effect and the mean duration of type 2 diabetes, which appears at first (at least on face-value) to be contrary to current clinical guidelines and understanding of the impact of intensive glucose lowering (180, 187, 202). Because the duration of diabetes (i.e. how long an individual has diabetes) is individual covariate, we believe a potentially more robust analysis than the one reported here would require individual patient data (IPD) to allow for realistic modelling of patient level association between covariate and health outcomes. Factors such as background event rate, multi-morbidities and complex glucose lowering therapies could also be considered in this more detailed IPD meta-analysis. In a prospective cohort study of older

83

men using IPD, increasing duration of diabetes was found to predict stable increases in all-cause and MI-related mortality and an even higher risk of stroke mortality (202). With long duration, there may be other factors (which have not been explored in this analysis) such as increased hypoglycaemia rates, which could account for the increased mortality in intensive treatment (203). For instance, the UKPDS analyses using homeostatic model assessment (HOMA) of insulin sensitivity and beta-cell function demonstrated an annual steady decline in beta cell function of 4% (204). As a result of this, patients with longer duration of diabetes are more likely to be on more intensive treatment regimens including insulin therapy and a combination of other glucose lowering agents, which increase the risk of hypoglycaemia. It has been shown that there is some statistical colinearity between diabetes duration and insulin therapy (186)

The benefits from multifactorial intervention seem to be more pronounced with the reduction in non-fatal stroke in this group being 47%. Also, even though there were no statistically significant benefits in the reductions in mortality in both intensive glycaemic control and multifactorial interventions, there were trends towards a reduction in event rates of CV mortality and all-cause mortality in the multi-factorial intervention subgroups. On the contrary, there was a trend towards an increase in mortality in both CV and all-cause mortality in patients in which only intensive glycaemic control alone were used. The clinical implication of this finding could be that in the setting of uncertain risks or beneficial effects of intensively controlling blood glucose in some patients, focusing more broadly on multifactorial interventions including blood pressure and lipid control may be preferable. In an analysis using Mendelian Randomisation, even though Single Nucleotide Polymorphisms associated with HbA1c were associated with an increased risk of coronary artery disease that the effect was attenuated after adjustments were made for dyslipidaemia, blood pressure and weight (205).

3.5b Study strengths and limitations

This meta-analysis used 19 studies (n=84,460), making it more powered and robust for conclusions to be drawn. Previous analyses on this topic (178, 179, 181-183) did not include as many participants as ours and did not look at multi-factorial interventions, thus giving our study a unique perspective on this area. Adjusting for the control group risk allowed us to account for the variations in the control group treatment and any known or unknown patient level characteristics that could collectively determine disease severity and therefore a patient's response to treatment.

The main limitation of our study is the fact that we limited intensive glycaemic control to only pharmacotherapy. Treatment intensification can also be achieved with changes in diet and bariatric surgery for example. Also multifactorial interventions go beyond lipid, blood pressure and glycaemic control. Studies looking at other very relevant contributors to cardiovascular outcomes like medication adherence, smoking, patient education and physical activities were not included. We acknowledge that the number of trials of multifactorial interventions alone (four trials) is relatively small to allow robust conclusions to be drawn from the respective subgroup analysis.

The duration of diabetes in this analysis was assumed to be the duration since diagnosis. In reality we would never really know how long a patient has had diabetes prior to diagnosis and so the duration since diagnosis is only at best a "proxy" for duration of diabetes. In the context of the finding of lack of duration effect in this study, it would have been reasonable to have considered the various classes of glucose lowering therapies used in the various trials, comparing the side effect profiles, to see if other characteristics, like hypoglycaemia could account for any increase event rates. However longer outcome trials are needed to answer this question in future.

Finally, the findings on lack duration effect should be interpreted with caution as we used aggregate data (i.e. mean duration of diabetes) in the analysis. As stated in our earlier discussion of this issue above, a recent

85

longitudinal cohort studies using IPD suggest evidence of an association between duration of T2DM and CV and mortality outcomes even though the focused population was only elderly males (202).

3.6 Conclusion

This study found evidence to suggest that intensive glucose control and multifactorial intervention reduced the risk of non-fatal MI but not nonfatal stroke, CVD mortality or all-cause mortality. Multi-factorial interventions had very pronounced reduction in non-fatal stroke. No evidence of an association between intensive glucose control and multifactorial intervention and mean duration of type 2 diabetes was found; however, there was evidence suggesting that the effectiveness of intensive therapy to reduce mortality outcomes in patients with type 2 diabetes increases with increasing background cardiovascular risk in the population.

It has already been established in chapter 2 that targeting multidisciplinary team collaborations mixed with various interventions reported some consistency in improvements in HbA1c in the primary care or community based settings. Having now further explored the benefits intensive glucose control and multifactorial interventions, it is logical to consider a model of diabetes care that increases the reliable use of these evidence based interventions through the organisation of work using of multi-faceted interventions targeting multiple professionals all in the primary care setting. These proposed multidisciplinary teams will be closer to the patients' homes. Diabetes care delivery can be delivered by a range of professionals such as physicians, practice and specialist nurses, dieticians, community pharmacists, health-care assistants and in some cases community champions functioning as a primary care team. The other advantage of such a model could diabetes care delivery at lower cost yet maintains continuity of care, as it is wholly primary care based. Attempts have already been made to decrease the overreliance of specialist centres in the management of glycaemia and cardiovascular risk factors through the use of multidisciplinary services that provides diabetes care closer to

home for patients with poor glycaemic control. The have mainly been various versions of the chronic care model or intermediate primary care models that use both primary and specialist care staff, thus potentially comprising the continuity of care for these patients.

In the next chapter, the impact of an enhanced primary care based package of care on unplanned hospitalisations and length of stay for patients with diabetes will be assessed in comparison to intermediate care clinics for diabetes. The first outpatient attendance for diabetes and admission with type 2 diabetes and non-fatal myocardial infarction, non-fatal stroke, major foot amputations and hypoglycaemia in the same spell will also be assessed.

Chapter 4

Evaluating the impact of an enhanced primary care diabetes service on diabetes outcomes: a before-after study in a large multi-ethnic Clinical Commissioning Group.

4.1 Synopsis of chapter 4

Diabetes is an ambulatory care-sensitive condition and a high quality primary care or risk factor control can lead to a decrease in the risk of nonelective hospitalisations while ensuring continuity of care with usual primary care teams.

In this before and after study, eight primary care practices providing enhanced diabetes care in Leicester UK, were compared with matched neighbouring practices with comparable demographic features providing integrated specialist –community care diabetes service. The primary objective at twelve months was to demonstrate equivalence in nonelective bed days. The enhanced practices had primary care physicians and nurses with an interest in diabetes who attended monthly diabetes education meetings and provided care plans and audits. The control practices provided an integrated primary-specialist care service.

The difference between the mean change in the non-elective bed days from baseline and at follow up in core and enhanced practices was not statistically significant (mean = 2.20 per 100 patients, 95% CI = -0.92 to 5.31 per 100 patients, p = 0.14). The analogous change for first outpatients' attendance were 0.23 per 100 patients (95% CI = -0.47 to 0.52 per 100 patients p=0.92) and for diabetes related complications admissions was 0.30 per 100 patients (95% CI = -0.85 to 1.45 per 100 patients p=0.55).

It was concluded that a model of enhanced primary care based diabetes care appears unlikely to increase hospitalisations, outpatients' attendance or admissions for diabetes related complications. 4.2 Background to the evaluation of the before and after study of the impact of an enhanced primary care diabetes service on diabetes outcomes.

People with diabetes are at greater risk for cardiovascular disease, renal endocrine/metabolic complications, and other disease, chronic complications. A portion of health care use associated with these medical conditions exerts considerable pressure on health care (206). Diabetes is a primary care -sensitive or ambulatory care-sensitive condition and a high quality primary care or risk factor control can lead to a decrease in the risk of non-elective hospitalisation due to these conditions. In the UK, between October and December 2014, there were 1.4 million emergency admissions to hospital; 4.3 million people attended a first outpatient appointment. Moreover, ten percent of patients admitted as emergencies stayed for more than two weeks, but these patients accounted for 55 percent of bed days (207). In the USA in 2004, US\$2.4bn was estimated to have been spent on potentially preventable hospitalisations due to uncontrolled diabetes (208).

Since diabetes can cause several acute and chronic complications, which could potentially lead to hospitalisations, focusing on reducing the number and/or duration of admissions for people with diabetes has a huge potential for reducing hospital bed use. Emergency admissions resulting from diabetes or its complications are an unexpected health event and could represent poor outcomes or failure to initiate or augment the management of a patient with diabetes at the appropriate time (209). The resultant effect of this is not only economic loss to healthcare systems, but it puts a strain on patients and their families. Although some emergency admissions may be unavoidable, some may be preventable, and inability to prevent them could indicate an inefficient use of healthcare resources and negatively impact on patients' quality of life. Reducing bed days could be a key indicator of healthcare quality and underpins appropriate allocation of resources and assessment of the impact of secondary prevention activities.

In recognition of the fragmentation of care of people with diabetes between specialist and primary care teams resulting in poor and costly outcomes, many centres have devised various models of diabetes care to suit their local populations (210). These models are usually multiinterventions multi-faceted component targeting health care professionals' interaction in an integrated fashion to improve outcomes. The Chronic Care Model is an example of this integrated care and is based on a paradigm shift of dealing with acute care issues to a system that is prevention based (211-213). The model works on the basis that quality diabetes care is not delivered independently and can be enhanced by system redesign, community resources, self-management support, decision support, clinical information systems, and organizational support working in tandem to enhance patient-provider interactions (211, 212, 214). An evaluation of this model in the US suggests that its implementation in the community is effective in improving clinical and behavioural outcomes in patients with diabetes (154, 215). Many such models are being implemented in other countries including the UK (210). In Leicester UK, the City Clinical Commissioning Group recently reconfigured diabetes services. A care model that aimed to achieve an integrated diabetes service across community, primary and acute care resulting in a more cost-effective, accessible and high quality service for all patients was developed. General practices in the city were classified as "enhanced" or "core". The enhanced practices used general practitioners and nurses with an interest in diabetes to provide the diabetes service within their practices. The core practices provided a primary-specialist care service, delivered by usual general practitioners but supported by diabetes specialist nurses, dieticians and podiatrists, working under the supervision of diabetes specialists in the secondary care units in an integrated manner.

This evaluation focuses specifically on the impact of enhanced care package (a key part of the service redesign) on unplanned hospitalisations and length of stay for patients with diabetes (non-elective bed days). Our

90

primary objective was to demonstrate that the service provided by the enhanced practices does not lead to an increase in non-elective bed days over and above the core service. We chose to evaluate non-inferiority instead of superiority because core care in the city of Leicester is provided by intermediate care clinics for diabetes (ICCD) (216), which is a multidisciplinary service that provides diabetes care closer to home for patients with poor glycaemic control. Even though the ICCD has not been found to produce significant reductions in intermediate outcomes and yet incurring significantly higher primary care and community clinic costs (216), locally in Leicester UK, the service had already been evaluated and appeared to be effective in reducing hospital admissions and numbers of ambulance call-outs for treatment of hypoglycaemia (217). In this service, diabetes specialist nurses, dieticians and podiatrists usually support the clinicians in the core practices, with supervision from diabetes specialist physicians from the secondary care units in an integrated manner. They operate from strategically located community health centres to serve various sections of the city.

As a result of the success of the ICCD locally, our alternative service redesign, which is cheaper, should not reduce the quality of the care. A secondary objective was to examine whether there was also equivalence in first outpatient attendance for diabetes between the practices providing Enhanced and Core care. We also evaluated the impact of the enhanced care package on diabetes related comorbid bed days (admission with type 2 diabetes as primary diagnosis and at least one of the following comorbidities: non-fatal myocardial infarction, non-fatal stroke, major foot amputations and hypoglycaemia in the same spell).

4.3 Patients and Methods

This was a before and after study. Data from all diabetes patients older than 17 years of age registered in eight selected general practices providing enhanced diabetes care in the city of Leicester, UK were used in this evaluation. These data were compared with eight matched general practices drawn from the city of Leicester with comparable benchmarks in population demographics namely percentage of patients older than 65 years of age, average deprivation (Index of Multiple Deprivation 2010) scores, percentage of patients with at least one co-morbidity (non-fatal myocardial infarction or non-fatal stroke or major foot amputations). For each of the eight enhanced practices, there was a suitably matched practice within one mile. If there were more than one, the practice most similar in terms of the matching characteristics was used. Ethnicity data are poorly coded and were not included in the matching process. A predominantly south-Asian population as opposed to the west inhabits the east of Leicester. Therefore, since matched Core and Enhanced practices were within one-mile vicinity, they were assumed to consist of similar ethnicity composition. The evaluation was done on the care delivered prior to April 2013 (before) and April 2014 (after).

4.3a Exposure of Interest

In the practices offering the Enhanced care, the lead general practitioner had to have an interest in diabetes and be studying towards or have completed an MSc in Diabetes or updating their diabetes knowledge through our locally accredited programme (Effective Diabetes Education Now (EDEN)). A practice nurse with similar or equivalent diabetes qualifications supported them. These teams were charged with identifying patients who could be discharged from secondary care and managed effectively in primary care, and with targeting patients with an HbA1c greater than 8% (64mmol/mol) for care planning. They also focused on care planning for those diabetes patients with multi-morbidities and those who were housebound. The teams met up once a month for clinical discussions around complex diabetes cases selected from their practices. Monthly audits of outpatient attendances and hospital admissions were also discussed and fed back to practices. The lead general practitioners discussed stable patients still under specialist care with the specialists in charge of the patient's care, and if it was appropriate and the patients were in agreement, they were discharged back to primary care. Clinicians

followed clinical care pathways for various aspects of diabetes care and referrals, and received telephone-based support for complex cases, depending on the needs of the general practitioner. The enhanced practices therefore had all the resources to successfully manage the repatriation of patients from specialist care to primary care. The non-elective bed days (as opposed to all bed days) was chosen as the primary outcome in an attempt to rule out admissions due to the specialist level conditions such as antenatal diabetes, diabetic foot care, renal, insulin pumps, Type 1/adolescent diabetes inpatient diabetes care (210), and complex unstable diabetes patients since the admissions from these should have been electively arranged by hospital specialists.

4.3b Comparator Group

In the Core practices, basic diabetes care was provided as usual by general practitioners. In order to limit a two tier system of care for patients in the city and thus avoid the widening of variation in the quality of care provided, the clinicians in the core practices were supported by diabetes specialist nurses, dieticians and podiatrists, working under the supervision of diabetes specialists in the secondary care units in an integrated manner.

4.3c Data Sources

The outcome data were non-elective bed days, first outpatients' appointments and admission with type diabetes and non-fatal myocardial infarction or non-fatal stroke or major foot amputations in the same spell. These data were drawn primarily from the Hospital Episode Statistics (HES) database. The HES database is made up of many data items relating to admitted and outpatient care delivered by NHS hospitals in England with diagnoses coded using the WHO's International Classification of Diseases 10th revision [ICD-10].

To ensure independence, the team analysing the data did not perform the data extraction. A third party extracted the data using the same approach as the NHS uses in England to produce cost data based on a coding system called Healthcare Resource Group (HRG) to reimburse hospitals for the treatment they deliver. HRG is a grouping system where patient events or spells consuming a similar level of resource are allocated a cost. In order to maintain patient confidentiality, no patient's name or unique identifier is present in this tool.

For the diabetes related non-elective admissions, we searched admissions with only type 2 diabetes as a primary diagnosis using E11 code. Similarly, for the admissions with type 2 diabetes and co-morbidities we searched E11 code and non-fatal myocardial infarction or non-fatal stroke, not specified as haemorrhage or infarction or major foot amputations or hypoglycaemia in the same spell using I21 or I22 or I64 or E16.2 or S88 or S98 or T13.6 or T05.2-6.

The baseline data variables analysed were diabetes prevalence, percentage male, percentage of people aged over 65, deprivation and percentages achieving targets on the various cardiovascular risk factors. We estimated the quality of cardiovascular risk factor control by computing mean percentage of people achieving all four cardiovascular risk factors (HbA1c $\leq 8\%$, blood pressure $\leq 140/80$ mmHg, total cholesterol ≤ 5 mmol/L and being treated with renin angiotensin system inhibitors if a patient has micro-albumuria). All these baseline variables were drawn from publicly available data on general practices in England (218). Because the data were extracted from publicly available data sources without any patient identifiers, ethical clearance for these analyses was deemed unnecessary.

4.3d Statistical analysis

Baseline characteristics of the two groups (Enhanced and Core) were summarised separately using means and standard deviations. Paired t-test analyses were used to compare the baseline characteristics between enhanced and core practices.

The change in the number of diabetes related non-elective bed days between 2013 and 2014 in the enhanced and the core practices was computed. Since evaluation of non-inferiority between the enhanced care and core care was being considered, a lower confidence interval of not more than zero indicated a lack of increase for the outcomes. A paired ttest analysis was conducted to compare the change from baseline (2013) between the two groups. Non-elective hospitalisation (bed-days) is an undesirable outcome. If the change in the non-elective bed days from baseline to follow up in core or enhanced practices is positive, it means there were more of these hospitalisations at follow-up. If it is negative, then the hospitalisations were less at follow-up. If the difference between the mean change in non-elective bed days between matched core and enhanced practices is positive, it could mean therefore that there was a more favourable change in the non-elective bed days in the enhanced practices after the follow up.

For the secondary outcomes, again, the change in the first outpatients' attendance, admissions of patients with diabetes and non-fatal myocardial infarctions, major foot amputations and non-fatal strokes between 2013 and 2014 in the enhanced and the core was computed. A paired t-test analysis was conducted to compare the change from baseline between the two groups. Even though the diabetes related non-elective bed days refer to patients admitted with diabetes as a primary diagnosis, it is possible that some of the admissions for these diabetes patients were for other reasons unrelated to their diabetes or its complications. A sensitivity analysis was conducted using all admissions for diabetes patients with diabetes as either a primary diagnosis or secondary diagnosis to compute the bed days and then conducted paired t- tests again to see if the results differed from the findings of the primary analysis. All the outcome data were expressed per hundred adult patients ≥18 years of age due to differences in patient list size between the practices. Statistical analyses were performed using SPSS (version 22.0, Chicago, IL, US).

4.4 Results

4.4a Sample characteristics

The normality testing was done for the entire baseline characteristics considered for comparison between the core and enhanced practices.
For deprivation scores (IMD), Shapiro Wilk's test (p>0.05) (219, 220) and visual inspections of their histograms, normal Q-Q plots and box blots showed that deprivation scores (IMD) were approximately normally distributed for both the core and enhanced practices with a skewness of 0.06 (SE=0.75) and Kurtosis of 0.58 (SE= 1.48) for the enhanced practices and skewness of 1.13 (SE=0.75) and Kurtosis of -0.44 (SE= 1.48) for the core practices (221-223)

In the case of the percentage male patients, Shapiro Wilk's test (p>0.05) and visual inspections of their histograms, normal Q-Q plots and box blots showed that the percentages were also approximately normally distributed for both the core and enhanced practices with a skewness of - 0.658 (SE=0.75) and Kurtosis of -0.642 (SE= 1.48) for the enhanced practices and skewness of -0.275 (SE=0.75) and Kurtosis of -1.50 (SE= 1.48) for the core practices.

Also, in the case of the percentage of patients aged ≥ 65 years, Shapiro Wilk's test (p>0.05) and visual inspections of their histograms, normal Q-Q plots and box blots showed that the percentages were also approximately normally distributed for both the core and enhanced practices with a skewness of 2.25 (SE=0.75) and Kurtosis of 5.72 (SE= 1.48) for the enhanced practices and skewness of 1.15 (SE=0.75) and Kurtosis of 1.21 (SE= 1.48) for the core practices.

The average of percentage of people achieving all four cardiovascular risk factor targets (HbA1c =/ <8% or 64 mmol/mol, blood pressure =/<140/80 mmHg, total cholesterol =/<5mmol/L, and being treated with ACE-I if there is microalbumuria) was used as a quality of care indicator score. Again, for this score, Shapiro Wilk's test (p>0.05) and visual inspections of their histograms, normal Q-Q plots and box blots showed that the percentages were also approximately normally distributed for both the core and enhanced practices with a skewness of -0.52 (SE=0.75) and Kurtosis of 1.61 (SE= 1.48) for the core practices.

For non-elective bed days per 100 diabetes patients \geq 18 years of age at baseline, the Shapiro Wilk's test (p>0.05) and visual inspections of their histograms, normal Q-Q plots and box blots showed that the percentages were also approximately normally distributed for both the core and enhanced practices with a skewness of -0.51 (SE=0.75) and Kurtosis of -1.18 (SE= 1.48) for the enhanced practices and skewness of 0.72 (SE=0.75) and Kurtosis of 0.12 (SE= 1.48) for the core practices.

Finally for comorbid admission, that is any admission with type 2 diabetes and non-fatal myocardial infarction or non-fatal stroke or major foot amputations in the same spell per 100 diabetes patients \geq 18 years in 2013, again the Shapiro Wilk's test (p>0.05) and visual inspections of their histograms, normal Q-Q plots and box blots showed that the percentages were also approximately normally distributed for both the core and enhanced practices with a skewness of -0.21 (SE=0.75) and Kurtosis of -1.31 (SE= 1.48) for the enhanced practices and skewness of 1.73 (SE=0.75) and Kurtosis of 3.54 (SE= 1.48) for the core practices.

For the main outcome analyses, the differences between the outcomes in 2014 and in 2013 were computed for the core and the enhanced practices. These differences were then used for the paired t-tests between the core and the enhanced practices. To do this, the assumptions of normality for these differences had to be established. For the non-elective bed days in the enhanced practices, the Shapiro Wilk's test (p=0.10) and visual inspections of their histograms, normal Q-Q plots and box blots showed that the percentages were approximately normally distributed with a skewness of -0.1.24 (SE=0.75) and Kurtosis of 0.56 (SE= 1.48). In the core practices, the Shapiro Wilk's test (p=0.32) and visual inspections of their histograms, normal Q-Q plots showed that the percentages were also approximately normally distributed with a skewness of -0.38 (SE=0.75) and Kurtosis of -1.26 (SE= 1.48).

Similarly, normality testing was done for the difference between first out patients' appointment per hundred in 2013 and 2014 in the enhanced

practices. The Shapiro Wilk's test (p=0.67) and visual inspections of their histograms, normal Q-Q plots and box blots showed that the percentages were also approximately normally distributed with a skewness of -0.16 (SE=0.75) and Kurtosis of 0.07 (SE= 1.48). In the core practice, the Shapiro Wilk's test (p=0.11) and visual inspections of their histograms, normal Q-Q plots and box blots showed that the percentages were also approximately normally distributed with a skewness of -1.61 (SE=0.75) and Kurtosis of 3.38 (SE= 1.48).

For the normality testing of the difference between percentage of any admission with type 2 diabetes and non-fatal myocardial infarction or non-fatal stroke or major foot amputations n the same spell per adult population over 17 years in 2013 and 2014 in the enhanced practices, the Shapiro Wilk's test (p=0.13) and visual inspections of their histograms, normal Q-Q plots and box blots showed that the percentages were also approximately normally distributed with a skewness of -1.10 (SE=0.75) and Kurtosis of 0.42 (SE= 1.48). In the core practices the Shapiro Wilk's test (p=0.85) and visual inspections of their histograms, normal Q-Q plots and box blots showed that the percentages were also approximately normally distributed with a skewness of -1.10 (SE=0.75) and box blots showed that the percentages were also approximately normal Q-Q plots and box blots showed that the percentages were also approximately normally distributed with a skewness of 0.36 (SE=0.75) and Kurtosis of 1.00 (SE= 1.48).

In order to carry out the sensitivity analysis, a normality testing was done for the difference between the percentage of admissions with a diagnosis of type 2 diabetes, primary or secondary, in 2013 and 2014 in the enhanced practices. The Shapiro Wilk's test (p=0.46) and visual inspections of their histograms, normal Q-Q plots and box blots showed that the percentages were also approximately normally distributed with a skewness of - 0.56 (SE=0.75) and Kurtosis of -1.00 (SE= 1.48). In the core practices the Shapiro Wilk's test (p=0.41) and visual inspections of their histograms, normal Q-Q plots and box blots showed that the percentages were also approximately normally distributed with a skewness of 0.157 (SE=0.75) and Kurtosis of -1.40 (SE= 1.48).

4.4b Main baseline results

Data were available for 8,366 adult patients with type 2 diabetes and aged \geq 18 years of age in the sixteen practices. Of these, 6,054 (72.4%) were registered in the eight enhanced practices and 2,312 (27.6%) were registered in eight matched core practices.

The baseline characteristics were similar in both types of practice (Table 8 and Appendix 4.15). There were no significant differences between enhanced and core practices in terms of any of the characteristics examined, apart from the percentage of male patients in the two groups; the percentage of male patients in the enhanced practices (mean [SD] = 49.4% [2.6%]) was less than in the core practices (52.6% [3.7%]; p=0.011). A simple linear regression was calculated to predict the difference in nonelective bed days between the matched core and enhanced practice upon difference between the percentage male in the core practices and the enhanced practices. Preliminary analyses were performed to ensure to ensure there was no violation of assumption of normality and linearity. A non-significant regression equation was found P= 0.89 with an R^2 of -0.16, Standardised B =0.062 (CI -1.33 to 1.50) (Appendix 4.16). Another simple linear regression was calculated to predict the difference in first outpatient's appointment between the matched core and enhanced practice upon difference between the percentage male in the core practices and the enhanced practices. Preliminary analyses were performed to ensure to ensure there was no violation of assumption of normality and linearity. A non-significant regression equation was found, P= 0.44 with an R² of -0.046, standardised B =0.32 CI (-1.41 2.87) (Appendix 4.17). Similarly, another simple linear regression was calculated to predict the difference in admissions with type 2 diabetes (and non-fatal myocardial infarction or non-fatal stroke or foot amputations in the same spell) between the matched core and enhanced practice, upon difference between the percentage male in the core practices and the enhanced practices. Preliminary analyses were performed again to ensure there was no violation of assumption of normality and linearity. A non-significant regression equation was found, P = 0.63 with an R^2 of -0.12 standardised

99

B=0.20 CI (-0.41 0.62) (Appendix 4.18). Finally, a simple linear regression was calculated to predict the difference in admission with type 2 diabetes, primary or secondary- sensitivity analysis, between the matched core and enhanced practice, upon difference between the percentage male in the core practices and the enhanced practices. Preliminary analyses were performed to ensure to ensure there was no violation of assumption of normality and linearity. A non-significant regression equation was found P= 0.20 with an R² of 0.14, standardised B=-0.51, CI (-3.43 0.87) (Appendix 4.19)

Table 7: Baseline characteristics in practices offering enhanced care and those offering core (usual) care Mean (SD)

Baseline characteristics	Enhanced practices (N = 57,943)	Core practices (N=25,492)	p-value*
Deprivation score (IMD)	34.04 (11.05)	33.33 (12.00)	0.780
Percentage male patients	49.40 (2.55)	52.55 (3.70)	0.011
Percentage of patients aged ≥65 years	14.20 (4.05)	11.31 (3.94)	0.219
Quality of care indicator ⁺	78.09 (5.60)	70.34 (10.61)	0.073
Non-elective bed days ‡	5.62 (2.11)	3.82 (1.62)	0.075
Co-morbid admissions §	0.93 (0.67)	0.78 (0.87)	0.734

IMD: Index of Multiple Deprivation

* P-values compare enhanced and core practices and were estimated using paired t-tests.

†: Average of percentage of people achieving all four cardiovascular risk factor targets (HbA1c =/ <8% or 64 mmol/mol, blood pressure =/<140/80 mmHg, total cholesterol =/<5mmol/L, and being treated with ACE-I if there is microalbumuria)

 \therefore Non-elective bed days per 100 diabetes patients ≥ 18 years of age

admission with type 2 diabetes and non-fatal myocardial infarction or non-fatal stroke or major foot amputations in the same spell per 100 diabetes patients \geq 18 years in 2013.

4.4c Main outcome results

The main results are summarised in Table 9 and Appendix 4.20. Whereas in the core practices the mean change in non-elective bed days was 1.29 (2.85) per 100 patients, suggesting an increase in non-elective admission after the follow up periods, in the enhanced practices the mean change in non-elective bed days was -0.91 (2.1) per 100 patients suggesting that there was no increment in non-elective bed days after the follow up period in the enhanced practices. The difference between the non-elective bed days in core practices and that in enhanced practices was not significant (mean = 2.20 per 100 patients, 95% CI = -0.92 to 5.31 per 100 patients, p = 0.14). In the sensitivity analysis, when the analysis included all non-elective admissions for diabetes patients whether diabetes was the primary diagnosis or secondary diagnosis, the difference between the non-elective bed days in core practices and that in enhanced practices was 2.78 per 100 patients (95% CI = -2.71 to 8.27 per 100 patients, p=0.27).

Similarly, differences between the mean first outpatient attendances in the adult population in matched core and enhanced practices also increased over the 12 months of follow up. The difference between the mean first outpatient attendance in the core practices and that in enhanced practices was 0.02 per 100 patients (95% CI = -0.47 to 0.52, per 100 patients p=0.92), suggesting a lack of increment in the first out patients' attendance in the enhanced practices at the end of the follow up period. Admissions with type 2 diabetes complications were measured as the percentage of any admission with type 2 diabetes and non-fatal myocardial Infarction or non-fatal stroke or major foot amputations in the same spell per adult population over 17 years. The difference between this in the matched core and enhanced practices did not increase over the 12 months of follow ups 0.30 per 100 patients (95% CI = -0.85 to 1.45 per 100 patients p=0.55) suggesting a lack of increment in the admissions in the enhanced practices at the end of the follow ups 1.00 patients p=0.55) suggesting a lack of increment in the admissions in the enhanced practices at the end of the follow up period.

Table 8: Effect of enhanced diabetes services on non-elective bed days, first outpatient attendance and hospitalisation with diabetes its complications.

	Change for the contract of the	from 2013				
Outcome‡	Core practices Mean (SD)	Enhanced practices Mean (SD)	Mean difference	Lower Confidence interval	Upper Confidence interval	P- value *
Non-elective bed days						
Diabetes as primary diagnosis	1.29 (2.85)	-0.91(2.1)	2.20	-0.92	5.32	0.14
Diabetes as primary or secondary diagnosis†	3.85(5.86)	1.06(4.01)	2.78	-2.71	8.27	0.27
First outpatient attendance	-0.10(0.38)	-0.13(0.44)	0.02	-0.47	0.52	0.92
Admission with type 2 diabetes complication §	0.04(1.09)	-0.26(0.60)	0.30	-0.85	1.45	0.55

* Comparing change from 2013 to 2014 between core and enhanced practices estimated using paired t-tests.

†: This analysis includes all non-elective admissions for diabetes patients whether diabetes is the primary diagnosis or secondary diagnosis

: All outcome data reported per hundred patient populations over 17 years

§: Admissions with type 2 diabetes complication is measured as any admission with type 2 diabetes and non-fatal myocardial Infarction or non-fatal Stroke or major foot amputations in the same spell.

4.5 Discussion

This analysis demonstrates that, this enhanced care package aspect of our service redesign had similar outcomes to that provided by the more expensive primary-specialist integrated care (216). The prevention of an increment in the non-elective bed days, first outpatient's attendances and admissions with diabetes related complications has the potential to make the practice accreditation more cost-effective as diabetes service delivery in specialist settings tend to be more expensive (224). The choice of the primary-specialist integrated care service as a comparator could have blunted the benefits our enhanced care package. This is because the stated comparator service has already been evaluated and proved to be effective in reducing hospital admissions (217). Probably if our comparator service was another service delivery system, we could have demonstrated superiority in the outcomes. The NHS Portsmouth CCG has similar characteristics such as population density, indices of Deprivation 2010 (average score), percentage of population from Black ethnic groups and percentage of population from Asian ethnic groups, to NHS Leicester City CCG (225, 226). This allows for appropriate benchmarking. This CCG has had its own service re-organisation since 2009 (210). As of December 2013, people with diabetes in NHS Portsmouth CCG were 77.2% more likely to have a myocardial infarction, 33.1% more likely to have a stroke, 85.7% more likely to have a hospital admission related to heart failure and 42.1% more likely to die than the general population in the same area (225). In the same period, people with diabetes in NHS Leicester City CCG were only 38.9% more likely to have a myocardial infarction, 14.8% more likely to have a stroke, 58.7% more likely to have a hospital admission related to heart failure and 24.5% more likely to die than the general population in the same area (226).

These results suggest the enhanced care package is non-inferior to the specialist assisted integrated care provided in the core practices, we can be more confident that through the service redesign, the unintended

104

consequence of creating a lower quality of care for diabetes patients has not occurred. This supports a recent study in Australia where an innovative integrated primary-secondary model of care for people with complex type 2 diabetes demonstrated fewer admissions for a diabetesrelated complication than those receiving usual care (227). This integrated care model consisted of a multidisciplinary, community-based and integrated primary-secondary care diabetes service similar to the care received in the core practices in Leicester City. Another study evaluated this integrated primary-secondary model of care for people with complex type 2 diabetes and showed not only positive impact on quality of the care but also did this at lower cost than usual care (228, 229), hence further supporting the success of the non-inferiority demonstrated by the enhanced practices. In the general population, reviews and meta-analysis of secondary cardiac prevention programmes have shown improved processes of care (230) and improved patient outcomes (231). A more recent meta-analysis showed that organisational interventions led to 21% reduced all-cause mortality and a 26% reduction in cardiac-related mortality. However, not enough data were available to assess for interventions on hospital admissions (232). In these studies however, these benefits tend to diminish as time goes on, thereby leading to doubts on long-term clinical and economic outcomes. The use of well-trained, well-organised primary care teams, offering enhanced diabetes care, which was the basis of the intervention evaluated in this study, could potentially provide longer lasting benefits.

Repeated admissions to hospitals are increasingly being used as a measure of quality of care of patients by primary care teams in most developed countries (233, 234). In the organisation of diabetes models of care, it is important to demonstrate that the service delivery is both safe and of a high enough quality as what is already available before the analysis for any cost savings can be completed. Here we demonstrate that our enhanced care delivery seems to achieve this. The secondary objective demonstrated a lack of increase in the first outpatient's attendance in the enhanced practices when compared with the core-integrated practices. Therefore, diabetes patients can be managed safely by well-trained primary care teams closer to their homes, potentially at a lower cost. In addition, specialist teams, both physicians and nurses, are spared to focus on more complex diabetes and endocrine conditions in the specialist settings.

4.5a Strengths and weaknesses of the study

The strength of this analysis is the fact that we focused mainly on clinical outcomes and admissions and outpatients' attendances as opposed surrogate markers like HbA1c, blood pressure and cholesterol. Previous studies on structured integrated services redesigns have always focused on these intermediate outcomes (147, 154, 158, 163-165). An attempt was made to match practices in the exposed and control groups according to diabetes related characteristics and population demographics including age, co-morbidities and ethnicity. Admissions of people with diabetes could be for other reasons other than diabetes. Hence in our main analysis, we used cases in which diabetes was stated as a primary diagnosis. Furthermore, we extracted all diabetes admissions, whether diabetes was a primary or secondary diagnosis, and conducted a sensitivity analysis. The results of this further analysis were concordant with our main findings. All the outcome data were collected independently.

The main weakness of this study is that it is an observational study with a small sample size. Also the analysis was hampered due to the lack of access to individual patient clinical data over the study period. Another limitation was the fact that the matching of practices did not take into account practice list sizes and as a result there were more patients in the enhanced practices than in the core practices. This could affect some of the findings, as other factors such as resources allocation could be dependent on practice list size. In the choice of diabetes related complications, only nonfatal myocardial infarction, major foot amputations, hypoglycaemia and unspecified strokes were used (I64). A much broader list of diabetes

related microvascular complications such as renal complications (diabetic nephropathy, intracapillary glomerulonephrosis, Kimmelstiel–Wilson syndrome, ophthalmic complications (cataract, retinopathy), neurological complications (amyotrophy, mononeuropathy, autonomic neuropathy, polyneuropathy) and peripheral circulatory complications (gangrene, ulcer, peripheral angiopathy) should have been considered. Even in the case of the macro-vascular complications considered, only I64 cerebrovascular accidents were considered and these constitute only a small fraction of strokes. I61 and I63 are the main codes for stroke and should have been used for the analysis. Nevertheless, the sensitivity analysis performed; considering admissions with diabetes stated either as a primary or a secondary diagnosis, showed similar findings as the main analysis.

Even though the logic of the service redesign was to enable a cheaper service provision by shifting the care of diabetes patients from secondary to primary care, a further economic evaluation will be necessary to ascertain if there is any cost saving derived from the enhanced care package. Until then it is difficult to tell if the possible cost savings derived from the lack of increase in the non-elective bed days, first outpatient attendances and admissions with diabetes and its complications will be offset by the cost of the enhanced care package.

4.5b Implications for practice

Firstly, these findings are of relevance to policy makers in countries with well-established primary care services who aim to provide a safe and good quality care (235) away from specialist centres, which are associated with increasing costs of delivering hospital inpatient care.

In an attempt to decrease the over dependence on the usually expensive specialist based treatments and to reduce the burden of chronic disease, models of care along the lines of the chronic care model (154) and the primary-specialist care integrated care models have been shown to improve quality outcomes for people with complex conditions (236, 237). In many countries however, services integrations can usually be very difficult to achieve due to constraints in varying sources of funding for primary and specialist teams. The use of well-trained primary care teams providing service along the lines of our enhance care teams could be an alternative. This could also be welcomed by the patients who would be guaranteed continuity of care from their family physician who in addition to knowing a lot about their diabetes also has good knowledge of the patients' other biopsychosocial aspects of life.

4.6 Conclusion

The analyses indicated that the use of a structured diabetes shared care service redesign, involving enhanced diabetes-skilled primary care physicians, nurses and health care assistants in primary care settings is unlikely to increase hospitalisations, first outpatient's attendance or even admissions for diabetes related complications any more than an integrated specialist–community care core diabetes service.

Chapter 5:

The shape of the new model of diabetes care

The translation of evidence from clinical trials into real and equitable improvements in diabetes management in the face of a growing prevalence of the disease tends to focus on changing health care professional behaviours (238). However, these healthcare professionals usually work in established multidisciplinary healthcare units, which usually have established processes in place and the professionals are expected to conform to these. Interdisciplinary teams working across primary and specialist care units, even though have shown positive improvements in outcomes, are usually difficult to establish due to contractual barriers in institutional mergers, problems in back office role merges and concerns around unified pathway adoption.

From the findings in this thesis, a model of diabetes care to increase the reliable use of evidence based multi-faceted interventions through the use of multiple professionals, rather than individual clinicians or isolated interventions, would be more adaptable. This interdisciplinary multifaceted model keeps the "wheels of success" in achievement of HbA1c rolling as illustrated on the green wheel in figure 11. The proposed multidisciplinary teams will be easier arranged in the primary care setting, closer to the patients' homes. A range of professionals functioning as a primary care team can provide diabetes care. This should include, physicians, practice and specialist nurses, dieticians, community pharmacists, psychologists, health-care assistants and in some cases community champions. When interventions are targeted at these groups independently of the other groups or interventions, there are "blocks to successful" achievements of targets, as illustrated in the red blocks in figure 11. A key intervention required to be used in combination with other interventions is the health care professional education. Even though on its own it can be ineffective, when combined with other interventions, an increased awareness of the impact of the ever-changing landscape in diabetes care occurs.

Figure 11: Primary care or community based professionals.



Interventions on the "Red blocks" alone show doubtful or ineffective results- ("block" the improvements in outcomes). The "Green wheel" represents multi-component interventions or multidisciplinary teams and gets achievements of HbA1c "rolling"

5.1 Up skilling of Primary or Community Care Professionals in Multidisciplinary Teams

In an Integrated primary care diabetes model, innovative collaboration between primary care team members can result in the creation of new health care organisations, which can provide integrated diabetes care for their local populations. With the patient in the centre, delivery of care can revolve around them, with the aspiration to have an organisational structure, clinical pathways and financial planning all aligning seamlessly (239). The subsequent care pathway developed should be customised to the wide-ranging needs of the local population and adapted to the evolving needs and the changing national health agendas instead of a 'one size fits all' model. The prime focus of the integrated primary care diabetes service is the integration of a health care system and the co-ordination of services around a patient, bringing together physicians, nurses, dieticians, health care assistants and community workers in setting nearer the patient' home.

In order to successfully maintain or even improve patient outcomes and reduce variation in care, while supporting this "left-shift" of care, upskilling of general practitioners, practice nurses and health care assistants and on-going support from specialists in this field is required. This comprehensive health care professional up-skilling process needs to be based on psychological theories of learning (240-242) with the necessary knowledge and competency framework. This will hopefully equip the diabetes care workforce with the appropriate knowledge and skills to provide them the confidence to deliver highest quality care and improve patient outcomes.

Possible areas of training could include: mentorship and case management at practice level to support clinical development, training and care planning. Not only should the education and training be available at differing levels, but it needs to be provided by multiple alternative and complementary methods including the workplace based leaning, distance

111

learning, modular format, journal clubs and mentorship. The multidisciplinary team creates an adaptable and responsive model with a feedback mechanism, which encourages the improvement of the quality of care through their knowledge of the local needs. Furthermore, and crucial for such an educational programme's longevity, it has to be developed so that it can reflect the continual changing approaches to diabetes management in relation to new therapies and national drivers.

Practices that participate and engage in this training process can gain accreditations based on the breadth and complexity of diabetes care that they provide. A stepwise and on-going accreditation process could start from the provision of a basic core service including screening of all patients at risk of diabetes, diabetes prevention interventions, regular surveillance of all patients with diabetes i.e. measuring and managing HbA1c according to guidance, blood pressure and cholesterol measurements and eye and feet examinations etc, cardiovascular disease risk reduction, evidence based prescribing, auditing care provided, and evidence of referral and attendance of all patients to evidence based patient education interventions/programmes.

A step up on the accreditation ladder will be practices that can provide elements of an enhanced service including the management of complex patients on insulin including in-house initiation and titration for people Type 2 diabetes, management of people with stable Type 1 diabetes, initiation and management of GLP-1 agonist therapies, high quality of care for housebound patients (including nursing/residential homes), and proactive discharge of suitable patients currently under specialist followup.

5.2 Focus on cardiovascular risk factor control

The presence of a complex health and illness profile is found to be associated with worse control of cardio-metabolic risk factors independent of regimen intensity and history of CHD (243). This is compounded by the fact that management of the major cardiovascular risk factors in diabetes have all raised questions on the benefits of high risk factor control. In glycaemic control for example, although early intensive treatment in diabetes results in lasting benefit, including for CVD risk reduction (77), intensive glycaemic control in late diagnosis and in patients of high background cardiovascular disease does not reduce major cardiovascular events and indeed may increase mortality (78). Similarly, even though major reductions in cardiovascular outcomes is seen in patients receiving tight control of blood pressure compared with those receiving conventional control if the base line blood pressure was high (56, 79, 244) tight control of systolic BP among patients with diabetes and coronary artery disease has not been shown to improve cardiovascular outcomes (80). The findings in this thesis show that intensive glucose control and multifactorial intervention could reduce the risk of non-fatal MI but not non-fatal stroke, CVD mortality or all-cause mortality. Even though there were no statistically significant benefits in the reductions in mortality in both intensive glycaemic control and multifactorial interventions, there were trends towards a reduction in event rates of CV mortality and all-cause mortality in the multi-factorial intervention subgroups. The benefits from multifactorial intervention seem to be more pronounced with the reduction in non-fatal stroke in this group being 47%. The effectiveness of intensive therapy to reduce mortality outcomes in patients with type 2 diabetes increases with increasing background cardiovascular risk in the population.

A good general knowledge and an understanding of the impact of glycaemic control and multifactorial cardiovascular risk management in primary care provides the means of answering a large number of important practical problems. The next hurdle will be how to apply the evidence from this thesis to provide such complete answers. Common clinical pathways through the use of information technology are a prerequisite. Once up skilled in the handling of the complex glycaemic and cardiovascular risk treatment options in primary care, the primary care professionals will require information technology infrastructures which enable seamless passage of care through different units.

5.3 Enhancement of multidisciplinary teams through the use of Information Technology.

Local information technology (IT) infrastructure can enable records to be shared between primary, community and secondary care. This will also provide secure data centres to facilitate monitoring of clinical outcomes and service improvement. This can assist patients, carers and health care professionals in the choice of therapeutic options, understanding of the disease and its complications and self-management (245). Through the use of integrated IT systems, provision of therapies and services to people with diabetes in different health care regions is made possible by ensuring responsiveness to the needs and preferences of patients, improvements in health care process and intermediate outcomes, patient-clinician communication and access to medical information. Due consideration however needs to be given to potential barriers to the use of IT. Access to the IT infrastructure due to older age of patients, low income, education, cognitive impairment and physicians' concerns about increasing their workload are all potential barriers.

5.4 Expected advantages on primary care based multidisciplinary diabetes team

Diabetes is a chronic disease with a progressive deterioration and association with other co-morbid conditions. As a patient's condition changes, the constitution of the team may change to reflect the changing clinical and psychosocial needs of the patient. It is therefore extremely important that in addition to the wide range of professionals, there exists a range of interventions to be combined appropriately with the teams in order to meet the patients' needs. For example, in the case of the newly diagnosed young type diabetes patients under forty years old other priorities in their daily lives including work and childcare could compromise their compliance to medications. They may spend a long time waiting for clinic appointments (246). The use of the community pharmacist may focus on medications adherence and home delivery of repeat prescriptions, clinical goals, and self-care activities. They may initiate diabetes care plans followed by telephone calls to facilitate diabetes management and adherence. As these patients progress in age and attain retirement, their needs and pressures also change. They now face the challenge of multi-morbid medical problems. Adherence may not so much be due to the lack of time, but may be due to interactions and side effects of multiple medications (247). The nurse case manager working in collaboration with the physician and the pharmacists, will then be the most useful team member.

Patient lists in primary care means continuity of care. So using primary care teams for this provision of integrated care service for people with diabetes will ensure continuity. The sustained patient-physician partnership is the paramount feature of primary care (248). There is evidence for a positive effect of continuity of care on both physician(249)and patient(250-253)satisfaction with care and patient adherence to medical regimens(254), emergency department and hospital utilization (255-257), overall service utilization, and cost.

Finally, since the cost of interventions are generally lower in the primary care setting, and my work in this thesis managed to demonstrate an equivalent level of effectiveness compared to other integrated communityspecialist level models of diabetes care, it is plausible that this model of care is cost effective. Finally, it is important to remember that patient targeting is critical, and that applying interventions closer to the patient's home, where they offer the most benefit, is always going to be a preferred option for patients.

5.5 Areas for future research

Even though care delivery in the primary care setting tends to be less expensive, a further economic evaluation will be necessary to ascertain if there is any cost savings derived from the enhanced care package. Until then it is difficult to ascertain if the possible cost savings derived from the lack of increase in the non-elective bed days, first out-patient attendances and admissions with diabetes and its complications will be offset by the cost of the enhanced care package.

Diabetes is only one of the long term conditions primary care teams manage. Even though this evaluation has confirmed non-inferiority to the specialist-primary care integrative care services in diabetes, it is unclear if this success can be maintained in the long term. Primary care teams, unlike specialist teams, could be side-tracked from diabetes management in the face of competing demands from other disease areas. It will therefore be important to further explore how primary care teams can improve outcomes in patients with diabetes and other multi-morbidities. Several frequent comorbidities like heart diseases and chronic kidney disease depression, among others, are also identified in people with diabetes. These contribute to the problem of non-attainment of targets. In the multimorbid persons with diabetes, lifestyle measures, medical nutrition therapy, and appropriately prescribed physical activity as well as weight loss for those who are overweight or obese are usually considered. Optimal control of glucose and other cardiovascular risk factors (e.g. smoking, sedentary lifestyle, hypertension, dyslipidaemia and obesity) is essential. Additionally, in the multi-morbid diabetes patient the control of the other chronic illnesses e.g. depression or heart failure, may at any particular clinical encounter be of paramount concern to the patient with diabetes. All interventions should therefore be tailored to the individual and provide on-going support. With a principal goal of treatment being safely achieving glycaemic control at the earliest possible stage with the least risk for adverse events, thereby increasing the likelihood of long-term durability of control and avoidance of complications in the future, there is a clinical need for a personalised algorithm that covers these issues.

Therefore, an important area of further exploration is to establish and test out an individualised algorithm to aid decision making by primary care teams in the management the multi-morbid diabetes patient in the context on their illness, especially in terms of the co-existent diseases. This will also test an implementation strategy of the use of this individualised decisionaid algorithm for reducing all-cause hospitalisations and diabetes related complications.

Chapter 6

Conclusion.

Unlike a new drug that cannot be introduced without exhaustive scientific trials, policy makers usually introduce new models of diabetes care with little or no scientific evaluation. These decisions are often based upon economic and political imperatives and yet seldom evaluate their impact on clinical outcomes like diabetes related hospitalisation for complications (258). If diabetes models of care were subject to the same scrutiny as new drug evaluations, licensing would not be achieved in most instances (258). By critically evaluating the impact of all the primary care interventions and health professions and systemically and quantitatively synthesising data on glucose control and multiple cardiovascular risk control, this thesis was scientifically rigorous enough to inform the use this primary care based model of care in various regions. The management of people with diabetes now largely occurs in the primary care setting (24). Due the high prevalence of diabetes in the primary care, an up skilled comprehensive primary care is less likely to lead to non-elective hospitalisation even after controlling for a variety of patient demographic and disease characteristics. Primary care teams working collaboratively and seamlessly, combining various interventions tailor-made of for their local populations can improve cardiovascular risk control and prevent and increase in hospitalisations due to diabetes related complications.

Previous studies in both industrialized and developing countries around other disease areas show that regions with better primary care have better health outcomes, including total mortality rates, heart disease mortality rates, and infant mortality, and earlier detection of cancers such as colorectal cancer, breast cancer, uterine/cervical cancer, and melanoma (259, 260). The opposite is the case for higher specialist supply, which is associated with worse outcomes (259, 260). Comprehensiveness in primary care is therefore necessary in order not only to avoid unnecessary referrals to diabetes specialists, but also to facilitate the coordination of care and improve continuity of care.

References

1. Guariguata L, Whiting D, Hambleton I, Beagley J, Linnenkamp U, Shaw J. Global estimates of diabetes prevalence for 2013 and projections for 2035. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2014;103(2):137-49.

2. Pickup JC, Williams G. Textbook of diabetes. Wiley-Blackwell; 1991.

3. Joslin EP, Kahn CR. Joslin's Diabetes Mellitus: Edited by C. Ronald Kahn...[et Al.]. Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; 2005.

4. Turner RC, Cull CA, Frighi V, Holman RR, UK Prospective Diabetes Study (UKPDS) Group. Glycemic control with diet, sulfonylurea, metformin, or insulin in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus: progressive requirement for multiple therapies (UKPDS 49). JAMA. 1999;281(21):2005-12.

5. Thunander M, Thorgeirsson H, Torn C, Petersson C, Landin-Olsson M. Beta-Cell Function and Metabolic Control in Latent Autoimmune Diabetes in Adults with Early Insulin Versus Conventional Treatment: a 3-Year Follow-Up. Eur J Endocrinol. 2011 Feb;164(2):239-45.

6. Umpierrez GE, Smiley D, Kitabchi AE. Narrative review: ketosis-prone type 2 diabetes mellitus. Ann Intern Med. 2006;144(5):350-7.

7. Steinberger J, Daniels SR, American Heart Association Atherosclerosis, Hypertension, and Obesity in the Young Committee (Council on Cardiovascular Disease in the Young), American Heart Association Diabetes Committee (Council on Nutrition, Physical Activity, and Metabolism). Obesity, insulin resistance, diabetes, and cardiovascular risk in children: an American Heart Association scientific statement from the Atherosclerosis, Hypertension, and Obesity in the Young Committee (Council on Cardiovascular Disease in the Young) and the Diabetes Committee (Council on Nutrition, Physical Activity, and Metabolism). Circulation. 2003 Mar 18;107(10):1448-53.

8. Steinberger J, Moran A, Hong C, Jacobs DR, Sinaiko AR. Adiposity in childhood predicts obesity and insulin resistance in young adulthood. J Pediatr. 2001;138(4):469-73.

9. Sinha R, Fisch G. league B, Tamborlane" WV, Banyas B, Allen K, Savoye M, Rieger V, Taksali S, Barbetta G, Sherwin RS, Caprio S: Prevalence of impaired glucose tolerance among children and adolescents with marked obesity. N Engl J Med. 2002;346:802-10.

10. Wilmot EG, Davies MJ, Yates T, Benhalima K, Lawrence IG, Khunti K. Type 2 diabetes in younger adults: the emerging UK epidemic. Postgrad Med J. 2010 Dec;86(1022):711-8.

11. Silverstein JH, Rosenbloom AL. Treatment of type 2 diabetes mellitus in children and adolescents. Journal of Pediatric Endocrinology and Metabolism. 2000;13(Supplement):1403-10.

12. Seidu S, Davies MJ, Mostafa S, de Lusignan S, Khunti K. Prevalence and characteristics in coding, classification and diagnosis of diabetes in primary care. Postgrad Med J. 2014 Jan;90(1059):13-7.

13. Daneman D. Type 1 diabetes. The Lancet. 2006;367(9513):847-58.

14. Knip M, Veijola R, Virtanen SM, Hyoty H, Vaarala O, Akerblom HK. Environmental triggers and determinants of type 1 diabetes. Diabetes. 2005 Dec;54 Suppl 2:S125-36.

15. Diabetes Atlas, seventh edition [Internet].: International Diabetes Federation; 2015 [updated 2015; cited 04/10/2016]. Available from: <u>www.diabetesatlas.org</u>.

16. World Health Organization. Global health observatory data repository.Geneva, Switzerland: WHO, 2011. 2013.

17. American Diabetes Association. Economic costs of diabetes in the US in 2012. Diabetes Care 2013; 36: 1033–1046. Diabetes Care. 2013;36(6):1797.

18. Köster I, Von Ferber L, Ihle P, Schubert I, Hauner H. The cost burden of diabetes mellitus: the evidence from Germany—the CoDiM Study. Diabetologia. 2006;49(7):1498-504.

19. Yang W, Zhao W, Xiao J, Li R, Zhang P, Kissimova-Skarbek K, et al. Medical care and payment for diabetes in China: enormous threat and great opportunity. PloS one. 2012;7(9):e39513.

20. Hex N, Bartlett C, Wright D, Taylor M, Varley D. Estimating the current and future costs of Type 1 and Type 2 diabetes in the UK, including direct health costs and indirect societal and productivity costs. Diabetic Med. 2012;29(7):855-62.

21. Scarborough Pa, Bhatnagar P, Wickramasinghe K, Smolina K, Mitchell C, Rayner M. Coronary heart disease statistics 2010 edition. London: British Heart Foundation. 2010.

22. Allender S, Peto V, Scarborough P, Boxer A, Rayner M. Coronary heart disease statistics. . 2007.

23. Luengo-Fernandez R, Leal J, Gray A, Petersen S, Rayner M. Cost of cardiovascular diseases in the United Kingdom. Heart. 2006 Oct;92(10):1384-9.

24. Khunti K, Ganguli S. Who looks after people with diabetes: primary or secondary care? J R Soc Med. 2000 Apr;93(4):183-6.

25. Griffin S. Diabetes care in general practice: meta-analysis of randomised control trials. BMJ. 1998 Aug 8;317(7155):390-6.

26. Keenan HA, Costacou T, Sun JK, Doria A, Cavellerano J, Coney J, et al. Clinical factors associated with resistance to microvascular complications in diabetic patients of extreme disease duration: the 50-year medalist study. Diabetes Care. 2007 Aug;30(8):1995-7.

27. UK Prospective Diabetes Study (UKPDS) Group. Intensive blood-glucose control with sulphonylureas or insulin compared with conventional treatment and risk of complications in patients with type 2 diabetes (UKPDS 33). The Lancet. 1998;352(9131):837-53.

28. Fong DS, Aiello L, Gardner TW, King GL, Blankenship G, Cavallerano JD, et al. Retinopathy in diabetes. Diabetes Care. 2004 Jan;27 Suppl 1:S84-7.

29. Peter J. ABC of diabetes retinopathy. Br Med J. 2003;326:924-6.

30. Silverstein J, Klingensmith G, Copeland K, Plotnick L, Kaufman F, Laffel L, et al. Care of children and adolescents with type 1 diabetes: a statement of the American Diabetes Association. Diabetes Care. 2005 Jan;28(1):186-212.

31. Early Treatment Diabetic Retinopathy Study Research Group. Early photocoagulation for diabetic retinopathy: ETDRS report number 9. Ophthalmology. 1991;98(5):766-85.

32. Ciftci S, Sakalar YB, Unlu K, Keklikci U, Caca I, Dogan E. Intravitreal bevacizumab combined with panretinal photocoagulation in the treatment of open angle neovascular glaucoma. Eur J Ophthalmol. 2009 Nov-Dec;19(6):1028-33.

33. Early Treatment Diabetic Retinopathy Study Research Group. Photocoagulation for diabetic macular edema: Early Treatment Diabetic Retinopathy Study report no. 4. Int Ophthalmol Clin. 1987;27(4):265-72.

34. Vanholder R, Massy Z, Argiles A, Spasovski G, Verbeke F, Lameire N, et al. Chronic kidney disease as cause of cardiovascular morbidity and mortality. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2005 Jun;20(6):1048-56.

35. Gross JL, de Azevedo MJ, Silveiro SP, Canani LH, Caramori ML, Zelmanovitz T. Diabetic nephropathy: diagnosis, prevention, and treatment. Diabetes Care. 2005 Jan;28(1):164-76.

36. Marso SP, Daniels GH, Brown-Frandsen K, Kristensen P, Mann JF, Nauck MA, et al. Liraglutide and cardiovascular outcomes in type 2 diabetes. N Engl J Med. 2016;375(4):311-22.

37. Zinman B, Wanner C, Lachin JM, Fitchett D, Bluhmki E, Hantel S, et al. Empagliflozin, cardiovascular outcomes, and mortality in type 2 diabetes. N Engl J Med. 2015;373(22):2117-28.

38. Keane WF, Brenner BM, De Zeeuw D, Grunfeld J, Mcgill J, Mitch WE, et al. The risk of developing end-stage renal disease in patients with type 2 diabetes and nephropathy: the RENAAL study. Kidney Int. 2003;63(4):1499-507.

39. Lewis EJ, Hunsicker LG, Clarke WR, Berl T, Pohl MA, Lewis JB, et al. Renoprotective effect of the angiotensin-receptor antagonist irbesartan in patients with nephropathy due to type 2 diabetes. N Engl J Med. 2001;345(12):851-60.

40. Mason J, Khunti K, Stone M, Farooqi A, Carr S. Educational interventions in kidney disease care: a systematic review of randomized trials. American Journal of Kidney Diseases. 2008;51(6):933-51.

41. McMurray SD, Johnson G, Davis S, McDougall K. Diabetes education and care management significantly improve patient outcomes in the dialysis unit. American journal of kidney diseases. 2002;40(3):566-75.

42. Boulton AJ, Vinik AI, Arezzo JC, Bril V, Feldman EL, Freeman R, et al. Diabetic neuropathies: a statement by the American Diabetes Association. Diabetes Care. 2005 Apr;28(4):956-62.

43. Abbott C, Carrington A, Ashe H, Bath S, Every L, Griffiths J, et al. The North-West Diabetes Foot Care Study: incidence of, and risk factors for, new diabetic foot ulceration in a community-based patient cohort. Diabetic Med. 2002;19(5):377-84.

44. Maser RE, Mitchell BD, Vinik AI, Freeman R. The association between cardiovascular autonomic neuropathy and mortality in individuals with diabetes: a meta-analysis. Diabetes Care. 2003 Jun;26(6):1895-901.

45. Johannesson A, Larsson GU, Ramstrand N, Turkiewicz A, Wirehn AB, Atroshi I. Incidence of lower-limb amputation in the diabetic and nondiabetic general population: a 10-year population-based cohort study of initial unilateral and contralateral amputations and reamputations. Diabetes Care. 2009 Feb;32(2):275-80.

46. McIntosh A, Peters J, Young R, Hutchinson A, Chiverton R, Clarkson S, et al. Prevention and management of foot problems in type 2 diabetes: clinical guidelines and evidence. Sheffield: University of Sheffield. 2003.

47. NICE guideline [NG19] Diabetic foot problems: prevention and management [Internet]. London: NICE; 2016 [updated January 2016; cited 29/09/2016]. Available from: <u>https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng19</u>.

48. Larsson J, Stenström A, Apelqvist J, Agardh C. Decreasing incidence of major amputation in diabetic patients: a consequence of a multidisciplinary foot care team approach? Diabetic Med. 1995;12(9):770-6.

49. Gæde P, Lund-Andersen H, Parving H, Pedersen O. Effect of a multifactorial intervention on mortality in type 2 diabetes. N Engl J Med. 2008;358(6):580-91.

50. Paterson AD, Rutledge BN, Cleary PA, Lachin JM, Crow RS, Diabetes Control and Complications Trial/Epidemiology of Diabetes Interventions and Complications Research Group. The effect of intensive diabetes treatment on resting heart rate in type 1 diabetes: the Diabetes Control and Complications Trial/Epidemiology of Diabetes Interventions and Complications study. Diabetes Care. 2007 Aug;30(8):2107-12.

51. Control TD, Group CDR. Effect of intensive therapy on the development and progression of diabetic nephropathy in the Diabetes Control and Complications Trial. Kidney Int. 1995;47(6):1703-20.

52. Beckman JA, Creager MA, Libby P. Diabetes and atherosclerosis: epidemiology, pathophysiology, and management. JAMA. 2002;287(19):2570-81.

53. Laing S, Swerdlow A, Slater S, Burden A, Morris A, Waugh N, et al. Mortality from heart disease in a cohort of 23,000 patients with insulin-treated diabetes. Diabetologia. 2003;46(6):760-5.

54. Hogan P, Dall T, Nikolov P. Economic costs of diabetes in the US in 2002. Diabetes Care. 2003;26(3):917.

55. Duckworth W, Abraira C, Moritz T, Reda D, Emanuele N, Reaven PD, et al. Glucose Control and Vascular Complications in Veterans with Type 2 Diabetes. N Engl J Med. 2009 JAN 8 2009;360(2):129-U62.

56. Gerstein HC, Miller ME, Byington RP, Goff DC,Jr., Bigger JT, Buse JB, et al. Effects of intensive glucose lowering in type 2 diabetes. N Engl J Med. 2008 JUN 12 2008;358(24):2545-59.

57. Patel A, MacMahon S, Chalmers J, Neal B, Billot L, Woodward M, et al. Intensive blood glucose control and vascular outcomes in patients with type 2 diabetes. 2008.

58. Ross S, Gerstein HC, Eikelboom J, Anand SS, Yusuf S, Pare G. Mendelian randomization analysis supports the causal role of dysglycaemia and diabetes in the risk of coronary artery disease. Eur Heart J. 2015 Jun 14;36(23):1454-62.

59. Almdal T, Scharling H, Jensen JS, Vestergaard H. The independent effect of type 2 diabetes mellitus on ischemic heart disease, stroke, and death: a population-based study of 13 000 men and women with 20 years of follow-up. Arch Intern Med. 2004;164(13):1422-6.

60. Kannel WB, McGee DL. Diabetes and cardiovascular disease: the Framingham study. JAMA. 1979;241(19):2035-8.

61. Fox CS, Coady S, Sorlie PD, Levy D, Meigs JB, D'Agostino RB, et al. Trends in cardiovascular complications of diabetes. JAMA. 2004;292(20):2495-9.

62. Stratton IM, Adler AI, Neil HA, Matthews DR, Manley SE, Cull CA, et al. Association of glycaemia with macrovascular and microvascular complications of type 2 diabetes (UKPDS 35): prospective observational study. BMJ. 2000 Aug 12;321(7258):405-12.

63. Chaudhry HJ, McDermott B. Recognizing and improving patient nonadherence to statin therapy. Curr Atheroscler Rep. 2008;10(1):19-24.

64. Jackevicius CA, Mamdani M, Tu JV. Adherence with statin therapy in elderly patients with and without acute coronary syndromes. JAMA. 2002;288(4):462-7.

65. Ellis JJ, Erickson SR, Stevenson JG, Bernstein SJ, Stiles RA, Fendrick AM. Suboptimal statin adherence and discontinuation in primary and secondary prevention populations. Journal of general internal medicine. 2004;19(6):638-45.

66. Hemingway AHH. How should we balance individual and population benefits of statins for preventing cardiovascular disease? BMJ. 2011;342:313.

67. Gillies CL, Lambert PC, Abrams KR, Sutton AJ, Cooper NJ, Hsu RT, et al. Different strategies for screening and prevention of type 2 diabetes in adults: cost effectiveness analysis. BMJ. 2008 May 24;336(7654):1180-5.

68. Richardson G, Van Woerden HC, Morgan L, Edwards R, Harries M, Hancock E, et al. Healthy hearts—a community-based primary prevention programme to reduce coronary heart disease. BMC cardiovascular disorders. 2008;8(1):1.

69. Goyder E, Wild S, Fischbacher C, Carlisle J, Peters J. Evaluating the impact of a national pilot screening programme for type 2 diabetes in deprived areas of England. Fam Pract. 2008 Oct;25(5):370-5.

70. Lipton RB, Losey LM, Giachello A, Mendez J, Girotti MH. Attitudes and issues in treating Latino patients with type 2 diabetes: views of healthcare providers. Diabetes Educ. 1998;24(1):67-71.

71. Dalton AR, Bottle A, Okoro C, Majeed A, Millett C. Uptake of the NHS Health Checks programme in a deprived, culturally diverse setting: cross-sectional study. J Public Health (Oxf). 2011 Sep;33(3):422-9.

72. Smith S, Waterall J, Burden AC. An evaluation of the performance of the NHS Health Check programme in identifying people at high risk of developing type 2 diabetes. BMJ Open. 2013 Mar 5;3(3):10.1136/bmjopen,2012-002219.

73. Nice P. Preventing type 2 diabetes—risk identification and interventions for individuals at high risk. . 2012.

74. Preiss D, Khunti K, Sattar N. Combined cardiovascular and diabetes risk assessment in primary care. Diabetic Med. 2011;28(1):19-22.

75. Khunti K, Morris DH, Weston CL, Gray LJ, Webb DR, Davies MJ. Joint prevalence of diabetes, impaired glucose regulation, cardiovascular disease risk and chronic kidney disease in South Asians and White Europeans. PloS one. 2013;8(1):e55580.

76. Gholap N, Davies M, Patel K, Sattar N, Khunti K. Type 2 diabetes and cardiovascular disease in South Asians. Primary Care Diabetes. 2011;5(1):45-56.

77. Malik S, Billimek J, Greenfield S, Sorkin DH, Ngo-Metzger Q, Kaplan SH. Patient complexity and risk factor control among multimorbid patients with type 2 diabetes: results from the R2D2C2 study. Med Care. 2013 Feb;51(2):180-5.

78. Holman RR, Paul SK, Bethel MA, Matthews DR, Neil HAW. 10-year follow-up of intensive glucose control in type 2 diabetes. N Engl J Med. 2008;359(15):1577-89.

79. Hansson L, Zanchetti A, Carruthers SG, Dahlöf B, Elmfeldt D, Julius S, et al. Effects of intensive blood-pressure lowering and low-dose aspirin in patients with hypertension: principal results of the Hypertension Optimal Treatment (HOT) randomised trial. The Lancet. 1998;351(9118):1755-62.

80. Tight blood pressure control and risk of macrovascular and microvascular complications in type 2 diabetes: UKPDS 38. UK Prospective Diabetes Study Group. BMJ. 1998 Sep 12;317(7160):703-13.

81. Cooper-DeHoff RM, Gong Y, Handberg EM, Bavry AA, Denardo SJ, Bakris GL, et al. Tight blood pressure control and cardiovascular outcomes among hypertensive patients with diabetes and coronary artery disease. JAMA. 2010;304(1):61-8. 82. Vamos EP, Harris M, Millett C, Pape UJ, Khunti K, Curcin V, et al. Association of systolic and diastolic blood pressure and all cause mortality in people with newly diagnosed type 2 diabetes: retrospective cohort study. BMJ. 2012 Aug 30;345:e5567.

83. Unit ES. Efficacy and safety of cholesterol-lowering treatment: prospective metaanalysis of data from 90 056 participants in 14 randomised trials of statins. Lancet. 2005;366(9493):1267-78.

84. Ridker PM, Pradhan A, MacFadyen JG, Libby P, Glynn RJ. Cardiovascular benefits and diabetes risks of statin therapy in primary prevention: an analysis from the JUPITER trial. The Lancet. 2012;380(9841):565-71.

85. Coventry P, Lovell K, Dickens C, Bower P, Chew-Graham C, McElvenny D, et al. Integrated primary care for patients with mental and physical multimorbidity: cluster randomised controlled trial of collaborative care for patients with depression comorbid with diabetes or cardiovascular disease. BMJ. 2015 Feb 16;350:h638.

86. Bodenheimer T, Wagner EH, Grumbach K. Improving primary care for patients with chronic illness: the chronic care model, Part 2. JAMA. 2002;288(15):1909-14.

87. Domurat ES. Diabetes managed care and clinical outcomes: the Harbor City, California Kaiser Permanente diabetes care system. Am J Manag Care. 1999 Oct;5(10):1299-307.

88. Kar P. The 'super six' for the acute trust; all else under primary care? Practical Diabetes. 2011;28(7):308-9.

89. Rea R, Gregory S, Browne M, Iqbal M, Holloway S, Munir M, et al. Integrated diabetes care in Derby: New NHS organisations for new NHS challenges. Practical Diabetes. 2011;28(7):312-3.

90. Goenka N, Turner B, Vora J. Commissioning specialist diabetes services for adults with diabetes: summary of a Diabetes UK Task and Finish group report. Diabetic Med. 2011;28(12):1494-500.

91. Braga MF, Casanova A, Teoh H, Dawson KG, Gerstein HC, Fitchett DH, et al. Treatment gaps in the management of cardiovascular risk factors in patients with type 2 diabetes in Canada. Can J Cardiol. 2010;26(6):297-302.

92. American Diabetes Association. Standards of medical care in diabetes--2010. Diabetes Care. 2010 Jan;33 Suppl 1:S11-61.

93. Shojania KG, Ranji SR, McDonald KM, Grimshaw JM, Sundaram V, Rushakoff RJ, et al. Effects of quality improvement strategies for type 2 diabetes on glycemic control: a meta-regression analysis. JAMA. 2006;296(4):427-40.

94. Tricco AC, Ivers NM, Grimshaw JM, Moher D, Turner L, Galipeau J, et al. Effectiveness of quality improvement strategies on the management of diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. The Lancet. 2012;379(9833):2252-61.

95. Jiwa M, Meng X, Sriram D, Hughes J, Colagiuri S, Twigg S, et al. The management of Type 2 diabetes: a survey of Australian general practitioners. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2012;95(3):326-32.

96. Rayman G, Kilvert A. The crisis in diabetes care in England. BMJ. 2012 Aug 15;345:e5446.

97. Khunti K, Ganguli S. Who looks after people with diabetes: primary or secondary care? J R Soc Med. 2000 Apr;93(4):183-6.

98. van Avendonk MJ, Gorter KJ, van den Donk M, Rutten GE. Insulin therapy in type 2 diabetes is no longer a secondary care activity in the Netherlands. Primary care diabetes. 2009;3(1):23-8.

99. Steinbrook R. Future directions in industry funding of continuing medical education. Arch Intern Med. 2011;171(3):257-8.

100. Mercer SW, Guthrie B, Furler J, Watt GC, Hart JT. Multimorbidity and the inverse care law in primary care. BMJ. 2012 Jun 19;344:e4152.

101. van Weel C, Schellevis FG. Comorbidity and guidelines: conflicting interests. Lancet. 2006 Feb 18;367(9510):550-1.

102. Barnett K, Mercer SW, Norbury M, Watt G, Wyke S, Guthrie B. Epidemiology of multimorbidity and implications for health care, research, and medical education: a cross-sectional study. The Lancet. 2012;380(9836):37-43.

103. Lewis RQ, Rosen R, Goodwin N, Dixon J. Where next for integrated care organisations in the English NHS? Nuffield Trust London; 2010.

104. Ouwens M, Wollersheim H, Hermens R, Hulscher M, Grol R. Integrated care programmes for chronically ill patients: a review of systematic reviews. Int J Qual Health Care. 2005 Apr;17(2):141-6.

105. Fulop N. Integrated care: what can the evidence tell us. Presentation. NHS Confederation. Integrated care organisations: evidence and experience seminar. 11th Nov; 2008.

106. Reeve J, Blakeman T, Freeman GK, Green LA, James PA, Lucassen P, et al. Generalist solutions to complex problems: generating practice-based evidence--the example of managing multi-morbidity. BMC Fam Pract. 2013 Aug 7;14:112,2296-14-112.

107. Clifford RM, Davis WA, Batty KT, Davis TM, Fremantle Diabetes Study. Effect of a pharmaceutical care program on vascular risk factors in type 2 diabetes: the Fremantle Diabetes Study. Diabetes Care. 2005 Apr;28(4):771-6.

108. Cohen LB, Taveira TH, Khatana SA, Dooley AG, Pirraglia PA, Wu WC. Pharmacist-led shared medical appointments for multiple cardiovascular risk reduction in patients with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Educ. 2011 Nov-Dec;37(6):801-12.

109. Pinto SL, Lively BT, Siganga W, Holiday-Goodman M, Kamm G. Using the Health Belief Model to test factors affecting patient retention in diabetes-related pharmaceutical care services. Research in Social and Administrative Pharmacy. 2006;2(1):38-58.

110. Willis A, Rivers P, Gray LJ, Davies M, Khunti K. The effectiveness of screening for diabetes and cardiovascular disease risk factors in a community pharmacy setting. PloS one. 2014;9(4):e91157.

111. Houweling ST, Kleefstra N, Hateren KJ, Groenier KH, Meyboom-de Jong B, Bilo HJ. Can diabetes management be safely transferred to practice nurses in a primary care setting? A randomised controlled trial. J Clin Nurs. 2011;20(9-10):1264-72.

112. Guldberg T, Vedsted P, Kristensen J, Lauritzen T. Improved quality of Type 2 diabetes care following electronic feedback of treatment status to general practitioners: a cluster randomized controlled trial. Diabetic Med. 2011;28(3):325-32.

113. Khunti K, Gadsby R, Millett C, Majeed A, Davies M. Quality of diabetes care in the UK: comparison of published quality-of-care reports with results of the Quality and Outcomes Framework for Diabetes. Diabetic Med. 2007;24(12):1436-41.

114. Doran T, Kontopantelis E, Valderas JM, Campbell S, Roland M, Salisbury C, et al. Effect of financial incentives on incentivised and non-incentivised clinical activities: longitudinal analysis of data from the UK Quality and Outcomes Framework. BMJ. 2011 Jun 28;342:d3590.

115. Millett C, Gray J, Saxena S, Netuveli G, Khunti K, Majeed A. Ethnic disparities in diabetes management and pay-for-performance in the UK: the Wandsworth Prospective Diabetes Study. PLoS Med. 2007;4(6):e191.

116. Millett C, Netuveli G, Saxena S, Majeed A. Impact of pay for performance on ethnic disparities in intermediate outcomes for diabetes: a longitudinal study. Diabetes Care. 2009 Mar;32(3):404-9.

117. Ismail H, Wright J, Rhodes P, Scally A. Quality of care in diabetic patients attending routine primary care clinics compared with those attending GP specialist clinics. Diabetic Med. 2006;23(8):851-6.

118. Pastors JG, Warshaw H, Daly A, Franz M, Kulkarni K. The evidence for the effectiveness of medical nutrition therapy in diabetes management. Diabetes Care. 2002 Mar;25(3):608-13.

119. Huang MC, Hsu CC, Wang HS, Shin SJ. Prospective randomized controlled trial to evaluate effectiveness of registered dietitian-led diabetes management on glycemic and diet control in a primary care setting in Taiwan. Diabetes Care. 2010 Feb;33(2):233-9.

120. Barnes MD, Fairbanks J. Problem-Based Strategies Promoting Community Transformation: Implications for the Community Health Worker Model. Fam Community Health. 1997;20(1):54-65. 121. Eng E, Young R. Lay health advisors as community change agents. Fam Community Health. 1992;15(1):24-40.

122. Swider SM, McElmurry BJ. A women's health perspective in primary health care: A nursing and community health worker demonstration project in urban America. Fam Community Health. 1990;13(3):1-17.

123. Spencer MS, Rosland A, Kieffer EC, Sinco BR, Valerio M, Palmisano G, et al. Effectiveness of a community health worker intervention among African American and Latino adults with type 2 diabetes: a randomized controlled trial. Am J Public Health. 2011;101(12):2253-60.

124. Norris SL, Chowdhury FM, Van Le K, Horsley T, Brownstein JN, Zhang X, et al. Effectiveness of community health workers in the care of persons with diabetes. Diabetic Med. 2006;23(5):544-56.

125. Israel BA. Social networks and social support: implications for natural helper and community level interventions. Health Education & Behavior. 1985;12(1):65-80.

126. Two Feathers J, Kieffer EC, Palmisano G, Anderson M, Sinco B, Janz N, et al. Racial and Ethnic Approaches to Community Health (REACH) Detroit partnership: improving diabetes-related outcomes among African American and Latino adults. Am J Public Health. 2005;95(9):1552-60.

127. Satterfield D, Burd C, Valdez L, Hosey G, Shield JE. The "in-between people": Participation of community health representatives in diabetes prevention and care in American Indian and Alaska Native communities. Health Promotion Practice. 2002;3(2):166-75.

128. Tricco AC, Ivers NM, Grimshaw JM, Moher D, Turner L, Galipeau J, et al. Effectiveness of quality improvement strategies on the management of diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. The Lancet. 2012;379(9833):2252-61.

129. Shojania KG, Ranji SR, McDonald KM, Grimshaw JM, Sundaram V, Rushakoff RJ, et al. Effects of quality improvement strategies for type 2 diabetes on glycemic control: a meta-regression analysis. JAMA. 2006;296(4):427-40.

130. Stone MA, Charpentier G, Doggen K, Kuss O, Lindblad U, Kellner C, et al. Quality of care of people with type 2 diabetes in eight European countries: findings from the Guideline Adherence to Enhance Care (GUIDANCE) study. Diabetes Care. 2013 Sep;36(9):2628-38.

131. Davis D. Does CME work? An analysis of the effect of educational activities on physician performance or health care outcomes. The International Journal of Psychiatry in Medicine. 1998;28(1):21-39.

132. Davis D, O'Brien MAT, Freemantle N, Wolf FM, Mazmanian P, Taylor-Vaisey A. Impact of formal continuing medical education: do conferences, workshops, rounds, and other traditional continuing education activities change physician behavior or health care outcomes? JAMA. 1999;282(9):867-74. 133. Davis DA, Barnes BE, Fox RD. The continuing professional development of physicians: from research to practice. American Medical Association Press; 2003.

134. Cook DA, Levinson AJ, Garside S, Dupras DM, Erwin PJ, Montori VM. Internet-based learning in the health professions: a meta-analysis. JAMA. 2008;300(10):1181-96.

135. Renders CM, Valk GD, Griffin SJ, Wagner EH, Eijk Van JT, Assendelft WJ. Interventions to improve the management of diabetes in primary care, outpatient, and community settings: a systematic review. Diabetes Care. 2001 Oct;24(10):1821-33.

136. Davies MJ, Heller S, Skinner TC, Campbell MJ, Carey ME, Cradock S, et al. Effectiveness of the diabetes education and self management for ongoing and newly diagnosed (DESMOND) programme for people with newly diagnosed type 2 diabetes: cluster randomised controlled trial. BMJ. 2008 Mar 1;336(7642):491-5.

137. Khunti K, Gray LJ, Skinner T, Carey ME, Realf K, Dallosso H, et al. Effectiveness of a diabetes education and self management programme (DESMOND) for people with newly diagnosed type 2 diabetes mellitus: three year follow-up of a cluster randomised controlled trial in primary care. BMJ. 2012 Apr 26;344:e2333.

138. Cooper H, Booth K, Gill G. A trial of empowerment-based education in type 2 diabetes—Global rather than glycaemic benefits. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2008;82(2):165-71.

139. Deakin T, Cade J, Williams R, Greenwood D. Structured patient education: the Diabetes X-PERT Programme makes a difference. Diabetic Med. 2006;23(9):944-54.

140. Howorka K, Pumprla J, Wagner-Nosiska D, Grillmayr H, Schlusche C, Schabmann A. Empowering diabetes out-patients with structured education:: Short-term and long-term effects of functional insulin treatment on perceived control over diabetes. J Psychosom Res. 2000;48(1):37-44.

141. Clifford RM, Davis WA, Batty KT, Davis TM. Effect of a pharmaceutical care program on vascular risk factors in type 2 diabetes: the Fremantle Diabetes Study. Diabetes Care. 2005;28(4):771-6.

142. Cohen LB, Taveira TH, Khatana SA, Dooley AG, Pirraglia PA, Wu WC. Pharmacist-led shared medical appointments for multiple cardiovascular risk reduction in patients with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Educ. 2011;37(6):801-12.

143. De Pue JD, Dunsiger S, Seiden AD, Blume J, Rosen RK, Goldstein MG, et al. Nursecommunity health worker team improves diabetes care in American Samoa: Results of a randomized controlled trial. Diabetes Care. 2013 2013;36(7):1947-53.

144. Doucette WR, Witry MJ, Farris KB, McDonough RP. Community pharmacistprovided extended diabetes care. Ann Pharmacother. 2009;43(5):882-9.

145. Juul L, Maindal HT, Zoffmann V, Frydenberg M, Sandbaek A. Effectiveness of a training course for general practice nurses in motivation support in type 2 diabetes care: a cluster-randomised trial. PLoS ONE [Electronic Resource]. 2014;9(5):e96683.

146. Odegard PS, Goo A, Hummel J, Williams KL, Gray SL. Caring for poorly controlled diabetes mellitus: a randomized pharmacist intervention. Ann Pharmacother. 2005 Mar;39(3):433-40.

147. Rothman RL, Malone R, Bryant B, Shintani AK, Crigler B, Dewalt DA, et al. A randomized trial of a primary care-based disease management program to improve cardiovascular risk factors and glycated hemoglobin levels in patients with diabetes. Am J Med. 2005;118(3):276-84.

148. Hiss RG, Armbruster BA, Gillard ML, McClure LA. Nurse care manager collaboration with community-based physicians providing diabetes care a tandomized controlled trial. Diabetes Educ. 2007 May/June 2007;33(3):493-502.

149. Ali M, Schifano F, Robinson P, Phillips G, Doherty L, Melnick P, et al. Impact of community pharmacy diabetes monitoring and education programme on diabetes management: a randomized controlled study. Diabetic Med. 2012;29(9):e326-33.

150. Shea S, Weinstock RS, Teresi JA, Palmas W, Starren J, Cimino JJ, et al. A randomized trial comparing telemedicine case management with usual care in older, ethnically diverse, medically underserved patients with diabetes mellitus: 5 year results of the IDEATel study. Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association : JAMIA. 2009;16(4):446-56.

151. Spencer MS, Rosland AM, Kieffer EC, Sinco BR, Valerio M, Palmisano G, et al. Effectiveness of a community health worker intervention among African American and Latino adults with type 2 diabetes: a randomized controlled trial. Am J Public Health. 2011;101(12):2253-60.

152. Huang MC, Hsu CC, Wang HS, Shin SJ. Prospective randomized controlled trial to evaluate effectiveness of registered dietitian-led diabetes management on glycemic and diet control in a primary care setting in Taiwan. Diabetes Care. 2010;33(2):233-9.

153. Bellary S, O'Hare J, Raymond N, Gumber A, Mughal S, Szczepura A, et al. Enhanced diabetes care to patients of south Asian ethnic origin (the United Kingdom Asian Diabetes Study): a cluster randomised controlled trial. The Lancet. 2008 20080524;371(9626):1769-76.

154. Piatt GA, Orchard TJ, Emerson S, Simmons D, Songer TJ, Brooks MM, et al. Translating the chronic care model into the community: results from a randomized controlled trial of a multifaceted diabetes care intervention. Diabetes Care. 2006;29(4):811-7.

155. Reutens AT, Hutchinson R, Binh T, Cockram C, Deerochanawong C, Ho LT, et al. The GIANT study, a cluster-randomised controlled trial of efficacy of education of doctors about type 2 diabetes mellitus management guidelines in primary care practice. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2012;98(1):38-45.

156. Saenz A, Brito M, Moron I, Torralba A, Garcia-Sanz E, Redondo J. Development and validation of a computer application to aid the physician's decision-making process at the start of and during treatment with insulin in type 2 diabetes: a randomized and controlled trial. Journal of Diabetes Science & Technology. 2012 May;6(3):581-8.

157. Smith SA, Shah ND, Bryant SC, Christianson TJ, Bjornsen SS, Giesler PD, et al. Chronic care model and shared care in diabetes: randomized trial of an electronic decision support system. Mayo Clin Proc. 2008;83(7):747-57.

158. Smith SM, Bury G, O'Leary M, Shannon W, Tynan A, Staines A, et al. The North Dublin randomized controlled trial of structural diabetes shared care. Fam Pract. 2004;21(1):39-45.

159. Sperl-Hillen JM, O'Connor PJ, Rush WA, Johnson PE, Gilmer T, Biltz G, et al. Simulated physician learning program improves glucose control in adults with diabetes. Diabetes Care. 2010;33(8):1727-33.

160. King AB, Wolfe GS. Evaluation of a diabetes specialist-guided primary care diabetes treatment program. J Am Acad Nurse Pract. 2009;21(1):24-30.

161. Guldberg TL, Vedsted P, Kristensen JK, Lauritzen T. Improved quality of Type 2 diabetes care following electronic feedback of treatment status to general practitioners: a cluster randomized controlled trial. Diabetic Med. 2011;28(3):325-32.

162. Foy R, Eccles MP, Hrisos S, Hawthorne G, Steen N, Gibb I, et al. A cluster randomised trial of educational messages to improve the primary care of diabetes. Implementation science. 2011;6:129.

163. Olivarius NF, Beck-Nielsen H, Andreasen AH, Horder M, Pedersen PA. Randomised controlled trial of structured personal care of type 2 diabetes mellitus. BMJ. 2001 Oct 27;323(7319):970-5.

164. Peterson KA, Radosevich DM, O'Connor PJ, Nyman JA, Prineas RJ, Smith SA, et al. Improving Diabetes Care in Practice: findings from the TRANSLATE trial. Diabetes Care. 2008;31(12):2238-43.

165. Maislos M, Weisman D. Multidisciplinary approach to patients with poorly controlled type 2 diabetes mellitus: A prospective, randomized study. Acta Diabetol. 2004 June 2004;41(2):44-8.

166. O'Connor PJ, Desai J, Solberg LI, Reger LA, Crain AL, Asche SE, et al. Randomized trial of quality improvement intervention to improve diabetes care in primary care settings. Diabetes Care. 2005;28(8):1890-7.

167. Blackberry ID, Furler JS, Best JD, Chondros P, Vale M, Walker C, et al. Effectiveness of general practice based, practice nurse led telephone coaching on glycaemic control of type 2 diabetes: The Patient Engagement and Coaching for Health (PEACH) pragmatic cluster randomised controlled trial. BMJ (Online). 2013;347(7926).

168. Juul L, Maindal HT, Zoffmann V, Frydenberg M, Sandbaek A. A cluster randomised pragmatic trial applying Self-determination theory to type 2 diabetes care in general practice. BMC Family Practice. 2011;12:130.

169. Krass I, Armour CL, Mitchell B, Brillant M, Dienaar R, Hughes J, et al. The Pharmacy Diabetes Care Program: assessment of a community pharmacy diabetes service model in Australia. Diabetic Med. 2007;24(6):677-83.
170. Hermans M, Muls E, Nobels F, Krzentowski G, Claes N, Debacker N, et al. Evaluating benchmarking to optimize management of type 2 diabetes patients: The Belgian data from the optimise study. Acta Cardiol. 2011. 2011;66(1):124-5.

171. Peterson KA, Radosevich DM, O'Connor P, Nyman JA, Prineas RJ, Smith SA, et al. Improving diabetes care in practice. Diabetes Care. 2008 December 2008;31(12):2238-43.

172. Maislos M, Weisman D. Multidisciplinary approach to patients with poorly controlled type 2 diabetes mellitus: a prospective, randomized study. Acta Diabetol. 2004 Jun;41(2):44-8.

173. Thepwongsa I, Kirby C, Schattner P, Shaw J, Piterman L. Type 2 diabetes continuing medical education for general practitioners: what works? A systematic review. Diabetic Med. 2014;31(12):1488-97.

174. Langdown C, Peckham S. The use of financial incentives to help improve health outcomes: is the quality and outcomes framework fit for purpose? A systematic review. J Public Health (Oxf). 2014 Jun;36(2):251-8.

175. Khunti K, Gadsby R, Millett C, Majeed A, Davies M. Quality of diabetes care in the UK: comparison of published quality-of-care reports with results of the Quality and Outcomes Framework for Diabetes. Diabetic Med. 2007;24(12):1436-41.

176. Oxman AD, Thomson MA, Davis DA, Haynes RB. No magic bullets: a systematic review of 102 trials of interventions to improve professional practice. CMAJ. 1995 Nov 15;153(10):1423-31.

177. Sohn W, Ismail AI, Tellez M. Efficacy of educational interventions targeting primary care providers' practice behaviors: an overview of published systematic reviews. J Public Health Dent. 2004;64(3):164-72.

178. Boussageon R, Bejan-Angoulvant T, Saadatian-Elahi M, Lafont S, Bergeonneau C, Kassai B, et al. Effect of intensive glucose lowering treatment on all cause mortality, cardiovascular death, and microvascular events in type 2 diabetes: meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. Br Med J. 2011 JUL 26 2011;343:d4169.

179. Ray KK, Seshasai SRK, Wijesuriya S, Sivakumaran R, Nethercott S, Preiss D, et al. Effect of intensive control of glucose on cardiovascular outcomes and death in patients with diabetes mellitus: a meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. Lancet. 2009 MAY 23 2009;373(9677):1765-72.

180. Inzucchi SE, Bergenstal RM, Buse JB, Diamant M, Ferrannini E, Nauck M, et al. Management of Hyperglycemia in Type 2 Diabetes: A Patient-Centered Approach. Diabetes Care. 2012 JUN 2012;35(6):1364-79.

181. Turnbull F, Abraira C, Anderson R, Byington R, Chalmers J, Duckworth W, et al. Intensive glucose control and macrovascular outcomes in type 2 diabetes. Diabetologia. 2009;52(11):2288-98. 182. Sardar P, Udell JA, Chatterjee S, Bansilal S, Mukherjee D, Farkouh ME. Effect of Intensive Versus Standard Blood Glucose Control in Patients With Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus in Different Regions of the World: Systematic Review and Meta-analysis of Randomized Controlled Trials. J Am Heart Assoc. 2015 May 5;4(5):10.1161/JAHA.114.001577.

183. Udell JA, Cavender MA, Bhatt DL, Chatterjee S, Farkouh ME, Scirica BM. Glucoselowering drugs or strategies and cardiovascular outcomes in patients with or at risk for type 2 diabetes: a meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. The Lancet Diabetes & Endocrinology. 2015;3(5):356-66.

184. Turner RC, Holman RR, Cull CA, Stratton IM, Matthews DR, Frighi V, et al. Intensive blood-glucose control with sulphonylureas or insulin compared with conventional treatment and risk of complications in patients with type 2 diabetes (UKPDS 33). Lancet. 1998 SEP 12 1998;352(9131):837-53.

185. Gaede P, Lund-Andersen H, Parving H, Pedersen O. Effect of a multifactorial intervention on mortality in type 2 diabetes. N Engl J Med. 2008 FEB 7 2008;358(6):580-91.

186. Hsieh A, Ong PX, Molyneaux L, McGill MJ, Constantino M, Wu T, et al. Age of diabetes diagnosis and diabetes duration associate with glycated haemoglobin. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2014 2014-Apr;104(1):e1-4.

187. Duckworth WC, Abraira C, Moritz TE, Davis SN, Emanuele N, Goldman S, et al. The duration of diabetes affects the response to intensive glucose control in type 2 subjects: the VA Diabetes Trial. J Diabetes Complications. 2011;25(6):355-61.

188. Jadad AR, Moore RA, Carroll D, Jenkinson C, Reynolds DJM, Gavaghan DJ, et al. Assessing the quality of reports of randomized clinical trials: is blinding necessary? Control Clin Trials. 1996;17(1):1-12.

189. Griffin SJ, Borch-Johnsen K, Davies MJ, Khunti K, Rutten GEHM, Sandbaek A, et al. Effect of early intensive multifactorial therapy on 5-year cardiovascular outcomes in individuals with type 2 diabetes detected by screening (ADDITION-Europe): a cluster-randomised trial. Lancet. 2011 JUL 9 2011;378(9786):156-67.

190. Rahman M, Simmons R, Hennings S, Wareham N, Griffin S. How much does screening bring forward the diagnosis of type 2 diabetes and reduce complications? Twelve year follow-up of the Ely cohort. Diabetologia. 2012;55(6):1651-9.

191. Higgins JP, Green S. Cochrane handbook for systematic reviews of interventions. Wiley Online Library; 2008.

192. Sterne JA, Sutton AJ, Terrin N, Jones DR, Lau J, Carpenter J, et al. Recommendations for examining and interpreting funnel plot asymmetry in meta-analyses of randomised controlled trials. BMJ: British Medical Journal (Overseas & Retired Doctors Edition). 2011;343(7818).

193. Lunn D, Jackson C, Best N, Thomas A, Spiegelhalter D. The BUGS book: a practical introduction to Bayesian analysis. CRC Press; 2012.

194. University Group Diabetes Program. A study of the effects of hypoglycemic agents on vascular complications in patients with adult-onset diabetes: V. Supplementary report on nonfatal events in patients treated with tolbutamide.

. Diabetes. 1976(25):1129-53.

195. University Group Diabetes Program.

A study of the effects of hypoglycemic agents on vascular complications in patients with adult-onset diabetes: V. Evaluation of phenformin therapy Diabetes. 1975(24):65-184.

196. UK Prospective Diabetes Study (UKPDS) Group. Effect of intensive blood-glucose control with metformin on complications in overweight patients with type 2 diabetes (UKPDS 34). Lancet. 1998;352(9131):854-65.

197. University Group Diabetes Program. Effects of hypoglycemic agents on vascular complications in patients with adult-onset diabetes: VIII. Evaluation of insulin therapy: final report.

. Diabetes. 1982(31):1-81.

198. Yoshii H, Onuma T, Yamazaki T, Watada H, Matsuhisa M, Matsumoto M, et al. Effects of pioglitazone on macrovascular events in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus at high risk of stroke: The Profit-j Study. J Atheroscler Thromb. 2014;21(6):563-73.

199. Rachmani R, Slavachevski I, Berla M, Frommer-Shapira R, Ravid M. Teaching and motivating patients to control their risk factors retards progression of cardiovascular as well as microvascular sequelae of Type 2 diabetes mellitus—a randomized prospective 8 years follow-up study. Diabetic Med. 2005;22(4):410-4.

200. Riddle MC, Ambrosius WT, Brillon DJ, Buse JB, Byington RP, Cohen RM, et al. Epidemiologic relationships between A1C and all-cause mortality during a median 3.4year follow-up of glycemic treatment in the ACCORD trial. Diabetes Care. 2010 May;33(5):983-90.

201. Sharp SJ, Thompson SG. Analysing the relationship between treatment effect and underlying risk in meta-analysis: comparison and development of approaches. Stat Med. 2000;19(23):3251-74.

202. Yeap BB, McCaul KA, Flicker L, Hankey GJ, Almeida OP, Golledge J, et al. Diabetes, myocardial infarction and stroke are distinct and duration-dependent predictors of subsequent cardiovascular events and all-cause mortality in older men. The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism. 2014.

203. Zoungas S, Patel A, Chalmers J, de Galan BE, Li Q, Billot L, et al. Severe Hypoglycemia and Risks of Vascular Events and Death. N Engl J Med. 2010 OCT 7 2010;363(15):1410-8.

204. U.K. prospective diabetes study 16. Overview of 6 years' therapy of type II diabetes: a progressive disease. U.K. Prospective Diabetes Study Group. Diabetes. 1995 Nov;44(11):1249-58. 205. Ross S, Gerstein HC, Eikelboom J, Anand SS, Yusuf S, Pare G. Mendelian randomization analysis supports the causal role of dysglycaemia and diabetes in the risk of coronary artery disease. Eur Heart J. 2015 Mar 29.

206. Jorm LR, Leyland AH, Blyth FM, Elliott RF, Douglas KM, Redman S, et al. Assessing Preventable Hospitalisation InDicators (APHID): protocol for a data-linkage study using cohort study and administrative data. BMJ Open. 2012 Dec 12;2(6):10.1136/bmjopen,2012-002344. Print 2012.

207. England N. A&E attendances and emergency admissions 2014-15. NHS England website.Available at: www.england.nhs.uk/statistics/statistical-work-areas/ae-waiting-times-andactivity/weekly-ae-sitreps-2014-15/(accessed on 27 February 2015). 2015.

208. Kim S. Burden of hospitalizations primarily due to uncontrolled diabetes: implications of inadequate primary health care in the United States. Diabetes Care. 2007 May;30(5):1281-2.

209. Stone MA, Charpentier G, Doggen K, Kuss O, Lindblad U, Kellner C, et al. Quality of care of people with type 2 diabetes in eight European countries: findings from the Guideline Adherence to Enhance Care (GUIDANCE) study. Diabetes Care. 2013 Sep;36(9):2628-38.

210. Kar P. The Super Six model: Integrating diabetes care across Portsmouth and southeast Hampshire. Diabetes & Primary Care. 2012;14(5).

211. Bodenheimer T, Wagner EH, Grumbach K. Improving primary care for patients with chronic illness: the chronic care model, Part 2. JAMA. 2002;288(15):1909-14.

212. Wagner EH, Austin BT, Von Korff M. Organizing care for patients with chronic illness. Milbank Q. 1996:511-44.

213. Wagner EH, Austin BT, Von Korff M. Improving outcomes in chronic illness. Manag Care Q. 1996 Spring;4(2):12-25.

214. Bodenheimer T, Lorig K, Holman H, Grumbach K. Patient self-management of chronic disease in primary care. JAMA. 2002;288(19):2469-75.

215. Hepworth J, Askew D, Jackson C, Russell A. 'Working with the team': an exploratory study of improved type 2 diabetes management in a new model of integrated primary/secondary care. Australian journal of primary health. 2013;19(3):207-12.

216. Wilson A, O'Hare JP, Hardy A, Raymond N, Szczepura A, Crossman R, et al. Evaluation of the clinical and cost effectiveness of intermediate care clinics for diabetes (ICCD): a multicentre cluster randomised controlled trial. PLoS One. 2014 Apr 15;9(4):e93964.

217. Intermediate Community Diabetes Service (ICDS) (UHL Diabetes Care) [Internet].: University Hospitals of Leicester; 2011 [updated 2015-01-21;]. Available from: http://www.leicestershirediabetes.org.uk/340.html. 218. **National General Practice Profiles** [Internet]. England: Public Health England; 2015 [cited 11th June 2015]. Available from: <u>http://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/general-practice</u>.

219. Shapiro SS, Wilk MB. An analysis of variance test for normality (complete samples). Biometrika. 1965;52(3/4):591-611.

220. Razali NM, Wah YB. Power comparisons of shapiro-wilk, kolmogorov-smirnov, lilliefors and anderson-darling tests. Journal of Statistical Modeling and Analytics. 2011;2(1):21-33.

221. Cramer D. Fundamental statistics for social research: step-by-step calculations and computer techniques using SPSS for Windows. Psychology Press; 1998.

222. Cramer D, Howitt DL. The Sage dictionary of statistics: a practical resource for students in the social sciences. Sage; 2004.

223. Doane DP, Seward LE. Measuring skewness: a forgotten statistic. Journal of Statistics Education. 2011;19(2):1-18.

224. Narayan KV, Gregg EW, Fagot-Campagna A, Engelgau MM, Vinicor F. Diabetes—a common, growing, serious, costly, and potentially preventable public health problem. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2000;50:S77-84.

225. Diabetes Clinical Commissioning Group Profile 2013- NHS Portsmouth CCG [Internet]. York: National Cardiovascular Intelligence Network; 2013 [updated 16 December 2013.; cited 04/01/2016]. Available from: http://www.yhpho.org.uk/diabetescommunityhealthprofiles/CCGprofiles13/10R Diabet

es%20Profile%202013.pdf.

226. Diabetes Clinical Commissioning Group Profile 2013-NHS Leicester City CCG [Internet]. York: National Cardiovascular Intelligence Network; 2013 [updated 16 December 2013.; cited 04/01/2016]. Available from: <u>http://www.yhpho.org.uk/diabetescommunityhealthprofiles/CCGprofiles13/04C_Diabet</u> es%20Profile%202013.pdf.

227. Zhang J, Donald M, Baxter K, Ware R, Burridge L, Russell A, et al. Impact of an integrated model of care on potentially preventable hospitalizations for people with Type 2 diabetes mellitus. Diabetic Med. 2015.

228. Hepworth J, Askew D, Jackson C, Russell A. 'Working with the team': an exploratory study of improved type 2 diabetes management in a new model of integrated primary/secondary care. Australian journal of primary health. 2013;19(3):207-12.

229. Russell A, Baxter K, Askew D, Tsai J, Ware R, Jackson C. Model of care for the management of complex Type 2 diabetes managed in the community by primary care physicians with specialist support: an open controlled trial. Diabetic Med. 2013;30(9):1112-21.

230. McAlister FA, Lawson FM, Teo KK, Armstrong PW. Randomised trials of secondary prevention programmes in coronary heart disease: systematic review. BMJ. 2001 Oct 27;323(7319):957-62.

231. Clark AM, Hartling L, Vandermeer B, McAlister FA. Meta-analysis: secondary prevention programs for patients with coronary artery disease. Ann Intern Med. 2005;143(9):659-72.

232. Murphy E, Vellinga A, Byrne M, Cupples ME, Murphy AW, Buckley B, et al. Primary care organisational interventions for secondary prevention of ischaemic heart disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Br J Gen Pract. 2015 Jul;65(636):e460-8.

233. Niti M, Ng TP. Avoidable hospitalisation rates in Singapore, 1991-1998: assessing trends and inequities of quality in primary care. J Epidemiol Community Health. 2003 Jan;57(1):17-22.

234. van Walraven C, Bennett C, Jennings A, Austin PC, Forster AJ. Proportion of hospital readmissions deemed avoidable: a systematic review. CMAJ. 2011 Apr 19;183(7):E391-402.

235. Starfield B. Primary care: an increasingly important contributor to effectiveness, equity, and efficiency of health services. SESPAS report 2012. Gaceta Sanitaria. 2012;26:20-6.

236. Martinez-Gonzalez NA, Berchtold P, Ullman K, Busato A, Egger M. Integrated care programmes for adults with chronic conditions: a meta-review. Int J Qual Health Care. 2014 Oct;26(5):561-70.

237. Ouwens M, Wollersheim H, Hermens R, Hulscher M, Grol R. Integrated care programmes for chronically ill patients: a review of systematic reviews. Int J Qual Health Care. 2005 Apr;17(2):141-6.

238. Grol R, Grimshaw J. From best evidence to best practice: effective implementation of change in patients' care. The lancet. 2003;362(9391):1225-30.

239. Rea R, Gregory S, Browne M, Iqbal M, Holloway S, Munir M, et al. Integrated diabetes care in Derby: New NHS organisations for new NHS challenges. Practical Diabetes. 2011;28(7):312-3.

240. Bandura A. Self-efficacy: toward a unifying theory of behavioral change. Psychol Rev. 1977;84(2):191.

241. Chaiken S, Wood W, Eagly AH. Principles of persuasion. . 1996.

242. Leventhal H, Meyer D, Nerenz D. The common sense representation of illness danger. Contributions to medical psychology. 1980;2:7-30.

243. Finkelstein J, Knight A, Marinopoulos S, Gibbons MC, Berger Z, Aboumatar H, et al. Enabling patient-centered care through health information technology. Evid Rep Technol Assess (Full Rep). 2012 Jun;(206)(206):1-1531. 244. Wright JT, Williamson JD, Whelton PK, Snyder JK, Sink KM, Rocco MV, et al. A randomized trial of intensive versus standard blood-pressure control. N Engl J Med. 2015;373(22):2103-16.

245. Beran D, Yudkin JS. Diabetes care in sub-Saharan Africa. The Lancet. 2006;368(9548):1689-95.

246. Leggat J, Orzol SM, Hulbert-Shearon TE, Golper TA, Jones CA, Held PJ, et al. Noncompliance in hemodialysis: predictors and survival analysis. American Journal of Kidney Diseases. 1998;32(1):139-45.

247. Buck D, Jacoby A, Baker GA, Chadwick DW. Factors influencing compliance with antiepileptic drug regimes. Seizure. 1997;6(2):87-93.

248. Starfield B. Primary care: concept, evaluation, and policy. Oxford University Press, USA; 1992.

249. Blankfield RP, Kelly RB, Alemagno SA, King CM. Continuity of care in a family practice residency program. Impact on physician satisfaction. J Fam Pract. 1990 Jul;31(1):69-73.

250. Hjortdahl P, Laerum E. Continuity of care in general practice: effect on patient satisfaction. BMJ. 1992 May 16;304(6837):1287-90.

251. Weyrauch KF. Does continuity of care increase HMO patients' satisfaction with physician performance? J Am Board Fam Pract. 1996 Jan-Feb;9(1):31-6.

252. DiMatteo MR, Hays R. The significance of patients' perceptions of physician conduct. J Community Health. 1980;6(1):18-34.

253. Christakis DA, Wright JA, Zimmerman FJ, Bassett AL, Connell FA. Continuity of care is associated with high-quality careby parental report. Pediatrics. 2002 Apr;109(4):e54.

254. Becker MH, Drachman RH, Kirscht JP. Predicting mothers' compliance with pediatric medical regimens. J Pediatr. 1972;81(4):843-54.

255. Christakis DA, Mell L, Koepsell TD, Zimmerman FJ, Connell FA. Association of lower continuity of care with greater risk of emergency department use and hospitalization in children. Pediatrics. 2001 Mar;107(3):524-9.

256. Gill JM, Mainous AG,3rd. The role of provider continuity in preventing hospitalizations. Arch Fam Med. 1998 Jul-Aug;7(4):352-7.

257. Wasson JH, Sauvigne AE, Mogielnicki RP, Frey WG, Sox CH, Gaudette C, et al. Continuity of outpatient medical care in elderly men: a randomized trial. JAMA. 1984;252(17):2413-7.

258. Hillman KM. Restructuring hospital services. Med J Aust. 1998 Sep 7;169(5):239.

259. Macinko J, Starfield B, Erinosho T. The impact of primary healthcare on population health in low- and middle-income countries. J Ambul Care Manage. 2009 Apr-Jun;32(2):150-71.

260. Starfield B, Shi L, Macinko J. Contribution of primary care to health systems and health. Milbank Q. 2005;83(3):457-502.

8.0 Appendices

8.01 Appendix 2.1

Interventions targeting primary care professionals on improvement of diabetes outcomes. (Medline)

	You type in	MeSH headings to be selected from those that
		display
1	Education	Exp Education, Continuing/
		Exp Education, Graduate/
		Exp Education, graduate, continuing
		(note: I have assumed we are not interested in
_		undergraduate education)
2	Audit	Exp Clinical Audit/
3	Feedback	"feedback" MeSH headings are suitable)
_		psychological
4	Financial incentive*	Reimbursement, Incentive/
		Physician Incentive Plans/
		Reward/
5	Clinician reminder*	Quality of care
		Reminder system
6	Follow up	Treatment outcomes/
7	Professional roles	Exp Professional Role/
8	Medical records	Exp Medical Records/
9	Reminder systems	Reminder systems/
10	Primary care	Exp Primary Health Care
11	Primary health care	
12	General practice	Exp General Practice/
13	General practitioner*	
14	Nurse practitioner*	Exp Nurse Practitioners/
15	Diabet* nurses.mp.	
16	Diabetes specialist nurses.mp	
17	Community health nurse*	Community Health Nursing/ or Community Health
		Services/

18	Family practice	(Family Practice/ is included if you explode General Practice/)
19	GP or GPs	
20	Community health clinic	Community Health Centers/
21	Optometry	Optometry/
22	Optometrist*	Optometrist*.mp.
23	Pharmacist*	Pharmacists/
24	Community setting	Community setting.mp.
25	Community care	
26	Diabetes outcome*	Diabetes outcome*.mp.
27	Diabetic outcome*	Diabetic outcome*.mp.
28	Process* of care	Process* of care.mp.
29	Health metric*	
30	HbA1c	Hemoglobin A, Glycosylated
31	Glycosylated and (haemoglobin* or hemoglobin*)	
32	Glycated and (haemoglobin* or hemoglobin*)	
33	Lipids	
34	Exp Lipids/bl	
35	Blood sugar*	Blood Glucose/
36	Blood glucose	
37	LDL	Cholesterol, LDL (Lipoproteins, LDL is also available, and if you explode it you also retrieve Cholesterol, LDL)
38	HDL	Cholesterol, HDL (Lipoproteins, HDL is also available, and if you explode it you also retrieve Cholesterol, HDL)
39	Triglyceride*	Triglycerides/
40	Cholesterol	Cholesterol/
41	Quality of life	"Quality of Life"/
42	SF36 or SF 36	

43 Short form 36

Short form 36.mp

Exp Hypertension/

Blood pressure determination/

- 44 Episode* and hypoglyc*
- 45 Blood pressure Blood pressure/
- 46 Hypertension
- **47** Blood pressure measurement
- 48 OR/1-9
- 49 OR/10-25
- 50 OR/26-47
- 51 58 AND 59 AND 60
- 52 randomized controlled trials as topic/
- 53 randomized controlled trial/
- 54 random allocation/
- 55 double blind method/
- 56 single blind method/
- 57 clinical trial/
- **58** clinical trial phase i.pt.
- 59 clinical trial phase ii.pt.
- 60 clinical trial phase iii.pt.
- 61 clinical trial phase iv.pt.
- 62 controlled clinical trial.pt.
- 63 randomized controlled trial.pt.
- 64 multicenter study.pt.
- 65 clinical trial.pt.
- 66 exp clinical trial as topic/
- 67 or/52-66

68

(clinical adj trial\$).tw.

- 69 ((singl\$ or doubl\$ or treb\$ or tripl\$) adj (blind\$3 or mask\$3)).tw.
- 70 PLACEBOS/
- 71 placebo\$.tw.
- 72 randomly allocated.tw.

73

(allocated adj2 random\$).tw

- 74 or/68-73
- **75** 67 or 74
- 76 case report.tw.
- 77 letter/
- 78 historical article/
- 79 or/76-78
- 80 75 not 79
- 81 49 and 50 and 51

82

80 and 81

- 83 exp Diabetes Mellitus, Type 1/
- 84 exp Diabetes, Gestational/
- 85 exp Diabetes Mellitus, Type 2/
- 86 exp Prediabetic State/
- 87 83 or 84 or 85 or 86
 - 82 and 87 131 artilces

Notes

88

Specific diabetes terms suggested. Enter them as searches 83 onwards and then "OR" those searches together. Then AND the result of that with set 82.

Type in the term in the left column. If a MeSH term is shown in the right column, select it and explode it if "exp" is indicated. Then click continue.

If the term in the left column has an exp or a / then it is a MeSH term and you need to type in the whole string as shown, with the exp and /

For sets 48 onwards, type in the string as shown ("or/1-8" is short way of writing "1 or 2 or 3 or 4 or 5 or 6 or 7 or 8")

8.02 Appendix 4.01 Paired t-tests for baseline characteristics.

Paired Samples	Statistics				
		Mean	N	Std. Deviation	Std. Error Mean
Det 1	Density of the factory Density of	22.2250	0	12.00426	4.24445
Pair 1	Deprivation in Core Practice	33.3250	8	12.00426	4.24415
	eDepreviation	34.0375	8	11.04613	3.90540
		0 110070	Ŭ	1101010	
Pair 2	c_%male	52.5525	8	3.69700	1.30709
	e_%male	49.4000	8	2.54895	.90119
D 1 0		11.0100		0.005.00	1 20222
Pair 3	c_ % over 65	11.3100	8	3.93740	1.39208
	e % over 65	14.2000	8	4.05322	1,43303
		1.12000	Ŭ		1.15000
Pair 4	c_Mean%achieving all 4	70.3419	8	10.61191	3.75187
	e_Mean%achieving all 4	78.0938	8	5.60271	1.98086
D : 5		5010		07204	20000
Pair 5	c_% of Any admission with T2 Diabetes and Non-fatal	.7813	8	.87391	.30898
	Myocardial Infarction or Non-fatal Stroke or major e % of Any admission with T2 Diabetes and Non-fatal	9300	8	66650	23565
	Myocardial Infarction or Non-fatal Stroke or major	.,500	0	.00030	.23303
Pair 6	c_% of Non-elective bed days per adult population	3.8175	8	1.62379	.57410
	over 17 years in 2013				
	e_% of Non-elective bed days per adult population	5.5788	8	2.09441	.74049
	over 17 years in 2013				

Paired Samples Corre	elations			
		Ν	Correlation	Sig.
Pair 1	Deprivation in Core Practice & eDepreviation	8	.828	.011
Pair 2	c_%male & e_%male	8	.704	.051
Pair 3	c_% over 65 & e_% over 65	8	147	.729
Pair 4	c_Mean%achieving all 4 & e_Mean%achieving all 4	8	.299	.472
Pair 5	$c_\%$ of Any admission with T2 Diabetes and Non-fatal Myocardial	8	181	.668
	Infarction or Non-fatal Stroke or major foot amputations n the same			
	spell per adult population over 17 years in 2013 & e_% of Any			
	admission with T2 Diabetes and Non-fatal Myocardial Infarction or			
	Non-fatal Stroke or major foot amputations n the same spell per adult			
Pair 6	c_% of Non-elective bed days per adult population over 17 years in	8	.200	.634
	2013 & e_% of Non-elective bed days per adult population over 17			
	years in 2013			

Paired Samples Test									
Paired Differences						t	df	Sig. (2-	
		Mean	Std. Deviation	Std. Error	95% Confidence Interval of the				tailed)
				Mean	Lower	Upper			
Pair	Deprivation in Core Practice -	71250	6.81688	2.41013	-6.41155	4.98655	296	7	.776
1	eDepreviation								
Pair	c_%male - e_%male	3.15250	2.62451	.92791	.95835	5.34665	3.397	7	.011
2									
Pair	c_ % over 65 - e_ % over 65	-2.89000	6.05071	2.13925	-7.94852	2.16852	-1.351	7	.219
3									
Pair	c_Mean%achieving all 4 -	-7.75187	10.41443	3.68206	-16.45856	.95481	-2.105	7	.073
4	e_Mean%achieving all 4								

Pair	c_% of Any admission with T2	14875	1.19125	.42117	-1.14466	.84716	353	7	.734
5	Diabetes and Non-fatal								
	Myocardial Infarction or Non-								
	fatal Stroke or major foot								
	amputations n the same spell								
	per adult population over 17								
	years in 2013 - e_% of Any								
	admission with T2 Diabetes								
	and Non-fatal Myocardial								
	Infarction or Non-fatal Stroke								
	or major foot amputations n								
	the same spell per adult								
	population over 17 years in								
	2013								
Pair	c_% of Non-elective bed days	-1.76125	2.37898	.84110	-3.75012	.22762	-2.094	7	.075
6	per adult population over 17								
	years in 2013 - e_% of Non-								
	elective bed days per adult								
	population over 17 years in								
	2013								

8.03 Appendix 4.02

A simple linear regression was calculated to predict the difference in non-elective bed days between the matched core and enhanced practice upon difference between the % male in the core practices and the enhanced practices. Preliminary analyses were performed to ensure to ensure there was no violation of assumption of normality and linearity. A non-significant regression equation was found F(1,6) = 0.023, P= 0.89 with an R2 of -0.16

Descriptive Statistics							
	Mean	Std. Deviation	N				
Difference between changed in Non-elective bed	-2.1975	3.72902	8				
days between core and enhanced practices.							
Difference between percentage male in core and	3.1525	2.62451	8				
enhanced practices							

Correlations			
		Difference between changed in	Difference between percentage
		Non-elective bed days between	male in core and enhanced
		core and enhanced practices.	practices
Pearson Correlation	Difference between changed in Non-elective bed days	1.000	.062
	between core and enhanced practices.		
	Difference between percentage male in core and enhanced	.062	1.000
	practices		
Sig. (1-tailed)	Difference between changed in Non-elective bed days	•	.442
	between core and enhanced practices.		
	Difference between percentage male in core and enhanced	.442	•
	practices		
N	Difference between changed in Non-elective bed days	8	8
	between core and enhanced practices.		
	Difference between percentage male in core and enhanced	8	8
	practices		

Variables Entered/Removed ^a								
Model	Variables Entered	Variables Removed	Method					
1	Difference between percentage		Enter					
	male in core and enhanced							
	practices ^b							
a. Dependent Variable: Difference between changed in Non-elective bed days between core and enhanced practices.								
b. All requested variables entered.								

Model Summary ^b									
Model	R	R Square	Adjusted R Square	Std. Error of the Estimate					
1	.062ª	.004	162	4.02013					
a. Predictors: (Constant), Difference between percentage male in core and enhanced practices									
b. Dependent Var	b. Dependent Variable: Difference between changed in Non-elective bed days between core and enhanced practices.								

ANOVAa								
Model		Sum of Squares df		Mean Square	F	Sig.		
1	Regression	.370	1	.370	.023	.885 ^b		
	Residual	96.969	6	16.161				
	Total	97.339	7					
a. Depender	nt Variable: Difference	between changed in Non	-elective bed days	s between core and enha	nced practices.			
b. Predictor	rs: (Constant), Differer	nce between percentage n	nale in core and en	nhanced practices				

Coefficie	Coefficients ^a								
Model		Unstandardized Coefficients		Standardized	t	Sig.	95.0% Confidence Interval for B		
				Coefficients	Coefficients				
		В	Std. Error	Beta			Lower Bound	Upper Bound	
1	(Constant)	-2.474	2.313		-1.069	.326	-8.134	3.187	
	Difference between	.088	.579	.062	.151	.885	-1.329	1.504	
	percentage male in core and								
	enhanced practices								
a. Depend	a. Dependent Variable: Difference between changed in Non-elective bed days between core and enhanced practices.								

Residuals Statistics ^a							
	Mini	Maxi	Mean	Std.	Ν		
	mum	mum		Deviation			
Predicted Value	-	-	-	.23001	8		
	2.553	1.904	2.19				
	5	1	75				
Residual	-	4.302	.000	3.72192	8		
	4.961	10	00				
	12						
Std. Predicted	-	1.275	.000	1.000	8		
Value	1.548						
Std. Residual	-	1.070	.000	.926	8		
	1.234						
a. Dependent Variable: I	Difference betw	ween changed	in Non-electiv	ve bed days betwe	en core		
and enhanced practices.							

8.04 Appendix 4.03

A simple linear regression was calculated to predict the difference in first outpatients' appointment between the matched core and enhanced practice upon difference between the % male in the core practices and the enhanced practices. Preliminary analyses were performed to ensure to ensure there was no violation of assumption of normality and linearity. A non-significant regression equation was found F(1,6) = 0.69, P = 0.44 with an R2 of -0.046

Descriptive Statistics					
	Mean	Std. Deviation	N		
Difference between changed in first outpatient	2250	5.93747	8		
appointment between core and enhanced					
practices.					
Difference between percentage male in core and	3.1525	2.62451	8		
enhanced practices					

Correlations			
		Difference between changed in	Difference between percentage
		first outpatient appointment	male in core and enhanced
		between core and enhanced	practices
		practices.	
Pearson Correlation	Difference between changed in first outpatient	1.000	.322
	appointment between core and enhanced practices.		
	Difference between percentage male in core and enhanced	.322	1.000
	practices		
Sig. (1-tailed)	Difference between changed in first outpatient	•	.218
	appointment between core and enhanced practices.		
	Difference between percentage male in core and enhanced	.218	•
	practices		
Ν	Difference between changed in first outpatient	8	8
	appointment between core and enhanced practices.		
	Difference between percentage male in core and enhanced	8	8
	practices		

Variables Entered/Removed^a

Model	Variables Entered	Variables Removed	Method		
1	Difference between percentage male in core and enhanced practices ^b		Enter		
a. Dependent Variable: Difference between changed in first outpatient appointment between core and enhanced practices.					

b. All requested variables entered.

Model Summary ^b								
Model	R	R Square	Adjusted R Square	Std. Error of the Estimate				
1	.322 ^a	.104	046	6.07180				
a. Predictors: (Constant), Difference between percentage male in core and enhanced practices								
b. Dependent Var	b. Dependent Variable: Difference between changed in first outpatient appointment between core and enhanced practices.							

ANOVA^a

Model		Sum of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.
1	Regression	25.574	1	25.574	.694	.437 ^b
	Residual	221.201	6	36.867		
	Total	246.775	7			

a. Dependent Variable: Difference between changed in first outpatient appointment between core and enhanced practices.

b. Predictors: (Constant), Difference between percentage male in core and enhanced practices

Coefficients ^a								
Model		Unstandardiz	zed	Standardized	t	Sig.	95.0%	Confidence
		Coefficients		Coefficients			Interval for B	
		В	Std.	Beta			Lower	Upper
			Error				Bound	Bound
1	(Constant)	-2.521	3.494		-	.498	-11.070	6.028
					.722			
	Difference between	.728	.874	.322	.833	.437	-1.411	2.868
	percentage male in							
	core and enhanced							
	practices							
a. Dep	endent Variable: Difference	e between char	nged in first ou	tpatient appointme	ent between	core and e	enhanced praction	ces.

Residuals Statistics ^a							
	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	Std. Deviation	Ν		
Predicted Value	-3.1837	2.2129	2250	1.91140	8		
Residual	-6.20202	9.28706	.00000	5.62140	8		
Std. Predicted Value	-1.548	1.275	.000	1.000	8		
Std. Residual	-1.021	1.530	.000	.926	8		

a. Dependent Variable: Difference between changed in first outpatient appointment between core and enhanced practices.

8.05 Appendix 4.04

A simple linear regression was calculated to predict the difference in admissions with type 2 diabetes (and non-fatal myocardial infarction or non-fatal stroke or foot amputations in the same spell) between the matched core and enhanced practice, upon difference between the % male in the core practices and the enhanced practices. Preliminary analyses were performed to ensure to ensure there was no violation of assumption of normality and linearity. A non-significant regression equation was found F(1,6) = 0.26, P = 0.63 with an R2 of -0.12

Descriptive StatisticsImage: StatisticsMeanStd. DeviationNDifference between changed in any admission with T2 Diabetes and non-
fatal myocardial infarction or non-fatal stroke or major foot amputations In
the same spell between core and enhanced practices-30381.376118Difference between percentage male in core and enhanced practices3.15252.624518

Correlations

		Difference between changed in	Difference between percentage
		any admission with T2 Diabetes	male in core and enhanced
		and non-fatal myocardial	practices
		infarction or non-fatal stroke or	
Pearson Correlation	Difference between changed in any admission with T2 Diabetes	1.000	.205
	and non-fatal myocardial infarction or non-fatal stroke or		
	major foot amputations In the same spell between core and		
	enhanced practices		
	Difference between percentage male in core and enhanced	.205	1.000
	practices		
Sig. (1-tailed)	Difference between changed in any admission with T2 Diabetes		.313
	and non-fatal myocardial infarction or non-fatal stroke or		
	major foot amputations In the same spell between core and		
	enhanced practices		
	Difference between percentage male in core and enhanced	.313	•
	practices		
Ν	Difference between changed in any admission with T2 Diabetes	8	8
	and non-fatal myocardial infarction or non-fatal stroke or		
	major foot amputations In the same spell between core and		
	enhanced practices		
	Difference between percentage male in core and enhanced	8	8
	practices		

Variables Entered/Removed ^a						
Model	Variables Entered	Variables Removed	Method			
1	Difference between percentage	•	Enter			
	male in core and enhanced					
	practices ^b					
a. Dependent Variable: Difference between changed in any admission with T2 Diabetes and non-fatal myocardial infarction or non-						
fatal stroke or major foot amputations In the same spell between core and enhanced practices						
b. All requested variables entered.						

Model Summary ^b							
Model	R	R Square	Adjusted R Square	Std. Error of the Estimate			
1	.205ª	.042	118	1.45486			
a. Predictors: (Constant), Difference between percentage male in core and enhanced practices							
b. Dependent Variable: Difference between changed in any admission with T2 Diabetes and non-fatal myocardial infarction or non-fatal stroke or major foot amputations In							
the same spell between core and enhanced practices							

ANOVA ^a							
Model		Sum of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.	
1	Regression	.556	1	.556	.263	.627 ^b	
	Residual	12.700	6	2.117			
	Total	13.256	7				
a. Dependent Variable: Difference between changed in any admission with T2 Diabetes and non-fatal myocardial infarction or non-fatal stroke or major foot amputations In the							
same spell between core and enhanced practices							
b. Predictors: (b. Predictors: (Constant), Difference between percentage male in core and enhanced practices						

Coefficientes								
Coefficier	Coemcients ^a							
Model		Unstandardized Coefficients		Standardized Coefficients	t	Sig.	95.0% Confidence Interval for B	
		В	Std. Error	Beta			Lower Bound	Upper Bound
1	(Constant)	642	.837		767	.472	-2.691	1.406
	Difference between	.107	.210	.205	.513	.627	405	.620
	percentage male in core							
	and enhanced practices							
a. Dependent Variable: Difference between changed in any admission with T2 Diabetes and non-fatal myocardial infarction or non-fatal stroke or major foot amputations In the same spell between								
core and enhanced practices								

Residuals Statistics ^a					
	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	Std. Deviation	N
Predicted Value	7401	.0558	3037	.28187	8
Residual	-2.45577	1.90755	.00000	1.34694	8
Std. Predicted Value	-1.548	1.275	.000	1.000	8
Std. Residual	-1.688	1.311	.000	.926	8
a. Dependent Variable: Difference between changed in any admission with T2 Diabetes and non-fatal myocardial infarction or non-fatal stroke or major foot amputations In the same spell between					
core and enhanced practices					

8.06 Appendix 4.05

A simple linear regression was calculated to predict the difference in admission with type 2 diabetes, primary or secondary- sensitivity analysis, between the matched core and enhanced practice, upon difference between the % male in the core practices and the enhanced practices. Preliminary analyses were performed to ensure to ensure there was no violation of assumption of normality and linearity. A non-significant regression equation was found F(1,6) = 2.12, P = 0.20 with an R2 of 0.14

Descriptive Statistics					
	Mean	Std. Deviation	Ν		
Difference between changed in admissions with a	-2.7822	6.56824	8		
diagnosis of T2 diabetes, primary or secondary -					
for sensitivity analysis between core and enhanced					
practices.					
Difference between percentage male in core and	3.1525	2.62451	8		
enhanced practices					

		Difference between changed in	Difference between percentage
		admissions with a diagnosis of	male in core and enhanced
		T2 diabetes, primary or	practices
		secondary - for sensitivity	
		analysis between core and	
		enhanced practices.	
Pearson Correlation	Difference between changed in admissions with a diagnosis	1.000	511
	of T2 diabetes, primary or secondary - for sensitivity		
	analysis between core and enhanced practices.		
	Difference between percentage male in core and enhanced	511	1.000
	practices		
Sig. (1-tailed)	Difference between changed in admissions with a diagnosis		.098
	of T2 diabetes, primary or secondary - for sensitivity		
	analysis between core and enhanced practices.		
	Difference between percentage male in core and enhanced	.098	
	practices		
N	Difference between changed in admissions with a diagnosis	8	8
	of T2 diabetes, primary or secondary - for sensitivity		
	analysis between core and enhanced practices.		
	Difference between percentage male in core and enhanced	8	8
	practices		

Correlations

Variables Entered/Removed ^a					
Model	Variables Entered	Variables Removed	Method		
1	Differencebetweenpercentagemaleincoreandenhancedpracticesb </td <td>•</td> <td>Enter</td>	•	Enter		
a. Dependent Variable: Difference between changed in admissions with a diagnosis of T2 diabetes, primary or secondary - for sensitivity analysis between core and enhanced practices.					
b. All requested varial	oles entered.				

Model Summary^b

Model	R	R Square	Adjusted R Square	Std. Error of the Estimate
1	.511ª	.261	.138	6.09994

a. Predictors: (Constant), Difference between percentage male in core and enhanced practices

b. Dependent Variable: Difference between changed in admissions with a diagnosis of T2 diabetes, primary or secondary - for sensitivity analysis between core and enhanced practices.
Coefficients ^a									
Model		Unstandardiz	zed	Standardized	t	Sig.	95.0%	Confidence	
		Coefficients		Coefficients			Interval for B		
		В	Std.	Beta			Lower	Upper	
			Error				Bound	Bound	
1	(Constant)	1.246	3.510		.355	.735	-7.342	9.835	
	Difference between	-1.278	.878	511	-	.196	-3.427	.872	
	percentage male in				1.455				
	core and enhanced								
	practices								
a Dam	a Dependent Veriable. Difference between shared in admissions with a diamonic of T2 diabetes primery or accordance for								

a. Dependent Variable: Difference between changed in admissions with a diagnosis of T2 diabetes, primary or secondary - for sensitivity analysis between core and enhanced practices.

	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	Std. Deviation	Ν
Predicted Value	-7.0599	2.4092	-2.7822	3.35383	8
Residual	-10.03403	8.72247	.00000	5.64745	8
Std. Predicted Value	-1.275	1.548	.000	1.000	8
Std. Residual	-1.645	1.430	.000	.926	8

a. Dependent Variable: Difference between changed in admissions with a diagnosis of T2 diabetes, primary or secondary - for sensitivity analysis between core and enhanced practices.

8.07 Appendix 4.06 Paired T-TESTS FOR OUTCOMES.

Paired Samples Statistics								
		Mean	Ν	Std. Deviation	Std. Error Mean			
Pair 1	Difference between % of Non-elective bed days per adult population over 17 years in 2013 and 2014 in core practices	-1.2850	8	2.85396	1.00903			
	Difference between % of Non-elective bed days per adult population over 17 years in 2013 and 2014 in enhanced practices	.9125	8	2.09903	.74212			
Pair 2	Difference between 1st OP appointment per thousand in 2013 and 2014 in the core practices	1.0250	8	3.82912	1.35380			
	Difference between 1st OP appointment per thousand in 2013 and 2014 in the enhanced practices	1.2500	8	4.44169	1.57037			
Pair 3	Difference between % of any admission with T2 Diabetes and non-fatal myocardial infarction or non-fatal stroke or major foot amputations n the same spell per adult population over 17 years in 2013 and 2014 in the core practices	0425	8	1.09205	.38610			
	Difference between % of any admission with T2 Diabetes and non-fatal myocardial infarction or non-fatal stroke or major foot amputations n the	.2613	8	.59633	.21084			

	same spell per adult population over 17 years in				
	2015 and 2014 in the emianced practices				
Pair 4	Difference between the % of admissions with a	-3.8451	8	5.85677	2.07068
	diagnosis of T2 diabetes, primary or secondary in				
	2013 and 2014 in the core practices- for sensitivity				
	analysis				
	Difference between the % of admissions with a	-1.0629	8	4.07194	1.43965
	diagnosis of T2 diabetes, primary or secondary in				
	2013 and 2014 in the enhanced practices- for				
	sensitivity analysis				

Paired Samples Correlations							
		Ν	Correlation	Sig.			
Pair 1	Difference between % of Non-elective bed days per adult population over 17 years in 2013 and 2014 in core practices & Difference between % of Non-elective bed days per adult population over 17 years in 2013 and 2014 in enhanced practices	8	113	.790			
Pair 2	Difference between 1st OP appointment per thousand in 2013 and 2014 in the core practices& Difference between 1st OP appointment per thousand in 2013 and 2014 in the enhanced practices	8	025	.952			
Pair 3	Difference between % of any admission with T2 Diabetes and non- fatal myocardial infarction or non-fatal stroke or major foot amputations n the same spell per adult population over 17 years in 2013 and 2014 in the core practices & Difference between % of any	8	265	.525			

	admission with T2 Diabetes and non-fatal myocardial infarction or			
	non-fatal stroke or major foot amputations n the same spell per adult			
	population over 17 years in 2013 and 2014 in the enhanced practices			
Pair 4	Difference between the $\%$ of admissions with a diagnosis of T2	8	.162	.701
	diabetes, primary or secondary in 2013 and 2014 in the core			
	practices- for sensitivity analysis & Difference between the % of			
	admissions with a diagnosis of T2 diabetes, primary or secondary in			
	2013 and 2014 in the enhanced practices- for sensitivity analysis			

Paired Samples Test									
		Paired Differences					t	df	Sig. (2-
		Mean	Std. Deviation	Std. Error	95% Confidence Interval of the Difference				tailed)
				Mean					
					Lower	Upper			
Pair	Difference between	-2.19750	3.72902	1.31841	-5.31504	.92004	-1.667	7	.139
1	% of Non-elective bed								
	days per adult								
	population over 17								
	years in 2013 and								
	2014 in core								
	practices - Difference								
	between % of Non-								
	elective bed days per								

	adult population over								
	17 years in 2013 and								
	2014 in enhanced								
	practices								
Pair	Difference between	22500	5.93747	2.09921	-5.18885	4.73885	107	7	.918
2	1st OP appointment								
	per thousand in 2013								
	and 2014 in the core								
	practices - Difference								
	between 1st OP								
	appointment per								
	thousand in 2013 and								
	2014 in the enhanced								
	practices								
Pair	Difference between	30375	1.37611	.48653	-1.45421	.84671	624	7	.552
3	% of any admission								
	with T2 Diabetes and								
	non-fatal myocardial								
	infarction or non-								
	fatal stroke or major								
	foot amputations n								
	the same spell per								
	adult population over								
	17 years in 2013 and								
	2014 in the core								
	practices - Difference								

	admission with T2								
	Diabetes and non-								
	fatal myocardial								
	infarction or non-								
	fatal stroke or major								
	foot amputations n								
	the same spell per								
	adult population over								
	17 years in 2013 and								
	2014 in the enhanced								
	practices								
Pair	Difference between	-2.78217	6.56824	2.32222	-8.27336	2.70902	-1.198	7	.270
4	the % of admissions								
	with a diagnosis of T2								
	diabetes, primary or								
	secondary in 2013								
	and 2014 in the core								
	practices- for								
	sensitivity analysis -								
	Difference between								
	the % of admissions								
	with a diagnosis of T2								
	diabetes, primary or								
	secondary in 2013								
	and 2014 in the								
	enhanced practices-								
	for sensitivity								
	analysis								

8.08 Appendix 4.07: Peer-reviewed published articles from chapters of thesis